



이학 박사 학위논문

Curvature flows with obstacles (곡률 흐름의 장애물 문제)

2020년 8월

서울대학교 대학원 수리과학부 이태훈

Curvature flows with obstacles

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy to the faculty of the Graduate School of Seoul National University

by

Taehun Lee

Dissertation Director : Professor Ki-Ahm Lee

Department of Mathematical Sciences Seoul National University

August 2020

© 2020 Taehun Lee

All rights reserved.

Abstract

Curvature flows with obstacles

Taehun Lee Department of Mathematical Sciences The Graduate School Seoul National University

Curvature flows are geometric evolutions of a hypersurface moved by curvature quantities such as the mean curvature and the Gauss curvature, which have been applied in material science and image processing. The main difficulty to treat curvature flows is development of singularities in finite time which arises in many case. In this thesis, we would like to propose a method to continue curvature flows for a long time by placing obstacles enclosed by the initial hypersurface. We apply the method to prevent the development of singularities for the mean curvature flow when the initial hypersurface is given by an entire graph and for the Gauss curvature flow when the initial hypersurface is strictly convex and closed. Moreover, we investigate the obstacle problem for the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation which is closely related to the Gauss curvature flow. Our approach is based on the penalization method by allowing the evolution of hypersurface can pass the obstacle, with the property that the more the hypersurface pass the obstacle, the more penalty is imposed on the velocity.

Key words: mean curvature flow, Gauss curvature flow, obstacle problem, free boundary problem, Monge-Ampère equation, singularity Student Number: 2013-22912

Contents

Abstract						
1	Intr	Introduction				
2	2 Preliminaries					
	2.1	Second fundamental form and curvatures	8			
	2.2	Auxiliary lemmas	10			
3	Gaı	ass curvature flow with an obstacle	11			
	3.1	Introduction	11			
	3.2	Preliminaries	18			
		3.2.1 Support function	18			
		3.2.2 Obstacle	19			
		3.2.3 Free boundary	19			
	3.3	Singular perturbation problem	20			
		3.3.1 Short-time existence	21			
		3.3.2 Evolution equations	22			
	3.4	Uniform upper bound for principal curvature	28			
	3.5	Lower bound for principal curvature	38			
	3.6	Proof of Theorem 3.1.5	44			
4	Mean curvature flow of entire graphs with an obstacle					
	4.1	Introduction	45			
	4.2	Preliminaries	46			

CONTENTS

		4.2.1	Obstacles	48		
		4.2.2	Penalization method	48		
	4.3	Evolu	tion equations	49		
	4.4	Unifor	m boundedness for β_{δ}	52		
	4.5	Gradi	ent Estimate	53		
	4.6	Speed	estimates	55		
	4.7 Estimate for maximum eigenvalue		ate for maximum eigenvalue	62		
	4.8	Proof	of Theorem 4.1.1	70		
5	The	obsta	cle problem for parabolic Monge-Ampère equation	n 7 1		
	5.1	Introd	luction	71		
		5.1.1	Backgrounds	71		
		5.1.2	Main results	72		
		5.1.3	Discussion on the conditions	76		
		5.1.4	Notations	77		
		5.1.5	Outline	77		
	5.2	Preliminaries				
	5.3	ptimal regularity	81			
		5.3.1	Preservation of convexity and a priori speed estimate $% \left({{{\bf{n}}_{{\rm{s}}}}} \right)$.	83		
		5.3.2	A priori interior $C^{1,1}$ -estimate $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	86		
		5.3.3	A priori boundary $C^{1,1}$ -estimate	91		
		5.3.4	The optimal regularity of the obstacle problem	101		
	5.4	Regula	arity of the free boundary $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	105		
		5.4.1	Preliminaries	107		
		5.4.2	Basic results	110		
		5.4.3	Classification of the blowup	112		
		5.4.4	Directional monotonicity	117		
		5.4.5	Proof of the regularity of the free boundary \ldots .	119		
A	bstra	ct (in	Korean)	129		

Chapter 1

Introduction

Curvature flows are geometric evolutions of a hypersurface smoothly immersed in the Euclidean space, moved by curvature quantities such as the mean curvature, the Gauss curvature, and so on. Each flow has been introduced to model physical phenomena [33] or to apply other field of science (material science [63]; image processing [14, 59]). The main difficulty to treat curvature flows is development of singularities in finite time which arises in most case, and understanding singularities is an important problem in geometric analysis. Many mathematicians are devoted to develop methods to continue flows beyond the first singular time, for example, Brakke flow [6], level set flow [16, 30], mean curvature flow with surgery [43], and singularity resolving flow [65]. All these methods are focused on the preservation of some properties of the initial hypersurface.

In this thesis we would like to propose a new method to continue curvature flows for a long time by placing obstacles enclosed by the initial hypersurface. The method is designed for behaviors and phenomena that we would like to impose on the flow. The obstacles are hypersurfaces embedded in the Euclidean space. We impose on the evolutions of hypersurface a condition that it cannot pass the obstacle. When a singularity is developed at some point for the first time, we place an obstacle such that it encloses the point and is enclosed by the curvature flow slightly before the first singular time.

This enable the curvature flow to evolve over the first singular time, and we call this problem *curvature flows with obstacles*.

Our method easily prevents development of the singularity we targeted. On the other hand, an unexpected singularity might be occurred by the obstacle. Since the curvature flows cannot pass the obstacle, a discontinuity of the velocity arises when the flow touches the obstacle. This makes the problem difficult and the optimal regularity of the curvature flow with an obstacle is expected to be at most $C^{1,1}$. The lack of regularity forces us to consider a general concept of solutions, that is, viscosity solutions. Therefore, one of the main goal to justify our method is showing that viscosity solutions for the curvature flow with an obstacle does not develop singularity.

The evolutions of hypersurface under the curvature flows consist of two parts: the coincidence set where the hypersurface touches the obstacle and the non-coincidence set where the hypersurface does not touch the obstacle. In many case (i.e., convex initial hypersurface), the velocity keeps its sign under the flow, in which case the coincidence set would tend to grow over time. The boundary of the coincidence set (or equivalently of the non-coincidence set) is the so-called *free boundary* which is unknown before we get a solution.

Major difficulties in curvature flows with obstacles occur near the free boundary. Indeed, we will see if the free boundary moves in non-degenerate finite speed, the velocity should be as degenerate as the distance from the free boundary. In PDEs point of view, the curvature flows with obstacles are fully nonlinear non-uniformly parabolic equation in the non-coincidence set, whose ellipticity constant is degenerate at the boundary of the domain which varies in time and is unknown in advance. Thus we do not expect global lower bound of the curvature in the curvature flow with obstacles. Instead, we shall obtain the lower bound of the curvature in terms of the constant depending on the distance from the free boundary and vanishing on the free boundary, which is one of main interests.

The main strategy to deal with the curvature flows with obstacles is an approximation by allowing the evolution of hypersurface can pass the obsta-

cle, with the property that the more the hypersurface pass the obstacle, the more *penalty* is imposed on the velocity. The penalty will be realized by a penalty function which makes the equation holds not on the non-coincidence set but on the whole domain. Then establishing the uniform *a priori* estimates for the approximated problem gives the same estimates for the original problem.

We will apply the method we proposed to the following three cases.

- (i) Gauss curvature flow when the initial hypersurface is strictly convex and closed ([55]).
- (ii) Mean curvature flow when the initial hypersurface is given by entire graph ([46]).
- (iii) Parabolic Monge-Ampère equation ([60]).

Additionally, we consider a free boundary problem arising in composite membrane problem with fractional Laplacian, which could be formulated as twosided unstable obstacle problem [36].

The Gauss curvature flow, evolution by the Gauss curvature, was introduced by Firey [33] to describe the deformation of shape of stones which is worn down by collision from any random angle. Later, Tso [72] proved that the smooth solution exists uniquely and shrinks to a point when the enclosed volume converges to zero if the initial hypersurface is strictly convex and closed. Furthermore, it was shown in [3] for two dimensional case (n = 2) that the contraction is spherical singularity. More generally, the α -Gauss curvature flow, the evolution by the Gauss curvature with an exponent α , was studied by Chow [20] for the case $\alpha = 1/n$; by Kim and Lee [47] for $1/n \leq \alpha \leq 1$; and by Andrews, Guan, and Ni [4] for $\alpha \geq 1/(n+2)$. They showed the flow converges to a self-similar solution for every $n \geq 2$ and $\alpha \geq 1/(n+2)$ after scaling. In the affine invariant case $\alpha = 1/(n+2)$, the only self-similar solutions are ellipsoid [2, 13]. Also, in the case $\alpha > 1/(n+2)$, Brendle, Choi, and Daskalopoulos [7] proved the only self-similar solutions

are round spheres. These flows relate to the parabolic version of Monge-Amère equation since the Gauss curvature is defined by the determinant of the Weingarten map. From the fully nonlinearity of the Gauss curvature, if the initial hypersurface has flat side, then the solution also has flat side for some time unlike the mean curvature flow which is instantly smoothing (see [38] and also [19, 23, 24, 48]).

The first result [55] is concerned with the obstacle problem for the Gauss curvature flow with an exponent α . Under the assumption that both the obstacle and the initial hypersurface are strictly convex closed hypersurface and the obstacle is enclosed by the initial hypersurface, the uniform estimates are obtained for several curvatures via penalty method. We also give a heuristic calculation to explain the principal curvature may be zero on the free boundary. In particular, when the hypersurface is two dimensional with $0 < \alpha \leq 1$, we prove that the solution for the Gauss curvature flow with an obstacle exists for all time with bounded principal curvatures $\{\lambda_i\}$ in which the upper bound is uniform and the lower bound depends on the distance from the free boundary. Moreover, we show that there is a finite time T_* such that the solution becomes the obstacle after this time, which is stationary in time.

The mean curvature flow, evolution by the mean curvature, was originally studied by Brakke [6] and has been studied by Huisken, Ecker, Sinestrari, and many others, see [27, 28, 40, 42]. We also refer to the monographs [26, 75] for introductions. The mean curvature flow is a natural generalization of heat equation to the manifold setting in the sense that the position vector $X: M^n \times [0, T) \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ satisfies

$$\frac{\partial X}{\partial t} = \Delta_{g(t)} X,$$

where $X(\cdot, t)$ is an immersion of a manifold M and Δ_g is the Laplace-Beltrami operator on the hypersurface given by $X(\cdot, t)$ with its canonical metric induced by the Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Despite the similarity between the mean curvature flow and the heat equation, there are some important differences.

For a short time, the mean curvature flow behaves like the heat equation with regularizing effects in small-scale; On the other hand, after more time, singularities are developed since the nonlinearities dominate the evolution. We may employ the flow as a tool to produce minimal surfaces, to derive isometric inequalities, or more generally, to classify hypersurfaces by certain curvature conditions.

The second result [46] is concerned with the obstacle problem for evolutions of non-compact complete graphs over an open subset in \mathbb{R}^n . Obstacles in this setting are also written graphs over an open subset in \mathbb{R}^n , which are non-compact complete and lies above the initial data. We prove that the solution exists for all time with locally bounded principal curvatures $\{\lambda_i\}$.

The parabolic Monge-Ampère equation is parabolic generalization of (elliptic) Monge-Ampère equation and is closely related to the α -Gauss curvature flow. In 1976, Krylov [49] suggested three versions of parabolic Monge-Ampère equation:

$$-\partial_t u + (\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f,$$

$$[(-\partial_t u) \det D^2 u]^{\frac{1}{n+1}} = f,$$

$$[\det(D^2 u - \partial_t u I_n)]^{\frac{1}{n}} = f,$$

where I_n denotes the $n \times n$ identity matrix. In this thesis we are concerned with the first form of equation which is relating to the graph representation of the Gauss curvature flow. The Monge-Ampère equation arises in prescribed Gaussian curvature equation [62], optimal transportation [66], and affine geometry [71]. Also, its parabolic version has been applied to image processing [59], where reducing noises and preserving sharp edges are issues to resolving blurring problem. This problem can be controlled by the diffusion driven by the Gauss curvature since its diffusion is slow near edges due to the nondegeneracy of curvature.

The third result [60] is concerned with the obstacle problem for the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation with the forcing term f(x, t, u, Du). We

establish existence, uniqueness, and optimal regularity under some structure conditions via the penalization method and a priori estimates. Moreover, we discuss the regularity of the free boundary. As a consequences of our approach, we also obtain the existence and uniqueness of the solution of the Cauchy-Dirichlet problem for the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation with the forcing term f(x, t, u, Du).

The rest of thesis is organized as follows. Chapter 2 describes the notations and conventions used throughout the thesis. In Chapter 3, we study the Gauss curvature flow with an obstacle. In Chapter 4, we discuss the mean curvature flow of entire graphs with an obstacle. Finally, Chapter 5 is devoted to the obstacle problem for the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

We describe some notations and conventions used throughout the thesis. Let X_0 be an immersion from *n*-dimensional manifold M into \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , and let

$$X(\cdot, t): M \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$$

be a one-parameter family of immersions from M into \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . We may take M as a compact closed manifold or a non-compact complete manifold. Let $\vec{\nu}$ be a unit normal vector of $\Sigma_t = X(M, t)$. Given a local coordinate system $\{x^i\}_{i=1}^n$ in M, the induced metric and the second fundamental form of Σ_t can be computed as

$$g_{ij} = \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^i}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} \right\rangle$$
 and $h_{ij} = -\left\langle \frac{\partial^2 \vec{X}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle$.

The connection on Σ_t is given by

$$\Gamma_{ij}^{k} = \frac{1}{2} g^{kl} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} g_{jl} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} g_{il} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{l}} g_{ij} \right)$$

and the covariant derivative on Σ_t is

$$(\nabla_j v)^i = \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} v^i + \Gamma^i_{jk} v^k.$$

2.1 Second fundamental form and curvatures

The Weingarten map, the differential of the Gauss map, is then defined by

$$h_j^i = g^{ik} h_{kj},$$

where g^{ij} denotes the inverse of the metric. Here we used Einstein's summation convention over repeated indices. The principal curvatures $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n$ are the eigenvalues of h_i^j , and then the Gauss curvature K and the mean curvature H are given by

$$K = \det(h_i^j)$$
 and $H = \operatorname{tr}(h_i^j)$.

We also define the sum of the square $|A|^2 = \sum \lambda_k^2 = \operatorname{tr}((h^2)_i^j)$ and the sum of the inverse $\mathcal{H} = \sum \frac{1}{\lambda_k} = \operatorname{tr}((h^{-1})_i^j)$. From the Gauss equation, we can express the Riemannian curvature tensor, the Ricci tensor, and the scalar curvature as

$$R_{ijkl} = h_{ik}h_{jl} - h_{il}h_{jk},$$

$$R_{ij} = Hh_{ij} - h_{ik}g^{kl}h_{lj},$$

$$R = H^2 - |A|^2,$$

respectively. The Gauss-Weingarten relations

$$\frac{\partial^2 X}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} = \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial X}{\partial x^k} - h_{ij} \vec{\nu}$$

gives

$$\Delta_{g(t)}X = g^{ij}\nabla_i\nabla_jX = g^{ij}\left(\frac{\partial^2 X}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} - \Gamma^k_{ij}\frac{\partial X}{\partial x^k}\right) = -g^{ij}h_{ij}\vec{\nu} = -H\nu.$$

We also deal with the derivative of the second fundamental form.

CHAPTER 2. PRELIMINARIES

Lemma 2.1.1 ([75]). The following identity holds for h_{ij} :

$$\Delta h_{ij} = \nabla_i \nabla_j H + H h_{ik} g^{kl} h_{lj} - |A|^2 h_{ij}$$

We also compute the Laplace-Beltrami operator of the outward unit normal vector.

Lemma 2.1.2. Let $\vec{\nu}$ be an outward unit normal vector on a hypersurface Σ_t in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , and \vec{X} be a position vector of Σ_t . Then the Laplace-Beltrami operator of $\vec{\nu}$ is given by

$$\Delta \vec{\nu} = \nabla H - |A|^2 \vec{\nu}. \tag{2.1.1}$$

Proof. First we observe that

$$\nabla_i \vec{\nu} = h_i^k \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k}.$$

since $\left\langle \nabla_i \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} \right\rangle = h_{ik}$ and $\left\langle \nabla_i \vec{\nu}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle = 0$. Using this, we see that

$$\langle \nabla_i \nabla_j \vec{\nu}, \vec{\nu} \rangle = - \langle \nabla_j \vec{\nu}, \nabla_i \vec{\nu} \rangle = -h_i^k h_j^l g_{kl} = -(h^2)_{ij}.$$

Moreover, by $\nabla_i \nabla_k X = -h_{ik} \vec{\nu}$ and Codazzi equation, we have

$$\left\langle \nabla_i \nabla_j \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} \right\rangle = \nabla_i h_{jk} - \left\langle \nabla_j \vec{\nu}, \nabla_i \nabla_k X \right\rangle = \nabla_k h_{ij}$$

Thus we arrive at

$$\nabla_i \nabla_j \vec{\nu} = \nabla h_{ij} - (h^2)_{ij} \vec{\nu},$$

which gives the conclusion.

CHAPTER 2. PRELIMINARIES

2.2 Auxiliary lemmas

Let us denote $\Box = \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j$ and recall $\Delta = g^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j$. The inner product and the norm induced by \Box and Δ are

$$\langle \nabla A, \nabla B \rangle_{\Box} = \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i A \nabla_j B, \qquad \|\nabla A\|_{\Box}^2 = \langle \nabla A, \nabla A \rangle_{\Box},$$

$$\langle \nabla A, \nabla B \rangle = g^{ij} \nabla_i A \nabla_j B, \qquad \|\nabla A\|^2 = \langle \nabla A, \nabla A \rangle.$$

Here we omit the subscript Δ .

We provide an auxiliary lemma which is useful for proving curvature estimates. The proof is a straightforward calculation.

Lemma 2.2.1. Let A and B be smooth functions on $M \times [0,T)$. Assume that A > 0 and for a given $\gamma > 0$ define $S = \frac{B}{A^{\gamma}}$. Then

$$(\partial_t - \Box)S = \frac{1}{A^{\gamma}}(\partial_t - \Box)B - \frac{\gamma B}{A^{\gamma+1}}(\partial_t - \Box)A + \frac{2\gamma}{A} \langle \nabla A, \nabla S \rangle_{\Box} + \frac{\gamma(\gamma - 1)B}{A^{\gamma+2}} \|\nabla A\|_{\Box}^2$$

Moreover, the same holds for Δ instead of \Box .

Chapter 3

Gauss curvature flow with an obstacle

3.1 Introduction

In this chapter we study the obstacle problem for the Gauss curvature flow with an exponent α , where $0 < \alpha \leq 1$. The precise formulation is as follows. The obstacle in our consideration, denoted by $\mathbf{\Phi}$, is a $C^{1,1}$ strictly convex closed hypersurface in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} , and let $\vec{X_0} : M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ be a smooth immersion of a strictly convex closed *n*-dimensional hypersurface enclosing the obstacle. We consider the evolutions of $\Sigma_0 = \vec{X_0}(M^n)$ under the flow by powers of the Gauss curvature which keep enclosing the obstacle, that is, given an exponent α , we consider a one-parameter family of immersions $\vec{X} : M^n \times [0, T) \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and $\Sigma_t = \vec{X}(M^n, t)$ satisfying

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}(x,t)}{\partial t}, -\vec{\nu}(x,t) \right\rangle \leq K^{\alpha}(x,t) \qquad \text{for } (x,t) \in M^{n} \times [0,T),$$

$$\frac{\partial \vec{X}(x,t)}{\partial t} = -K^{\alpha}(x,t)\vec{\nu}(x,t) \quad \text{if } \vec{X}(x,t) \notin \mathbf{\Phi}, \qquad (\text{GFo})$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{\Phi}} \subset \overline{\Sigma_{t}} \qquad \text{for } 0 \leq t < T,$$

$$\vec{X}(x,0) = \vec{X_{0}}(x) \qquad \text{for } x \in M^{n},$$

where K and $\vec{\nu}$ are the Gauss curvature and the outward unit normal vector on Σ_t , respectively. (Here we use the bar notation to indicate the closed subset of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} enclosed by the given set.)

The Gauss curvature flow was introduced by Firey [33] to describe the deformation of shape of stones which is worn down by collision from any random angle. It is well known that the solution of Gauss curvature flow with an exponent α exists uniquely and has a singularity in finite time, see [72] and [20]. Moreover, the singularity is analyzed for every $\alpha \geq \frac{1}{n+2}$, see [20], [47], [4], [7] and [3]. From the fully nonlinearity of Gauss curvature, if the initial hypersurface has flat side, then the solution also has flat side for some time unlike the mean curvature flow which is instantly smoothing. (See [38].)

Considering the tumbling stone model for the Gauss curvature flow in [33], the Gauss curvature flow with an obstacle can be thought of as the tumbling stone with hard core. Thus, it is not hard to imagine that (GFo) converges to the obstacle in a finite time since the usual tumbling stone disappears in a finite time. However, it is rather clear whether the above model preserves strict convexity. These properties will be described below in mathematical terms.

A discontinuity of the velocity naturally arises from the existence of the obstacle. Thus, the solution of (GFo) has at most Lipschitz regularity in time. This makes us to consider a generalized concept of a solution, that is, a viscosity solution. To introduce this notion, we need the graphical version of (GFo) which can be written as, for a graphical solution $\tilde{u} : \Omega \times [0, T) \to \mathbb{R}$ with an obstacle $\tilde{\varphi} : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$,

where Ω is a domain in \mathbb{R}^n , D represents the usual derivative in Euclidean space, and $\{\tilde{u} < \tilde{\varphi}\}$ denotes the set of points satisfying $\tilde{u}(x,t) < \tilde{\varphi}(x)$ in $\Omega \times [0,T)$. Moreover, (3.1.1) simplifies to the single equation

$$\min\left\{\frac{(\det D^2\tilde{u})^{\alpha}}{(1+|D\tilde{u}|^2)^{\frac{(n+2)\alpha-1}{2}}} - \frac{\partial\tilde{u}}{\partial t}, \tilde{\varphi} - \tilde{u}\right\} = 0 \quad \text{in } \Omega \times [0,T).$$

Now we can define a viscosity solution of (GFo) as follows:

Definition 3.1.1 (viscosity solution). A continuous, one parameter family of immersions $\vec{X} : M^n \times [0,T) \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is a viscosity subsolution (supersolution) of (GFo) if, for any $(x_0, t_0) \in M^n \times [0,T)$ and \tilde{u} which represents \vec{X} locally as a graph near $\vec{X}(x_0, t_0)$ with $(\tilde{x}_0, \tilde{u}(\tilde{x}_0, t_0)) = \vec{X}(x_0, t_0)$ for some \tilde{x}_0 after rotation, it holds that

$$\min\left\{\frac{(\det D^{2}\tilde{\psi}(\tilde{x}_{0},t_{0}))^{\alpha}}{(1+|D\tilde{\psi}(\tilde{x}_{0},t_{0})|^{2})^{\frac{(n+2)\alpha-1}{2}}}-\frac{\partial\tilde{\psi}(\tilde{x}_{0},t_{0})}{\partial t},\tilde{\varphi}(\tilde{x}_{0})-\tilde{\psi}(\tilde{x}_{0},t_{0})\right\}\geq(\leq)0,$$

whenever $\tilde{\psi}$ is a C^2 function satisfying $\tilde{\psi}(\tilde{x}_0, t_0) = \tilde{u}(\tilde{x}_0, t_0)$ and $\tilde{\psi}(\tilde{x}, t) \ge (\le)$ $\tilde{u}(\tilde{x}, t)$ for any \tilde{x} in a neighborhood \tilde{x}_0 and $t < t_0$. Finally, a continuous, one parameter family of immersions $\vec{X} : M^n \times [0, T) \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is a viscosity solution of (GFo) if it is both a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (GFo).

With an abuse of terminology, we also say that $\{\Sigma_t = \vec{X}(M,t) : 0 \leq t < T\}$ is a viscosity solution of (GFo) when \vec{X} is a viscosity solution. For more details and properties of viscosity solutions, we refer to [21]. See also [44].

We now state our main results. We proved several estimates for various curvatures. First, the Gauss curvature is bounded so that (GFo) has nonnegative finite speed.

Proposition 3.1.2. For any $\alpha > 0$ and any dimension *n*, the Gauss curvature *K* of a solution of (GFo) satisfies

$$0 \le K \le C \tag{3.1.2}$$

in $M^n \times [0,T)$ where $C = C(n, \alpha, \mathbf{\Phi}, \vec{X_0})$.

Notice that, in contrast to the Gauss curvature flow case, K does not have a uniform positive lower bound. It could happen that K = 0 on the free boundary, the boundary of $\Sigma_t \cap \Phi$ in Σ_t . Later on, we will give a heuristic calculation to explain the reason why such a situation occurs.

Next, the minimum principal curvature λ_{\min} is bounded below on the set where the distance from the obstacle is positive. To state this result, let us define the non-coincidence set and the coincidence set by

$$\Omega^{M} = \{ (x,t) \in M^{n} \times [0,T) : \vec{X}(x,t) \notin \mathbf{\Phi} \},$$
$$\Lambda^{M} = \{ (x,t) \in M^{n} \times [0,T) : \vec{X}(x,t) \in \mathbf{\Phi} \}.$$

Proposition 3.1.3. For any $\alpha > 0$ and any dimension *n*, the minimum principal curvature λ_{\min} satisfies

$$\lambda_{\min}(x,t) \ge c > 0,$$

for each $(x,t) \in \Lambda^M$ where $c = c(n, \alpha, \vec{X_0}, \Phi, d(x, \Lambda^M))$ is a constant.

In the following proposition, we consider the 2-dimensional case with $\alpha \leq 1$, where the restrictions arise from a technical reason.

Proposition 3.1.4. For $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ and the dimension n = 2, the mean curvature H of the solution of (GFo) satisfies

$$0 < H \le C,$$

where $C = C(n, \alpha, \Phi, \vec{X_0}).$

When the dimension n = 2, using these uniform estimates, we obtain:

Theorem 3.1.5. Let Σ_0 and Φ be smooth strictly convex closed surface in \mathbb{R}^3 such that $\overline{\Phi} \subset \overline{\Sigma}_0$. Assume also that $0 < \alpha \leq 1$. Then

- (i) there exists a convex viscosity solution $\{\Sigma_t = \vec{X}(M, t)\}$ of (GFo) for $t \in [0, \infty);$
- (ii) the principal curvature of Σ_t is nonnegative and globally bounded, i.e., the principal curvature λ_i satisfy

$$0 \leq \lambda_i \leq C$$
,

where $C = C(n, \alpha, \Phi, \vec{X}_0)$ is a constant;

 (iii) for each point (x,t) in the non-coincidence set Λ^M, the principal curvature of Σ_t has uniform positive lower bound with dependency on d(x, Λ),
 i.e., the principal curvature λ_i satisfy

$$0 < c \le \lambda_i(x, t) \le C,$$

where $C = C(n, \alpha, \Phi, \vec{X}_0)$ and $c = c(n, \alpha, \Phi, \vec{X}_0, d(x, \Lambda^M))$ are constants;

(iv) there is a finite time $T^* = T^*(n, \alpha, \Phi, \vec{X}_0)$ such that $\Sigma_t = \Phi$ for all $t \ge T^*$.

Our main tool is an approximation using a penalty term. We shall prove that each approximate solution is smooth and several curvatures have uniform bound. For the penalization technique, see [34].

The constraints of dimension n and exponent α will be used in Lemma 3.4.4 to show the uniform upper bound for mean curvature. The main difficulty comes from controlling the third order derivative and the penalty term. There are some ways to overcome the former issue when we think about the Gauss curvature flow with an exponent. For example, in [20], the author consider the quantity K/H^n . However, we cannot use this quantity because both K and H^n produce second derivative of penalty term with opposite sign, and one of two sign disturbs having uniform bound.

Finally, we shall explain that why we do not expect the strict positive

lower bound in (3.1.2), and that why we could have upper bound in Proposition 3.1.4. To see this, we assume that both \tilde{u} and $\tilde{\varphi}$ in (3.1.1) are rotationally symmetric. Let $|\tilde{x}| = \gamma(t)$ be the equation of free boundary so that

$$\begin{split} \tilde{u}(\tilde{x},t) &= \tilde{\varphi}(\tilde{x}) \quad \text{if } |\tilde{x}| \leq \gamma(t), \\ \tilde{u}(\tilde{x},t) &< \tilde{\varphi}(\tilde{x}) \quad \text{if } |\tilde{x}| > \gamma(t), \\ D\tilde{u} &= D\tilde{\varphi} \quad \text{ on } |\tilde{x}| = \gamma(t). \end{split}$$

From these settings, we obtain

$$\frac{d}{dt}\gamma(t) = \frac{\tilde{u}_t}{\tilde{\varphi}_r - \tilde{u}_r},$$

where the subscript r denotes the derivative in the radial direction, and the denominator is zero on the free boundary. According to [48], the regularity follows from the non-degenerate finite speed of the free boundary, which impose that the numerator \tilde{u}_t is also zero on the free boundary, i.e., K = 0may happen at some point. Next, following the argument in [34, Chapter 1.9], we use $s(\tilde{x}) = t$ for the equation of free boundary instead of γ above. Using this, we have an alternative expression of the velocity of the free boundary, that is,

$$\frac{d}{dt}\gamma(t) = \frac{1}{s_r(\tilde{x})}.$$
(3.1.3)

In order to use this equation, we consider

$$\tilde{\varphi}(\tilde{x}) - \tilde{u}(\tilde{x}, t) = \int_{t}^{s(\tilde{x})} \tilde{u}_{\tau} d\tau,$$

so that we imply

$$\tilde{\varphi}_r(\tilde{x}) - \tilde{u}_r(\tilde{x}, t) = \int_t^{s(\tilde{x})} (\tilde{u}_\tau)_r d\tau + \tilde{u}_t(\tilde{x}, s(\tilde{x})) s_r(\tilde{x})$$

$$= \int_t^{s(\tilde{x})} (\tilde{u}_\tau)_r d\tau,$$

$$\tilde{\varphi}_{rr}(\tilde{x}) - \tilde{u}_{rr}(\tilde{x}, t) = \int_t^{s(\tilde{x})} (\tilde{u}_\tau)_{rr} d\tau + (\tilde{u}_t)_r(\tilde{x}, s(\tilde{x})) s_r(\tilde{x}).$$
(3.1.4)

Since \tilde{u} is rotationally symmetric, the second equation in (3.1.1) becomes

$$\frac{\partial \tilde{u}}{\partial t} = \frac{\tilde{u}_r^{(n-1)\alpha} \tilde{u}_{rr}^\alpha}{r^{(n-1)\alpha} (1+\tilde{u}_r^2)^{\frac{(n+2)\alpha-1}{2}}},$$

Near the free boundary, this led to $\tilde{u}_t \sim \tilde{u}_{rr}^{\alpha}$ heuristically, and therefore, combining (3.1.3) and (3.1.4), we see that

$$\frac{d}{dt}\gamma(t) \sim \frac{(\tilde{u}_t)_r(\tilde{x}, s(\tilde{x}))}{\tilde{\varphi}_{rr}(\tilde{x})} \sim (\tilde{u}_{rr}^{\alpha})_r.$$

Notice that we have used $\tilde{u}_t = \tilde{u}_{rr} = 0$ and $r \sim \tilde{u}_r \sim \tilde{\varphi}_r \sim \tilde{\varphi}_{rr} \sim 1$ on the free boundary. By considering K = 0 at the free boundary points, we may write $\tilde{\varphi} - \tilde{u} = a(r-1)^2 + (r-1)^b$, where a is the constant chosen to satisfy K = 0, and b > 2. From this, we conclude that $\frac{d}{dt}\gamma(t) \sim 1$ if and only if $(b-2)\alpha - 1 = 0$, in which case $\alpha \in (0, \infty)$. It will also be interesting to consider the case when $\alpha > 1$ or $n \ge 3$ in Proposition 3.1.4, which we leave for a future study.

This chapter is organized as follows: Section 4.2 describes the notations and conventions used throughout the chapter. Section 4.3 has the existence theorem and the evolution equations for the perturbed solutions. Section 4.4 contains the uniform curvature estimates for the perturbed solutions. Section 4.5 has lower bounds for principal curvatures. Finally, section 4.6 contains the proof of Theorem 3.1.5.

3.2 Preliminaries

3.2.1 Support function

For a strictly convex closed hypersurface Σ , the outer unit normal vector $\vec{\nu}$: $\Sigma \to S^n$ is a diffeomorphism. This allow us to reparametrize the hypersurface, namely

$$\vec{X} = \vec{X}(\vec{\nu}^{-1}(z)), \quad z \in S^n.$$

We still denote $\vec{X} \circ \vec{\nu}^{-1}$ by \vec{X} for convenience and we say that \vec{X} is parametrized by z-coordinate. Then the support function of the hypersurface Σ is defined by

$$u(z) = \left\langle \vec{X}(z), z \right\rangle, \quad z \in S^n.$$
(3.2.1)

All information about hypersurface can be recovered from the support function through the relation

$$\vec{X}(z) = \overline{\nabla}u(z) + u(z)z, \quad z \in S^n, \tag{3.2.2}$$

where $\overline{\nabla}$ denotes the Levi-Civita connection of the standard metric \overline{g} on S^n . Moreover, the second fundamental form is given by

$$h_{ij} = \overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j u + u\overline{g}_{ij} \quad \text{on} \quad S^n.$$
(3.2.3)

On the other hand, the standard metric \overline{g} on S^n can be written as $\overline{g}_{ij} = h_{ik}g^{kl}h_{lj}$ which, together with (3.2.3), implies

$$K = \frac{\det(\overline{g}_{ij})}{\det(\overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j u + u\overline{g}_{ij})}.$$
(3.2.4)

We refer the reader to [47] and [75] for the details concerning support function.

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

Given a one-parameter family of strictly convex closed hypersurface Σ_t , let $u(\cdot, t)$ be the support function of Σ_t for each t. We also denote by φ the support function of an obstacle Φ which is strictly convex closed hypersurface. Then we can restate (GFo) in terms of support function as follows:

$$\begin{split} -u_t &\leq \left(\frac{\det(\overline{g}_{ij})}{\det(\overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j u + u\overline{g}_{ij})}\right)^{\alpha} & \text{in} \quad S^n \times [0, T), \\ -u_t &= \left(\frac{\det(\overline{g}_{ij})}{\det(\overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j u + u\overline{g}_{ij})}\right)^{\alpha} & \text{if} \quad u > \varphi, \\ u &\geq \varphi \quad \text{in} \quad S^n \times [0, T). \end{split}$$
(GFo_s)

It is also equivalent to the equation

$$\min\left\{u_t + \left(\frac{\det(\overline{g}_{ij})}{\det(\overline{\nabla}_i\overline{\nabla}_j u + u\overline{g}_{ij})}\right)^{\alpha}, u - \varphi\right\} = 0$$

of degenerate type.

3.2.2 Obstacle

We denote the strictly convex closed hypersurface $\mathbf{\Phi}$ by the obstacle. For convenience, we parametrize the obstacle by $\mathbf{\Phi}^t = \vec{\nu}_{\mathbf{\Phi}}^{-1}(\vec{\nu}(x,t))$ for each t, where $\vec{\nu}_{\mathbf{\Phi}}$ is the outer unit normal vector of $\mathbf{\Phi}$ and $\vec{\nu}(\cdot,t)$ is that of Σ_t . Thus the obstacle $\mathbf{\Phi}^t : M \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ and the hypersurface Σ_t has the same normal at any $x \in M$.

3.2.3 Free boundary

Now let us define free boundary Γ , the non-coincidence set Ω , and the coincidence set Λ for the support function u and φ as follows:

$$\Omega = \{ (z,t) \in S^n \times [0,T) : u(z,t) > \varphi(z) \}, \Lambda = \{ (z,t) \in S^n \times [0,T) : u(z,t) = \varphi(z) \},$$
(3.2.5)

and

$$\Gamma = \partial \Omega \cap \partial \Lambda. \tag{3.2.6}$$

We also define Γ_t , Ω_t , and Λ_t as the time section of Γ , Ω , and Λ , respectively.

3.3 Singular perturbation problem

In this and the next section, we shall consider the singular perturbation problem (3.3.2) below. The short-time existence and evolution equation are established here, and then we prove the several uniform bounds for these approximations in the next section.

In our obstacle problem (GFo), the evolving hypersurface cannot pass the obstacle and satisfies the partial differential equation only on the noncoincidence set Λ which is unknown before we obtain \vec{X} . To solve this difficulty, we will consider the penalized problem which is approximated solution by allowing the hypersurface can pass the obstacle.

Let β be the smooth function defined on \mathbb{R} and satisfying

$$\beta(0) = -1,$$

$$\beta(x) = 0 \qquad \text{if } x \ge 1,$$

$$\beta''(x) = 0 \qquad \text{if } x < 0,$$

$$\beta'(x) \ge 0, \ \beta''(x) \le 0, \quad \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}.$$

and let K_{Φ} be the Gauss curvature of the obstacle Φ . We define the penalty term to be

$$\beta_{\delta}(x) = A_0 \beta(x/\delta), \qquad (3.3.1)$$

where $A_0 = \sup_{\mathbf{\Phi}} K_{\mathbf{\Phi}}^{\alpha} + 1$. Then it is easy to check that $\beta_{\delta}(x) \leq 0$, $\beta_{\delta}'(x) \geq 0$, $\beta_{\delta}''(x) \leq 0$, and $\beta_{\delta}(0) = -A_0 < -\sup_{\mathbf{\Phi}} K_{\mathbf{\Phi}}^{\alpha}$. Moreover, $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \beta_{\delta}(x) \to 0$ for x > 0 and $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \beta_{\delta}(x) \to -\infty$ for x < 0.

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

Now let us consider the following penalized problem which approximates (GFo): Given an initial hypersurface Σ_0 and its immersion $\vec{X}_0: M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$,

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\vec{X}^{\delta}(x,t) = -\left[K^{\alpha}(x,t) + \beta_{\delta}\left(\left\langle\vec{X}^{\delta}(x,t) - \Phi^{t}(x), \vec{\nu}(x,t)\right\rangle\right)\right]\vec{\nu}(x,t), \\
\vec{X}^{\delta}(x,0) = \vec{X}_{0}(x),$$
(3.3.2)

for $x \in M$ and $t \in [0, T)$.

The short time existence and the evolution equation will be discussed in the following subsections. Before proceeding further, it is convenient to rewrite (3.3.2) in terms of support function as follows:

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial t}u^{\delta}(z,t) = \left(\frac{\det(\overline{g}_{ij})}{\det(\overline{\nabla}_i\overline{\nabla}_j u^{\delta} + u^{\delta}\overline{g}_{ij})}\right)^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}(u^{\delta} - \varphi),$$

$$u^{\delta}(z,0) = u_0(z),$$
(3.3.3)

for $z \in S^n$ and $t \in [0, T)$, where u_0 is the support function of \vec{X}_0 .

3.3.1 Short-time existence

We use an existence theorem of Hamilton [37], as in [20], to prove the shorttime existence of (3.3.2). The Hamilton's existence theorem is based on the Nash-Moser inverse function theorem.

To do this, we need to compute the principal symbol of the right hand side of (3.3.2), which is obtained by taking the highest order derivatives and replacing $\partial/\partial x^i$ by the Fourier transform variable ξ_i (see [37]). However, since the penalized problem (3.3.2) is only lower order perturbation from the Gauss curvature flow, the desired principal symbol is equal to that of Gauss curvature flow. Note that the proof of Theorem 2.1 in [20] depends only on the principal symbol and integrability condition. Therefore, by taking the same integrability condition, we can obtain the following short time existence result. **Lemma 3.3.1.** For any $\alpha > 0$ and dimension n, let \vec{X}_0 be a smooth strictly convex hypersurface immersion of M^n into R^{n+1} . Then there exists a positive ω such that (3.3.2) has a unique smooth solution $\vec{X}^{\delta}(\cdot, t)$ on $M^n \times [0, \omega)$. Here, ω may depend on \vec{X}_0 .

3.3.2 Evolution equations

Under the penalized flow (3.3.2), we can obtain the evolution formula for the geometric quantity of the hypersurface Σ_t . We denote by \Box the operator $\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} \nabla_k \nabla_l$. For notational convenience, we will refer to $\beta_{\delta} \left(\left\langle \vec{X}^{\delta} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \right)$ simply as β_{δ} .

Lemma 3.3.2. Under the flow (3.3.2), the geometric quantities evolve according to

(i)
$$\frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial t} = -2 \left(K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta} \right) h_{ij},$$

(*ii*)
$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t} = \nabla^j \left(K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta} \right) \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j},$$

 ΩT

$$(iii) \quad \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} = \nabla_i \nabla_j (K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}) - (K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}) h_{jk} h_i^k$$
$$= \Box h_{ij} + \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$
$$- \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$
$$+ \alpha K^{\alpha} H h_{ij} - (n\alpha + 1) K^{\alpha} h_{jk} h_i^k + \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} - \beta_{\delta} h_{jk} h_i^k$$

$$(iv) \quad \frac{\partial K}{\partial t} = \Box K + \alpha (\alpha - 1) K^{\alpha - 1} (h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i K \nabla_j K + K^{\alpha + 1} H + K (h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} + K^{\alpha} H \beta_{\delta},$$

(v)
$$\frac{\partial K^{\alpha}}{\partial t} = \Box K^{\alpha} + \alpha K^{2\alpha} H + \Box \beta_{\delta} + \alpha K^{\alpha} H \beta_{\delta},$$

$$(vi) \quad \frac{\partial H}{\partial t} = \Box H + \alpha^2 g^{ij} K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} - \alpha g^{ij} K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} + \alpha K^{\alpha} H^2 + (1 - n\alpha) K^{\alpha} |A|^2 + \Delta \beta_{\delta} + |A|^2 \beta_{\delta}$$

$$(vii) \ \frac{\partial |\vec{X}|^2}{\partial t} = \Box |\vec{X}|^2 - 2\alpha K^{\alpha} \mathcal{H} + 2(n\alpha - 1)K^{\alpha} \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle - 2\beta_{\delta} \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle,$$

Proof. For simplicity, we define $F_{\delta} = K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}$.

(i) Since $\left\langle \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{i}} \right\rangle = 0$, we have $\frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{i}}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{j}} \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} (-F_{\delta} \vec{\nu}), \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{j}} \right\rangle + \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{i}}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} (-F_{\delta} \vec{\nu}) \right\rangle$ $= -F_{\delta} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^{i}}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{j}} \right\rangle - F_{\delta} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{i}}, \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^{j}} \right\rangle = 2F_{\delta} \left\langle \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial^{2} \vec{X}}{\partial x^{i} \partial x^{j}} \right\rangle = -2F_{\delta}h_{ij}.$

(ii) From $\langle \vec{\nu}, \vec{\nu} \rangle = 1$, we obtain $\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle = 0$ and $\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^i}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle = 0$. Thus,

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t} = \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^i} \right\rangle g^{ij} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} = -\left\langle \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial (-F_\delta \vec{\nu})}{\partial x^i} \right\rangle g^{ij} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} = \frac{\partial F_\delta}{\partial x^i} g^{ij} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j}.$$

(iii) By the same argument as in (ii), we have

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^j} = h_{jk} g^{kl} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^l}.$$

This implies that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 \vec{X}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, -\vec{\nu} \right\rangle = \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 (-F_\delta \vec{\nu})}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, -\vec{\nu} \right\rangle - \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 \vec{X}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t} \right\rangle \\ &= \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left(\frac{\partial F_\delta}{\partial x^j} \vec{\nu} + F_\delta \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^j} \right), \vec{\nu} \right\rangle - \left\langle \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} - h_{ij} \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial F_\delta}{\partial x^m} g^{mn} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^n} \right\rangle \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 F_\delta}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} + F_\delta \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} \left(h_{jk} g^{kl} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^l} \right), \vec{\nu} \right\rangle - \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial F_\delta}{\partial x^m} g^{mn} g_{kn} \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 F_\delta}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} - \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial F_\delta}{\partial x^k} + F_\delta \left\langle h_{jk} g^{kl} \frac{\partial^2 \vec{X}}{\partial x^i \partial x^l}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \\ &= \nabla_i \nabla_j F_\delta - F_\delta h_{jk} h^k_i. \end{split}$$

For the second equality, we need the following computation.

$$(h^{-1})^{kl} \nabla_i \nabla_j h_{kl} = (h^{-1})^{kl} \nabla_i \nabla_k h_{lj}$$

= $(h^{-1})^{kl} (\nabla_k \nabla_i h_{lj} + R_{iklm} h_j^m + R_{ikjm} h_l^m)$
= $(h^{-1})^{kl} \nabla_k \nabla_l h_{ij} + (h^{-1})^{kl} (h_{il} h_{km} - h_{im} h_{kl}) h_j^m$
+ $(h^{-1})^{kl} (h_{ij} h_{km} - h_{im} h_{kj}) h_l^m$
= $(h^{-1})^{kl} \nabla_k \nabla_l h_{ij} + h_{im} h_j^m - nh_{im} h_j^m + Hh_{ij} - h_{im} h_j^m$
= $(h^{-1})^{kl} \nabla_k \nabla_l h_{ij} + Hh_{ij} - nh_{im} h_j^m.$
(3.3.4)

On the other hand,

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_i \nabla_j K^{\alpha} &= \nabla_i \left(\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_j h_{mn} \right) \\ &= \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i \nabla_j h_{mn} + \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} \\ &- \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} \\ &= \Box h_{ij} + \alpha K^{\alpha} (Hh_{ij} - nh_{im} h_j^m) \\ &+ \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} \\ &- \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}. \end{aligned}$$

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

Then we get the evolution equation for h_{ij} .

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} &= \nabla_i \nabla_j F_{\delta} - F_{\delta} h_{jk} h_i^k \\ &= \nabla_i \nabla_j K^{\alpha} - K^{\alpha} h_{jk} h_i^k + \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} - \beta_{\delta} h_{jk} h_i^k \\ &= \Box h_{ij} + \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} \\ &- \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn} \\ &+ \alpha K^{\alpha} H h_{ij} - (\alpha n + 1) K^{\alpha} h_{jk} h_i^k + \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} - \beta_{\delta} h_{jk} h_i^k \end{aligned}$$

(iv) By using the previous result,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial K}{\partial t} &= \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \det(g^{ik}h_{kj}) = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \frac{\det(h_{ij})}{\det(g_{ij})} = -Kg^{ij} \frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial t} + K(h^{-1})^{ij} \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} \\ &= 2KHF_{\delta} + K(h^{-1})^{ij} (\nabla_i \nabla_j F_{\delta} - F_{\delta}h_{jk}h_i^k) \\ &= K(h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j F_{\delta} + KHF_{\delta} \\ &= K(h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i (\alpha K^{\alpha - 1} \nabla_j K) + K^{1+\alpha} H + K(h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} + KH\beta_{\delta} \\ &= \Box K + \alpha(\alpha - 1)K^{\alpha - 1}(h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i K \nabla_j K + K^{1+\alpha} H \\ &+ K(h^{-1})^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} + KH\beta_{\delta}. \end{aligned}$$

(v) A direct computation shows $\frac{\partial K^{\alpha}}{\partial t} = \alpha K^{\alpha-1} \frac{\partial K}{\partial t} = \Box F_{\delta} + KHF_{\delta}.$

$$(\text{vi}) \quad \frac{\partial H}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} (g^{ij} h_{ij}) = -g^{ik} g^{lj} \frac{\partial g_{kl}}{\partial t} h_{ij} + g^{ij} \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t}$$

$$= 2F_{\delta} g^{ik} g^{lj} h_{kl} h_{ij}$$

$$+ g^{ij} (\Box h_{ij} + \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$

$$- \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$

$$+ \alpha K^{\alpha} H h_{ij} - (\alpha n + 1) K^{\alpha} h_{jk} h_i^k + \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} - \beta_{\delta} h_{jk} h_i^k)$$

$$= 2F_{\delta} |A|^2 + \Box H + \alpha^2 g^{ij} K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} (h^{-1})^{mn} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$

$$- \alpha g^{ij} K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$

$$+ \alpha K^{\alpha} H^2 - (\alpha n + 1) K^{\alpha} |A|^2 + \Delta \beta_{\delta} - |A|^2 \beta_{\delta}$$

$$= \Box H + \alpha^2 g^{ij} K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kn} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$

$$- \alpha g^{ij} K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \nabla_i h_{kl} \nabla_j h_{mn}$$

$$+ \alpha K^{\alpha} H^2 - (\alpha n - 1) K^{\alpha} |A|^2 + \Delta \beta_{\delta} + |A|^2 \beta_{\delta}.$$

(vii) Since

$$\frac{\partial |\vec{X}|^2}{\partial t} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{X} \right\rangle = 2 \left\langle \vec{X}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial t} \right\rangle = -2F_{\delta} \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle,$$

and

$$\Box |\vec{X}|^{2} = 2\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} \left(\langle \nabla_{k} \nabla_{l} \vec{X}, \vec{X} \rangle + \langle \nabla_{k} \vec{X}, \nabla_{l} \vec{X} \rangle \right)$$

$$= 2\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} \left(\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{k} \partial x^{l}} - \Gamma_{kl}^{m} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^{m}}, \vec{X} \right\rangle + g_{kl} \right)$$

$$= 2\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kl} \left(-h_{kl} \langle \vec{\nu}, \vec{X} \rangle + g_{kl} \right)$$

$$= 2\alpha K^{\alpha} \mathcal{H} - 2\alpha n K^{\alpha} \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle,$$

we have

$$\frac{\partial |\vec{X}|^2}{\partial t} = \Box |\vec{X}|^2 - 2\alpha K^{\alpha} \mathcal{H} + 2\alpha n K^{\alpha} \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle - 2(K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}) \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle$$
$$= \Box |\vec{X}|^2 - 2\alpha K^{\alpha} \mathcal{H} + 2(\alpha n - 1) K^{\alpha} \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle - 2\beta_{\delta} \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle.$$

We also need the evolution equation in z-coordinate. As before, let \Box_{S^n} be the operator $\alpha K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{ij}\overline{\nabla}_i\overline{\nabla}_j$.

Lemma 3.3.3. Under the flow (3.3.3), the geometric quantities evolve according to

$$(i) \ \frac{\partial \overline{g}_{ij}}{\partial t} = 0, \quad \overline{\nabla}_k \overline{g}_{ij} = 0,$$

(*ii*)
$$u_t = \Box_{S^n} u + \alpha K^{\alpha} H u - (n\alpha + 1) K^{\alpha} - \beta_{\delta},$$

$$\begin{array}{l} (iii) \ \ \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} = -\overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j F_{\delta} - F_{\delta} \overline{g}_{ij}, \\ (iv) \ \ \frac{\partial K^{\alpha}}{\partial t} = \Box_{S^n} F_{\delta} + \alpha K^{\alpha} H F_{\delta}, \end{array}$$

$$(v) \ \frac{\partial \varphi}{\partial t} = \Box_{S^n} \varphi + \alpha K^{\alpha} H \varphi - \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} h_{ij}^{\Phi}$$

where $F_{\delta} = K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}$ and h^{Φ} is the second fundamental form of Φ .

Proof. The first three assertions follow from (3.2.3). By (3.2.4), we have $\partial_t K^{\alpha} = -\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} (h_{ij})_t$. This implies the next assertion. For the last equation, we compute

$$\Box_{S^n}\varphi = \alpha K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{ij}\overline{\nabla}_i\overline{\nabla}_j\varphi = \alpha K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{ij}\left(\left\langle \boldsymbol{\Phi},\overline{\nabla}_i\overline{\nabla}_jz\right\rangle - \left\langle\overline{\nabla}_i\overline{\nabla}_j\boldsymbol{\Phi},z\right\rangle\right)$$
(3.3.5)

$$= \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} \left(-\overline{g}_{ij} \varphi + h^{\Phi}_{ij} \right) = -\alpha K^{\alpha} H \varphi + \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} h^{\Phi}_{ij}. \quad (3.3.6)$$

Then $\partial_t \varphi = 0$ yields the conclusion.

27

3.4 Uniform upper bound for principal curvature

In this section, we are devoted to deriving the uniform upper estimates independent of δ for Gauss curvature and mean curvature. These estimates will give us a sufficient controls on principal curvature. In fact, if we have K > 0and $H \leq C$, then every principal curvature satisfies

$$0 < \lambda_i \le H \le C. \tag{3.4.1}$$

Before we proceed further, we need to show that the solution of penalized problem cannot touch the obstacle and the velocity vector is inward-pointing. For notational convenience, we omit the index δ from all the geometric quantity, such as K^{δ} , H^{δ} , etc., throughout this section.

Lemma 3.4.1. Let u be the solution of (3.3.3) in $S^2 \times [0,T)$. Then

- (i) $u(z,t) > \varphi(z)$,
- (*ii*) $|\beta_{\delta}(u(z,t) \varphi(z))| \leq C$,
- (*iii*) $K(z,t)^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta} \left(u(z,t) \varphi(z) \right) > 0$

for all $(z,t) \in S^2 \times [0,T)$.

Proof. Assume that \vec{X} touches Φ for the first time t_1 at x_1 and let $z_1 = \vec{\nu}(x_1, t_1)$. Clearly $t_1 > 0$. By definition of (z_1, t_1) , we have

$$u(z,t) \ge \varphi(z) \tag{3.4.2}$$

for all points $z \in S^2$ and all $t \in [0, t_1]$, with equality for $z = z_1$ and $t = t_1$. This implies

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t} \left(u(z_1, t) - \varphi(z_1) \right) \Big|_{t=t_1} \le 0, \tag{3.4.3}$$
hence

$$-K^{\alpha} - \beta_{\delta}(u - \varphi) \le 0 \tag{3.4.4}$$

at (z_1, t_1) . Moreover, it also follows from (3.4.2) and (3.2.4) that $K(x_1, t_1) \leq K_{\Phi}(x_1, t_1)$. Putting these facts together, we obtain

$$0 \le K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}(u - \varphi) \le K^{\alpha}_{\Phi} + \beta_{\delta}(0) \tag{3.4.5}$$

at (x_1, t_1) . This contradicts the fact that $\beta_{\delta}(0) = -\sup K_{\Phi}^{\alpha} - 1$. Consequently, \vec{X} cannot touch Φ .

We now prove the third assertion. We define

$$A = \{ s \in [0,T) | u_t(z,t) < 0 \text{ for } z \in S^2 \text{ and } t \in [0,s] \}.$$
(3.4.6)

Since the initial hypersurface is strictly convex, $0 \in A$. Assume that $s^* = \sup A < T$. Let $Z(t) = \min_{S^n}(-u_t)$. By differentiating (3.3.3), we obtain the evolution equation

$$Z_t \ge (\alpha K^{\alpha} H - \beta_{\delta}') Z,$$

which gives $Z(t) \geq Z(0)e^{\int (\alpha K^{\alpha}H - \beta'_{\delta})dt}$. By continuity, $Z(s^*) > 0$ which is contradict to the definition of s^* . This completes the proof.

We remark that β_{δ} is bounded independent of δ since

$$-(\max K_{\mathbf{\Phi}}^{\alpha}+1) = \beta_{\delta}(0) \le \beta_{\delta}(u(z,t)-\varphi(z)) \le 0.$$
(3.4.7)

Using this with the following lemma, we can prove the uniform upper bound of Gauss curvature K.

Lemma 3.4.2. For any $\alpha > 0$ and dimension n, let u be the smooth solution of (3.3.3) in $S^n \times [0,T)$. Then there exists a constant $C = C(\alpha, n, \Phi, \vec{X_0})$,

independent of δ , such that

$$0 < F_{\delta}(z,t) \leq C$$
 in $S^n \times [0,T)$

where $F_{\delta}(z,t) = K(z,t)^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta} \left(u(z,t) - \varphi(z) \right).$

Proof. The assertion $F_{\delta}(z,t) > 0$ follows from Lemma 3.4.1. To prove the uniform upper bound, we use a Tso's trick [72] as in [75]. Let us consider

$$w(z,t) = \frac{F_{\delta}(z,t)}{u(z,t) - \rho_0}$$
(3.4.8)

on $S^n \times [0, T)$, where u is the support function of \vec{X} and $\rho_0 = \frac{1}{2} \inf_{S^n} \varphi$. Then, using (i), the denominator remains positive. We claim that for any $(z, t) \in S^n \times [0, T)$

$$w(z,t) \le \max\left\{\frac{1}{\rho_0} \sup_{z \in S^n} K(z,0), \frac{(\alpha n+1)^n}{(\alpha n)^n \rho_0^{n+1}}\right\}.$$
 (3.4.9)

To prove this, let us consider any time $t_0 \in (0, T)$ and assume that w attains its maximum over $S^n \times [0, t_0]$ at some point (z_1, t_1) . If $t_1 = 0$, we have

$$\sup_{(z,t)\in S^2\times[0,t_0]} w(z,t) \le \frac{F_{\delta}(z_1,0)}{u(z,0)-\rho_0} \le \frac{1}{\rho_0} \sup_{z\in S^2} K(z,0).$$

Consequently we may assume $t_1 > 0$ and we know that at the maximum point (z_1, t_1) of w,

$$w_t \le 0, \quad \overline{\nabla}w = 0, \quad \text{and} \quad \overline{\nabla}^2 w \ge 0.$$
 (3.4.10)

By Lemma 2.2.1, the evolution equation of w is given by

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})w = \frac{(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})F_{\delta}}{u - \rho_0} - \frac{F_{\delta}(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})(u - \rho_0)}{(u - \rho_0)^2} + \frac{2\left\langle \overline{\nabla}(u - \rho_0), \overline{\nabla}w \right\rangle_{\Box_{S^n}}}{u - \rho_0},$$

and then, together with (3.4.10), we have

$$0 \le (u - \rho_0)(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})F_{\delta} - F_{\delta}(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})(u - \rho_0).$$

From the evolution equation of K^{α} in Lemma 3.3.3 and (3.2.3), we obtain

$$0 \leq (u - \rho_0)(\partial_t \beta_{\delta} + \alpha K^{\alpha} H F_{\delta}) + F_{\delta}(F_{\delta} + \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} \overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j u)$$

= $(u - \rho_0)(\beta'_{\delta} u_t + \alpha K^{\alpha} H F_{\delta}) + F_{\delta}(F_{\delta} + \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} (h_{ij} - u\overline{g}_{ij}))$
= $-(u - \rho_0)\beta'_{\delta}F_{\delta} + \alpha (u - \rho_0)K^{\alpha} H F_{\delta} + (K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta})F_{\delta} + \alpha K^{\alpha}F_{\delta}(n - uH).$

Since $\beta_{\delta} \leq 0$ and $\beta'_{\delta} \geq 0$, we have

$$0 \le K^{\alpha} F_{\delta}(\alpha n + 1 - \alpha H \rho_0).$$

Therefore

$$H \le \frac{\alpha n + 1}{\alpha \rho_0},$$

and so

$$\sup_{S^n \times [0,t_0]} w \le \frac{K}{\rho_0} \le \frac{1}{\rho_0} \left(\frac{H}{n}\right)^n \le \left(\frac{\alpha n+1}{\alpha n}\right)^n \rho_0^{-(n+1)}.$$
(3.4.11)

Since the right hand side of (3.4.11) is independent of t_0 , we have (3.4.9). Now using (3.4.8) and (3.4.9), we obtain

$$F_{\delta}(x,t) = (u(x,t) - \rho_0)w(x,t) \le \sup_{S^2} (u_0(x) - \rho_0) \sup_{S^2 \times [0,T)} w(x,t).$$

This bound, together with (3.4.9), completes the proof.

Lemma 3.4.2 has the following immediate consequence.

Corollary 3.4.3. For any $\alpha > 0$ and any dimension n, the Gauss curvature K of the solution of 3.3.2 satisfies

$$0 < K \leq C$$
,

where $\tilde{C} = (C + \sup_{\Phi} K_{\Phi} + 1)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}}$ and C is the constant in Lemma 3.4.2.

Proof. By Lemma 3.4.1, we know that $-\sup_{\Phi} K_{\Phi} - 1 \leq \beta_{\delta}(u - \varphi) \leq 0$. This gives the desired result.

We are now ready to prove the uniform upper bound for mean curvature. Our proof generalizes the quantity used in [3]. When $\alpha = 1$ and n = 2, we employ the same quantity but we have to control the effect form the obstacle β_{δ} . For $0 < \alpha < 1$ and n = 2, we put an exponent in the denominator.

Lemma 3.4.4. For $0 < \alpha \leq 1$ and the dimension n = 2, let \vec{X} be the smooth solution of (3.3.2) in $M \times [0,T)$. Then we have the estimate

$$\sup_{M \times [0,T)} H \le C$$

for all $\delta > 0$, the constant C depending only on α , Φ and $\vec{X_0}$.

Proof. By the evolution equation of the $|\vec{X}|^2$ in Lemma 3.3.2, the function $|\vec{X}|$ is decreasing in time. Choose the origin such that \vec{X}_0 is contained in a ball of radius R about the origin. Then $D := 2R^2 - |\vec{X}|^2 > 0$. Now, we can consider

$$S = \frac{H}{D^{\gamma}}$$

where γ will be chosen later. Using Lemma 2.2.1 and the evolution equation of H and $|\vec{X}|^2$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Box)S &= \frac{1}{D^{\gamma}} \left(g^{ij} \ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h) + \alpha K^{\alpha} H^2 + (1 - n\alpha) K^{\alpha} |A|^2 + \Delta \beta_{\delta} + |A|^2 \beta_{\delta} \right) \\ &+ \frac{\gamma H}{D^{\gamma+1}} \left(-2\alpha K^{\alpha} \mathcal{H} + 2(\alpha n - 1) K^{\alpha} \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle - 2\beta_{\delta} \langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \rangle \right) \\ &- \frac{2\gamma}{D} \left\langle \nabla |\vec{X}|^2, \nabla S \right\rangle_{\Box} + \frac{\gamma (\gamma - 1) H}{D^{\gamma+2}} \left\| \nabla |\vec{X}|^2 \right\|_{\Box}^2. \end{aligned}$$

As in Lemma 3.4.2, given $t_0 \in (0, T)$, let (x_1, t_1) achieve the maximum of S over $M \times [0, t_0]$. We may assume $t_1 > 0$. Then, at this maximum point

(x_1, t_1) , we have

$$0 \leq \frac{1}{D^{\gamma}} \left(g^{ij} \ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h) + \alpha K^{\alpha} H^2 + (1 - 2\alpha) K^{\alpha} |A|^2 \right) + \frac{\gamma H}{D^{\gamma+1}} \left(-2\alpha K^{\alpha} \mathcal{H} + 2(2\alpha - 1) K^{\alpha} \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \right) + \frac{\gamma(\gamma - 1) H}{D^{\gamma+2}} \left\| \nabla |\vec{X}|^2 \right\|_{\square}^2 + \frac{\Delta \beta_{\delta} + (|A|^2 - 2\gamma D^{-1} \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle H) \beta_{\delta}}{D^{\gamma}}.$$

$$(3.4.12)$$

First we will estimate the penalty terms. By a direct computation, we can check that

$$\Delta\beta_{\delta} = \beta_{\delta}^{\prime\prime} \left| \nabla \left\langle \vec{X}(x,t) - \Phi^{t}(x), \vec{\nu}(x,t) \right\rangle \right|^{2} + \beta_{\delta}^{\prime} \Delta \left\langle \vec{X} - \Phi, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle.$$

The first term on the right is nonpositive since $\beta_{\delta}'' \leq 0$. For the remaining term, we observe that

$$\Delta \vec{\nu} = \nabla^k H \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} - |A|^2 \vec{\nu}.$$

From this, we have that

$$\begin{split} \Delta \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle &= g^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \\ &= g^{ij} \nabla_i \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \nabla_j \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \\ &= g^{ij} \left\langle \nabla_i (\vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}), \nabla_j \vec{\nu} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \Delta \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \\ &= - \left\langle \Delta (\vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}), \vec{\nu} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \nabla^k H \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} - |A|^2 \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \\ &= H - g^{ij} h_{ij}^{\boldsymbol{\Phi}} + \nabla^k H \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} \right\rangle - |A|^2 \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle \end{split}$$

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

At the point (x_1, t_1) , we know

$$\nabla^k H = -\frac{\gamma H \nabla^k |\vec{X}|^2}{2R^2 - |\vec{X}|^2},$$

and then

$$\begin{split} \Delta \left\langle \vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle &\leq \left(1 + \frac{2\gamma}{2R^2 - |\vec{X}|^2} |\vec{X} - \boldsymbol{\Phi}| |\vec{X}| \right) H - \frac{|A|^2}{\mu_{max}} \\ &\leq (1 + 2\gamma) H - \frac{H^2}{2\mu_{max}} \end{split}$$

where μ_{max} is the maximum principal curvature of the obstacle. Therefore, if we have

$$H(x_1, t_1) \ge \max\left(2(1+2\gamma)\mu_{\max}, \frac{4\gamma}{R}\right),$$

then

$$\frac{\Delta\beta_{\delta} + (|A|^2 - 2\gamma D^{-1}\left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle H)\beta_{\delta}}{D^{\gamma}} \le 0.$$

Otherwise, the quantity S has uniform upper bound from the inequality $S \leq (2R^2)^{\gamma} H$ and the fact that γ will be chosen dependent on α , Φ , and $\vec{X_0}$.

Before we dealing with the higher order derivative term, let us recall its expression under the normal coordinate. In the coordinate system, the following formula holds:

$$g^{ij}\ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h) = \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kk} (h^{-1})^{mm} \nabla_i h_{kk} \nabla_i h_{mm} - \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{kk} (h^{-1})^{ll} (\nabla_i h_{kl})^2$$
(3.4.13)

To estimate $g^{ij}\ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h)$, we divide into two cases:

- (i) $0 < \alpha < 1;$
- (ii) $\alpha = 1$.

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

For the first case, we could show that

$$g^{ij}\ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h) \le \sum_{i=1}^2 \frac{\alpha \gamma^2 D^{-2} |\nabla_i| \vec{X}|^2 |^2 K^\alpha (2\alpha - 1 - 2(1 - \alpha) K \lambda_i^{-2})}{4\alpha K + (1 - \alpha) H^2} H^2.$$
(3.4.14)

at the maximum point (x_1, t_1) . In fact, using (3.4.13), we have

$$g^{ij}\ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h) = \alpha(\alpha - 1)K^{\alpha}\lambda_1^{-2}\nabla_1 h_{11}^2 + \alpha(\alpha - 1)K^{\alpha}\lambda_2^{-2}\nabla_2 h_{22}^2 \quad (3.4.15)$$
$$+ 2\alpha^2 K^{\alpha - 1}\nabla_1 h_{11}\nabla_1 h_{22} + 2\alpha^2 K^{\alpha - 1}\nabla_2 h_{11}\nabla_2 h_{22}$$
$$+ (-2\alpha K^{\alpha - 1} + \alpha(\alpha - 1)K^{\alpha}\lambda_1^{-2})\nabla_2 h_{11}^2$$
$$+ (-2\alpha K^{\alpha - 1} + \alpha(\alpha - 1)K^{\alpha}\lambda_2^{-2})\nabla_1 h_{22}^2.$$

under the normal coordinate system. Moreover, since the point x_1 realizes the maximum of $S(\cdot, t)$, we obtain

$$\nabla_i h_{11} + \nabla_i h_{22} = -\frac{\gamma H \nabla_i |\vec{X}|^2}{D}$$
(3.4.16)

for i = 1, 2. For a moment, we denote the quantity $4\alpha K + (1 - \alpha)H^2$ by Q. We substitute (3.4.16) to (3.4.15) so that the right hand side of (3.4.15) is

$$-\alpha K^{\alpha-2}Q \sum_{i\neq j} \left(\nabla_i h_{ii} + \frac{\alpha \gamma D^{-1} \nabla_i |\vec{X}|^2 H K^{\alpha-1} (\alpha+2+(1-\alpha)K\lambda_j^{-2})}{\alpha K^{\alpha-2}Q} \right)^2 \\ + \sum_{i=1}^2 \frac{\alpha \gamma^2 D^{-2} |\nabla_i |\vec{X}|^2 |^2 K^{\alpha} (2\alpha-1-2(1-\alpha)K\lambda_i^{-2})}{Q} H^2.$$

This implies the assertion.

Then (3.4.12) becomes

$$0 \leq \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\alpha \gamma^{2} D^{-\gamma-2} |\nabla_{i}| \vec{X}|^{2} |^{2} K^{\alpha} (2\alpha - 1 - 2(1 - \alpha) K \lambda_{i}^{-2})}{Q} H^{2}$$
(3.4.17)
+ $D^{-\gamma} ((1 - \alpha) K^{\alpha} H^{2} - 2(1 - 2\alpha) K^{\alpha+1}) - 2\alpha \gamma D^{-\gamma-1} K^{\alpha-1} H^{2}$
+ $2(2\alpha - 1) \gamma D^{-\gamma-1} K^{\alpha} H \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle + \sum_{i=1}^{2} \alpha \gamma (\gamma - 1) K^{\alpha} H D^{-\gamma-2} \lambda_{i}^{-1} |\nabla_{i}| \vec{X}|^{2} |^{2}.$

Now we choose

$$\gamma = \frac{2(1-\alpha)}{\alpha} K_{max} R^2$$

so that we obtain

$$D^{-\gamma}K^{\alpha-1}H^2((1-\alpha)K - 2\alpha\gamma D^{-1}) \le -(1-\alpha)D^{-\gamma}K^{\alpha-1}H^2K_{max}.$$
 (3.4.18)

Moreover, the first term and the last term become

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=1}^{2} \alpha \gamma D^{-\gamma-2} |\nabla_{i}| \vec{X}|^{2} |^{2} K^{\alpha} H\left((\gamma-1)\lambda_{i}^{-1}+\gamma H \frac{2\alpha-1-2(1-\alpha)K\lambda_{i}^{-2}}{Q}\right) \\ &= \sum_{i\neq j} \alpha \gamma K^{\alpha} H |\nabla_{i}| \vec{X}|^{2} |^{2} \frac{(\gamma-1)(Q+\gamma H((2\alpha-1)\lambda_{i}-2(1-\alpha)\lambda_{j}))}{\lambda_{i} D^{\gamma+2} Q} \\ &= \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\alpha \gamma K^{\alpha} H}{D^{\gamma+2} Q} \times \frac{-(1-\alpha)(\gamma+1)H^{2}+(\gamma-1)4\alpha K+\gamma H\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{i}} |\nabla_{i}| \vec{X}|^{2} |^{2} \\ &= \sum_{i\neq j} \frac{\alpha \gamma K^{\alpha-1} H}{D^{\gamma+2} Q} (\gamma K H - (1-\alpha)(\gamma+1)H^{2}\lambda_{j}+(\gamma-1)4\alpha K\lambda_{j}) |\nabla_{i}| \vec{X}|^{2} |^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha \gamma K^{\alpha-1} H}{D^{\gamma+2} Q} (\gamma K H + (\gamma-1)4\alpha K H) (|\vec{X}|^{2} - \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle^{2}) \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha \gamma K^{\alpha} H^{2}}{D^{\gamma+2} Q} ((4\alpha+1)\gamma-4\alpha) (|\vec{X}|^{2}-\left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle^{2}) \\ &\leq \frac{\alpha \gamma ((4\alpha+1)\gamma-4\alpha)}{1-\alpha} K^{\alpha} R^{-2\gamma}, \end{split}$$
(3.4.19)

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

and the remaining terms are

$$\frac{2(1-2\alpha)K^{\alpha+1}}{D^{\gamma}} + \frac{2(2\alpha-1)\gamma K^{\alpha}H\left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle}{D^{\gamma+1}} \le 2|2\alpha-1|(K^{\alpha+1}R^{-2\gamma} + \gamma K^{\alpha}R^{-1}S)$$
(3.4.20)

Notice that $D = 2R^2 - |\vec{X}|^2$ and $Q = 4\alpha K + (1 - \alpha)H^2$. Putting (3.4.19) and (3.4.20), together with (3.4.18), we obtain

$$0 \le -C_1 S^2 + C_2 S + C_3$$

where C_1, C_2 , and C_3 are positive constants depending on α, Φ , and $\vec{X_0}$. Thus, S is uniformly bounded on $M \times [0, t_0]$. Since this bound is independent of t_0 , we have shown $\max_{M \times [0,T)} S \leq C(\alpha, \Phi, \vec{X_0})$ and then the conclusion follows from $H \leq (2R^2)^{\gamma}S$.

It remains to prove when $\alpha = 1$. In this case, we take $\gamma = 1$. Then (3.4.14) becomes

$$g^{ij}\ddot{K}(\nabla_i h, \nabla_j h) \le (|\vec{X}|^2 - \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle^2)S^2.$$

With this and (3.4.12), we have

$$0 \leq \frac{|\vec{X}|^2 - \left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle^2}{D} S^2 + \frac{2K^2}{D} - 2S^2 + \frac{2K\left\langle \vec{X}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle}{D} S$$
$$\leq -S^2 + 2K_{\max}S + 2K_{\max}^2 R^{-2}.$$

As in the previous case, we can obtain the uniform upper bound for S, i.e.,

$$S \le K_{\max}(1 + \sqrt{1 + 2R^{-2}}).$$

Again, this bound is independent of t_0 , we conclude that $\max_{M \times [0,T)} S \leq C(\Phi, \vec{X}_0)$ and then $H \leq 2R^2S$ proves the lemma.

Remark 3.4.5. The dimension restriction n = 2 is used only on Lemma

3.4.4

3.5 Lower bound for principal curvature

In this section, we will discuss about the lower bound on the principal curvature. We first prove an upper bound estimate for \mathcal{H}^{δ} , the sum of the inverse of the principal curvature, which gives the lower bound of principal curvature. This bounds, together with Lemma 3.4.4, yields uniform ellipticity for each δ so that we can obtain the long time existence of penalized solution. We also show a lower bound on the principal curvature with respect to the distance from the obstacle.

Lemma 3.5.1. For any $\alpha > 0$ and dimension n, let u be the solution of (3.3.3) in $S^n \times [0,T)$. Then there exists a constant $C = C(n, \Phi, \vec{X}_0, T)$ such that

$$\mathcal{H}(z,t) \leq C_{\delta}$$
 in $S^n \times [0,T)$.

Proof. First, we need the evolution equation of \mathcal{H} . To see this, note that by definition

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{H}_{t} &= (\overline{g}^{ij}h_{ij})_{t} = -\overline{g}^{ij}\overline{\nabla}_{i}\overline{\nabla}_{j}(K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}) - n(K^{\alpha} + \beta_{\delta}) \\ &= \overline{g}^{ij}\overline{\nabla}_{i}(\alpha K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{kl}\overline{\nabla}_{j}h_{kl}) - nK^{\alpha} - \Delta_{S^{n}}\beta_{\delta} - n\beta_{\delta} \\ &= \overline{g}^{ij}\alpha K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{kl}\overline{\nabla}_{i}\overline{\nabla}_{j}h_{kl} - \overline{g}^{ij}\alpha^{2}K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{mn}(h^{-1})^{kl}\overline{\nabla}_{i}h_{mn}\overline{\nabla}_{j}h_{kl} \\ &- \overline{g}^{ij}\alpha K^{\alpha}(h^{-1})^{km}(h^{-1})^{ln}\overline{\nabla}_{i}h_{mn}\overline{\nabla}_{j}h_{kl} \\ &- nK^{\alpha} - \Delta_{S^{n}}\beta_{\delta} - n\beta_{\delta} \end{aligned}$$

and, as in (3.3.4),

$$\Box_{S^n} \mathcal{H} = \overline{g}^{kl} \Box_{S^n} h_{kl} = \overline{g}^{kl} \left(\alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} \overline{\nabla}_k \overline{\nabla}_l h_{ij} - \alpha K^{\alpha} (n \overline{g}_{kl} - h_{kl} H) \right),$$

which implies that

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})\mathcal{H} &= -\overline{g}^{ij} \alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{mn} (h^{-1})^{kl} \overline{\nabla}_i h_{mn} \overline{\nabla}_j h_{kl} \\ &- \overline{g}^{ij} \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \overline{\nabla}_i h_{mn} \overline{\nabla}_j h_{kl} \\ &+ \alpha K^{\alpha} (n^2 - H\mathcal{H}) - n K^{\alpha} - \Delta_{S^n} \beta_{\delta} - n \beta_{\delta} \\ &\leq -\Delta_{S^n} \beta_{\delta} - n \beta_{\delta}, \end{aligned}$$

by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality and the fact that the metric and the second fundamental form are positive definite. As in the previous lemmas, for any $t_0 \in (0,T)$, assume that $\mathcal{H} + e^{\gamma(t_0-t)\delta^{-2}}$ has maximum over $S^n \times [0,t_0]$ at (x_1,t_1) where $t_1 > 0$. The constant γ will be chosen later. Then at this point, we have

$$0 \le -\Delta_{S^n} \beta_{\delta} - n\beta_{\delta} - \frac{\gamma}{\delta^2}.$$
(3.5.1)

It remains to control the penalty terms. From the direct calculation,

$$\Delta_{S^n}\beta_{\delta} = \beta_{\delta}''\overline{g}^{ij}\overline{\nabla}_i(u-\varphi)\overline{\nabla}_j(u-\varphi) + \beta_{\delta}'\Delta_{S^n}(u-\varphi).$$

Using (3.2.2), we have $\vec{X} - \mathbf{\Phi} = \overline{\nabla}(u - \varphi) + (u - \varphi)z$ so that

$$\overline{g}^{ij}\overline{\nabla}_i(u-\varphi)\overline{\nabla}_j(u-\varphi) = |\vec{X}-\Phi|^2 - (u-\varphi)^2.$$

Moreover, by the relation (3.2.3), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \Delta_{S^n}(u-\varphi) &= \overline{g}^{ij} \overline{\nabla}_i \overline{\nabla}_j (u-\varphi) \\ &= \overline{g}^{ij} (h_{ij} - h_{ij}^{\mathbf{\Phi}} - (u-\varphi) \overline{g}_{ij}) \\ &= \mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H}^{\mathbf{\Phi}} - (u-\varphi) n. \end{split}$$

Recalling the definition (3.3.1), these facts immediately imply that if we take

$$\gamma \geq A_0 \|\beta^n\|_{\infty} (R^2 + n\delta^2), \text{ then}$$

$$-\Delta_{S^n}\beta_{\delta} - n\beta_{\delta} - \frac{\gamma}{\delta^2} \leq A_0 \left(-\beta'' \frac{R^2}{\delta^2} - \beta' \frac{1}{\delta} (\mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H}^{\Phi} - (u - \varphi)n) - \frac{\|\beta''\|_{\infty} R^2}{\delta^2} \right)$$

$$\leq -\beta' \frac{1}{\delta} (\mathcal{H} - \mathcal{H}^{\Phi} - (u - \varphi)n),$$

and therefore $\mathcal{H} \leq \mathcal{H}^{\Phi} + (u - \varphi)n$. Finally, we obtain

 $A = 0/1/1 = (D^2 + C^2) + 1$

$$\mathcal{H} \le \mathcal{H}^{\Phi} + (u - \varphi)n + e^{\gamma T \delta^{-2}}$$

Since the right hand side does not depend on t_0 , the desired conclusion follows.

Lemma 3.5.1, together with the result in Section 4, implies that the linearized operator satisfying uniformly parabolicity, i.e.,

$$C_{\delta}|\xi|^{2} \le \alpha K(x,t)^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} \xi_{i} \xi_{j} \le C|\xi|^{2}$$
(3.5.2)

on $M \times [0,T)$, where $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $C = C(n, \vec{X}_0, \Phi)$, and $C_{\delta} = C_{\delta}(n, \vec{X}_0, \Phi, T)$. Then it is a direct consequence that the support function u satisfies a uniformly parabolic equation. We can now apply Krylov-Safonov theory to u, as in [72], which implies a $C^{2,\beta}$ estimate and hence smoothness.

Next we establish the long time existence of (3.3.3). From Lemma 3.3.1, we have the unique smooth solution u on [0, T). Take the maximum time T^* that the solution exists, and assume that T^* is finite. However, using the estimates above, the hypersurface Σ_{T^*} is smooth and then the solution exists beyond T^* by applying the local existence to Σ_{T^*} . This is a contradiction and therefore the solution exists on $[0, \infty)$.

Let \vec{X}^{δ} be the solution of (3.3.2) for each δ . From Corollary 3.4.3 and Lemma 3.4.1 ((iii)), \vec{X}^{δ} is equicontinuous and uniformly bounded. Then, by the Arzela-Ascoli theorem, there is a continuous hypersurface \vec{X} such that $\vec{X}^{\delta} \to \vec{X}$ uniformly on $M \times [0, T]$ up to subsequence for each $T < \infty$. It is easy to check that \vec{X} is the viscosity solution of (GFo). Moreover, using Lemma 3.4.4, \vec{X} has $C^{1,1}$ bound with $\vec{X^{\delta}} \to \vec{X}$ in $C^{1,\beta}$ for some $0 < \beta < 1$. This proves the first and second part of Theorem 3.1.5.

To obtain the third part of Theorem 3.1.5, we need the following local lower curvature bound whose constant depends on the distance from the free boundary. In order to proceed, we have to define cut-off function. In a zcoordinate, consider a point (z_0, t_0) such that $2M := u(z_0, t_0) - \varphi(z_0) > 0$. Now define a cut-off function ψ_{γ} by

$$\psi_{\gamma}(z,t) = (M - u^{\delta}(z,t) + \varphi(z) - \gamma t)_{+}.$$

Lemma 3.5.2. For any $\alpha > 0$ and any dimension n, let u^{δ} be the smooth solution of (3.3.3) in $S^n \times [0,T)$. Assume that $\delta < M$. Then we have

$$\left(\psi_{\gamma}^{\frac{1}{\alpha}+n-1}\frac{1}{\lambda_{\min}}\right)(z,t) \leq M^{\frac{1}{\alpha}+n-1}\sup_{U_{0}}\frac{1}{\lambda_{\min}(\cdot,0)}$$

where $U_0 = \{ z : u^{\delta}(z, 0) - \varphi(z) < M \}.$

Proof. From the definition of the cut-off function ψ_{γ} with Lemma 3.3.3, we obtain

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})\psi_{\gamma} = -\alpha K^{\alpha} H(u - \varphi) + (n\alpha + 1)K^{\alpha} - \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{ij} h_{ij}^{\Phi} - \gamma + \beta_{\delta}$$
$$\leq (n\alpha + 1)K^{\alpha} - \gamma + \beta_{\delta}$$

on the support of ψ_{γ} . Using the non-positivity of β_{δ} and Corollary 3.4.3, we also have

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})\psi_\gamma \le 0$$

if $\gamma \geq \gamma_0$ for some constant $\gamma_0 = \gamma_0(n, \alpha, \max K)$. Thus we get

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})\psi^b_{\gamma} \le -b(b-1)\psi^{b-2}_{\gamma} \|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}\|^2_{\Box_{S^n}}, \qquad (3.5.3)$$

where $b = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{a} + n - 1}$. We next consider the evolution equation for h_{11}/\overline{g}_{11} .

Observe that

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n}) \frac{1}{\overline{g}_{11}} = 0,$$
 (3.5.4)

and

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})h_{11} = -\alpha^2 K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{mn} (h^{-1})^{kl} \overline{\nabla}_1 h_{mn} \overline{\nabla}_1 h_{kl} - \alpha K^{\alpha} (h^{-1})^{km} (h^{-1})^{ln} \overline{\nabla}_1 h_{mn} \overline{\nabla}_1 h_{kl} + (n\alpha - 1) K^{\alpha} \overline{g}_{11} - \alpha K^{\alpha} H h_{11} - \overline{\nabla}_1 \overline{\nabla}_1 \beta_{\delta} - \beta_{\delta} \overline{g}_{11}.$$

$$(3.5.5)$$

We are now ready to prove the assertion. Let $t' \in (0,T)$ and assume that the function $\psi_{\gamma}^{b} \lambda_{\min}^{-1}$ attains its maximum on $S^{n} \times [0,t']$ at (z_{1},t_{1}) . If $t_{1} = 0$, then we get the desired result. Let $t_{1} > 0$ and choose a normal coordinate system near (z_{1},t_{1}) so that

$$\overline{g}_{ij}(z_1, t_1) = \delta_{ij}, \quad h_{ij}(z_1, t_1) = \lambda_i^{-1}(z_1, t_1)\delta_{ij}, \quad \lambda_1(z_1, t_1) = \lambda_{\min}(z_1, t_1).$$

Using the similar argument in [18], we can show that for any point,

$$\frac{h_{11}}{\overline{g}_{11}} \leq \frac{1}{\lambda_{\min}}$$

so that

$$w = \psi_{\gamma}^{b} \frac{h_{11}}{\overline{g}_{11}}$$

attains its maximum at (z_1, t_1) . Then by (3.5.3), and (3.5.4), the following holds at (z_1, t_1) :

$$0 \leq (\partial_{t} - \Box_{S^{n}})w$$

$$= \frac{h_{11}}{\overline{g}_{11}}(\partial_{t} - \Box_{S^{n}})\psi_{\gamma}^{b} + \psi_{\gamma}^{b}(\partial_{t} - \Box_{S^{n}})\frac{h_{11}}{\overline{g}_{11}} - 2\left\langle \nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{b}, \nabla\frac{h_{11}}{\overline{g}_{11}}\right\rangle_{\Box_{S^{n}}}$$

$$= -b(b-1)\psi_{\gamma}^{b-2}\lambda_{1}^{-1} \|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}\|_{\Box_{S^{n}}}^{2} + \psi_{\gamma}^{b}(\partial_{t} - \Box_{S^{n}})h_{11} + 2\psi_{\gamma}^{-b}\lambda_{1}^{-1} \|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{b}\|_{\Box_{S^{n}}}^{2}.$$
(3.5.6)

CHAPTER 3. GAUSS CURVATURE FLOW WITH AN OBSTACLE

Notice that we have used

$$\partial_t w(z_1, t_1) \ge 0$$
. $\overline{\nabla} w(z_1, t_1) = 0$, $\overline{\nabla}^2 w(z_1, t_1) \le 0$.

Next, the equation (3.5.5) becomes

$$(\partial_t - \Box_{S^n})h_{11} = -\alpha^2 K^\alpha \left(\sum_m \lambda_m \overline{\nabla}_1 h_{mm}\right)^2 - \alpha K^\alpha \lambda_m \lambda_n \overline{\nabla}_1 h_{mn}^2 + (n\alpha - 1)K^\alpha - \alpha K^\alpha H \lambda_1^{-1} - \overline{\nabla}_1 \overline{\nabla}_1 \beta_\delta - \beta_\delta.$$

For the first two terms in the above equation, by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\alpha \left(\sum_{m} \lambda_m \nabla_1 h_{mm}\right)^2 + \sum_{m \neq 1} \lambda_m^2 \nabla_1 h_{mm}^2 \ge \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\alpha} + n - 1} \lambda_1^2 \nabla_1 h_{11}^2$$

and therefore,

$$\alpha^{2} K^{\alpha} \left(\sum_{m} \lambda_{m} \nabla_{1} h_{mm} \right)^{2} + \sum_{m} \alpha K^{\alpha} \lambda_{m} \lambda_{n} \nabla_{1} h_{mn}^{2}$$
$$\geq \left(1 + \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\alpha} + n - 1} \right) \alpha K^{\alpha} \lambda_{1} \sum_{m} \lambda_{m} \nabla_{m} h_{11}^{2}.$$

Using $\nabla w(x_1, t_1) = 0$ again, the equation (3.5.6) becomes

$$0 \leq \left(-\frac{b-1}{b} - 1 - \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\alpha} + n - 1} + 2\right) \psi_{\gamma}^{-b} \lambda_1 \left\|\nabla \psi_{\gamma}^{b}\right\|_{\square_{S^n}}^2$$
$$+ \psi_{\gamma}^{b} (-\alpha K^{\alpha} H \lambda_1^{-1} + (n\alpha - 1) K^{\alpha}) + \psi_{\gamma}^{b} (-\overline{\nabla}_1 \overline{\nabla}_1 \beta_{\delta} - \lambda_1^{-2} \beta_{\delta})$$
$$\leq -\alpha \psi_{\gamma}^{b} K^{\alpha}$$

since $b = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{\alpha} + n - 1}$ and $u(z_1, t_1) - \varphi(z_1) \ge M > \delta$. This completes the proof. \Box

3.6 Proof of Theorem 3.1.5

In this section, we provide a proof of Theorem 3.1.5. In order to present the proof, we need the comparison principle which is useful to prove the convergence to the obstacle.

Lemma 3.6.1. Let u and v be the solution of (3.3.3) with initial condition u_0 and v_0 , respectively. Assume that the hypersurfaces corresponding to u_0 and v_0 are smooth strictly convex closed hypersurface. If $u_0 \ge v_0$ on S^n , then $u \ge v$ in $S^n \times [0, \infty)$.

Proof. For $\varepsilon > 0$, define $w = (u - v)e^{-\gamma t} + \varepsilon$. The constant γ will be chosen later. Assume that w achieves zero at (z_1, t_1) for the first time. Clearly, $t_1 > 0$. Then by the simple maximum principle argument and the mean value theorem, we can obtain

$$(\gamma - \alpha (K^*)^{\alpha} H^* + \beta'_{\delta} (u^* - \varphi))(u - v) \ge 0,$$

where K^* and H^* are the curvatures corresponding to the support function $u^* = s^*u + (1 - s^*)v$ for some $s^* \in [0, 1]$. At the point (z_1, t_1) , u - v is negative, which will derive a contradiction if $\gamma \ge \alpha(K^*)^{\alpha}H^* + \beta'_{\delta}(u^* - \varphi)$. This is actually possible since the Gauss curvature and the mean curvature have an upper bound from Corollary 3.4.3 and Lemma 3.5.1.

We now prove Theorem 3.1.5.

Proof of Theorem 3.1.5. The statements (i) - (iii) are proved in the previous section. The last part is to prove the convergence to the obstacle. For any given point on Φ , we can take the ball B containing the obstacle and touching Φ at given point. Since it is well known fact that how the sphere evolves under the Gauss curvature flow, we also take the large ball enclosing \vec{X}_0 and evolving to the B in finite time. Note that this ball is also the solution of (GFo), and hence the conclusion (iv) follows from comparison principle. \Box

Chapter 4

Mean curvature flow of entire graphs with an obstacle

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter we consider the obstacle problem for the evolution of complete non-compact strictly mean convex graphs by mean curvature. The obstacle Φ in our consideration is a $C^{1,1}$ complete non-compact strictly convex graphs over an open subset in \mathbb{R}^n . Let \vec{X} be a one parameter family of immersions from $M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$, where M^n is an *n*-dimensional complete non-compact Riemannian manifold, and the initial hypersurface $\vec{X}_0 : M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ is smooth immersion of a complete non-compact strictly mean convex *n*-dimensional graph enclosing the obstacle. We say that X is a solution of the obstacle problem for the mean curvature flow of complete non-compact hypersurface if

$$\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}(x,t)}{\partial t}, -\vec{\nu}(x,t) \right\rangle \leq H(x,t) \quad \text{for } (x,t) \in M^n \times [0,T),$$

$$\frac{\partial \vec{X}(x,t)}{\partial t} = -H\vec{\nu}(x,t) \quad \text{if } \vec{X}(x,t) \notin \mathbf{\Phi}, \quad (\text{MCFo})$$

$$\overline{\mathbf{\Phi}} \subset \overline{\Sigma_t} \quad \text{for } 0 \leq t < T,$$

$$\vec{X}(x,0) = \vec{X}_0(x) \quad \text{for } x \in M^n,$$

where H and $\vec{\nu}$ are the mean curvature and the outward unit normal vector on Σ_t , respectively. Here we use the bar notation to indicate the closed subset of \mathbb{R}^{n+1} enclosed by the given set.

We always assume that the initial hypersurface X_0 and the obstacle Φ is given by graphs over an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n . Denote by $u_0 : \Omega_0 \to \mathbb{R}$, $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$ and $\varphi : \Omega_{\varphi} \to \mathbb{R}$ the graph function of X_0, X , and Φ , respectively. With the graph functions, we could formulate (MCFo) as

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} &\leq \sqrt{1 + |Du|^2} \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{Du}{\sqrt{1 + |Du|^2}} \right) & \text{in } \Omega \times [0, T), \\ \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} &= \sqrt{1 + |Du|^2} \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{Du}{\sqrt{1 + |Du|^2}} \right) & \text{in } \{u < \varphi\}, \\ u &\leq \varphi & \text{in } \Omega \times [0, T), \\ u(\cdot, 0) &= u_0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.1.1)$$

As in the previous chapter, the concept of solution here is a viscosity solution. Now we state our main result in this chapter.

Theorem 4.1.1. Let Σ_0 and Φ be complete non-compact graphs over an open subset of \mathbb{R}^n such that $\overline{\Phi} \subset \overline{\Sigma}_0$. Assume also that Φ is strictly convex and Σ_0 is strictly mean convex. Then there exists a viscosity solution $u : \Omega \to \mathbb{R} \cup \{\infty\}$ of (MCFo) with the local $C^{1,1}$ optimal regularity, where $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^{n+1} \times [0, \infty)$ is relatively open and Ω contains $\Omega_{\varphi} \times [0, \infty)$.

4.2 Preliminaries

Let M^n be an *n*-dimensional manifold and $X(\cdot, t) : M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ be a oneparameter family of immersions in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . Denote by ν the outward unit normal vector of $\Sigma_t = X(M, t)$. In a local coordinate system $\{x^i\}_{i=1}^n$, the induced metric and the second fundamental form of Σ_t are

$$g_{ij} = \left\langle \frac{\partial X}{\partial x^i}, \frac{\partial X}{\partial x^j} \right\rangle$$
 and $h_{ij} = \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 X}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, -\nu \right\rangle$. (4.2.1)

We also define the inverse matrix of $\{h_{ij}\}$ by $\{b^{ij}\}$. With the Einstein's summation convention on repeated indices, the Weingarten map is defined by

$$h_j^i = g^{ik} h_{kj}$$

where g^{ij} denotes the inverse matrix of $\{g_{ij}\}$. We call the eigenvalues of h^i_j as the principal curvatures $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \dots, \lambda_n$, and then we can define curvatures as follows:

- 1. $H = \operatorname{tr}(h_j^i) = \sum \lambda_i$ (Mean curvature),
- 2. $K = \det(h_j^i) = \prod \lambda_i$ (Gauss curvature),
- 3. $|A|^2 = \operatorname{tr}((h^2)_j^i) = \sum \lambda_i^2$ (sum of square),
- 4. $\mathcal{H} = \det((h^{-1})_j^i) = \sum \lambda_i^{-1}$ (sum of inverse).

From the Gauss-Weingarten relations, we have

$$\frac{\partial^2 X}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} = \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial X}{\partial x^k} - h_{ij}\nu \quad \text{and} \quad \frac{\partial \nu}{\partial x^i} = h_{ik} g^{kl} \frac{\partial X}{\partial x^l},$$

where the Christoffel symbol

$$\Gamma_{ij}^{k} = \frac{1}{2} g^{kl} \left(\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{i}} g_{jl} + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{j}} g_{il} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{l}} g_{ij} \right),$$

and then the Laplace-Beltrami operator of the position vector X can be computed as

$$\Delta_g X = g^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j X = g^{ij} \left(\frac{\partial^2 X}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} - \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial X}{\partial x^k} \right) = -H\nu.$$

We write $\Delta = \Delta_g$ for simplicity. Recalling the Gauss identity

$$R_{ijkl} = h_{ik}h_{jl} - h_{il}h_{jk},$$

where R_{ijkl} is the Riemannian curvature tensor, and the Codazzi identity

$$\nabla_i h_{jk} = \nabla_j h_{ik},$$

we can prove the following identity (see [75, Lemma 2.3]):

$$\Delta h_{ij} = \nabla_i \nabla_j H + H(h^2)_{ij} - |A|^2 h_{ij}.$$
(4.2.2)

We also compute the Laplace-Beltrami operator of the outward unit normal vector.

4.2.1 Obstacles

Let Φ be a complete non-compact strictly convex hypersurface. We always assume that Φ can be represented by a graph over an open subset of $\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}$. We call Φ as an obstacle and denote its normal by $\vec{\nu}_{\Phi}$.

4.2.2 Penalization method

Let β be the smooth function defined on \mathbb{R} and satisfying

$$\begin{aligned} \beta(0) &= -1, \\ \beta(x) &= 0 & \text{if } x \ge 1, \\ \beta''(x) &= 0 & \text{if } x < 0, \\ \beta'(x) &\ge 0, \ \beta''(x) \le 0, & \text{for all } x \in \mathbb{R}, \end{aligned}$$

and let K_{Φ} be the Gauss curvature of the obstacle Φ . We define the penalty term to be

$$\beta_{\delta}(x) = A_0 \beta(x/\delta), \qquad (4.2.3)$$

where $A_0 = \sup_{\Phi} K^{\alpha}_{\Phi} + 1$. Then it is easy to check that $\beta_{\delta}(x) \leq 0$, $\beta'_{\delta}(x) \geq 0$, $\beta''_{\delta}(x) \leq 0$, and $\beta_{\delta}(0) = -A_0 < -\sup_{\Phi} K^{\alpha}_{\Phi}$. Moreover, $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \beta_{\delta}(x) \to 0$ for x > 0 and $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \beta_{\delta}(x) \to -\infty$ for x < 0.

Now let us consider the following penalized problem which approximates (MCFo): Given an initial hypersurface Σ_0 and its immersion $\vec{X}_0 : M^n \to \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$,

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \sqrt{1 + |Du|^2} \operatorname{div}\left(\frac{Du}{\sqrt{1 + |Du|^2}}\right) + \beta_\delta(\varphi - u) \quad \text{in } \Omega \times [0, T),$$
$$u(\cdot, 0) = u_0. \tag{4.2.4}$$

4.3 Evolution equations

In this section, we obtain evolution equations for geometric quantities of the hypersurface Σ_t under the flow (4.2.4).

Lemma 4.3.1. Under the flow (4.2.4), we have the following evolution equations.

(i)
$$\frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial t} = -2(H + \beta_{\delta})h_{ij}$$

$$(ii) \ \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \Delta u + v^{-1}\beta_{\delta}$$

$$(iii) \ \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t} = \nabla (H + \beta_{\delta})$$

$$(iv) \quad \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} = \Delta v - 2v^{-1} |\nabla v|^2 - v|A|^2 + v^2 \langle \nabla \beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \rangle$$
$$(v) \quad \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} = \Delta h_{ij} - 2H(h^2)_{ij} + |A|^2 h_{ij} + \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} - (h^2)_{ij} \beta_{\delta}$$

(vi)
$$\frac{\partial H}{\partial t} = \Delta H + |A|^2 H + \Delta \beta_{\delta} + |A|^2 \beta_{\delta}$$

$$(vii) \quad \frac{\partial |A|^2}{\partial t} = \Delta |A|^2 - 2|\nabla A|^2 + 2|A|^4 + 2h^{ij}\nabla_i\nabla_j\beta_\delta + 2C\beta_\delta$$

Proof. Recall that F_{δ} denotes the speed $H + \beta_{\delta}$ of (3.3.2).

(i) Since $\left\langle \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^i} \right\rangle = 0$, we have

$$\frac{\partial g_{ij}}{\partial t} = \left\langle \frac{\partial}{\partial x^i} (-F_{\delta} \vec{\nu}), \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} \right\rangle + \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^i}, \frac{\partial}{\partial x^j} (-F_{\delta} \vec{\nu}) \right\rangle$$
$$= -F_{\delta} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^i}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} \right\rangle - F_{\delta} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^i}, \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^j} \right\rangle = -2F_{\delta}h_{ij}.$$

(ii) Notice that $u = \langle \vec{X}, \mathbf{e} \rangle$, $v = \langle -\vec{\nu}, \mathbf{e} \rangle^{-1}$, and $\Delta \vec{X} = -H\vec{\nu}$. Then

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial t}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle = \left\langle \Delta X - \beta_{\delta} \vec{\nu}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle = \Delta u + v^{-1} \beta_{\delta}.$$

(iii) From $\langle \vec{\nu}, \vec{\nu} \rangle = 1$, we obtain $\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle = 0$ and $\left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^i}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle = 0$. Thus,

$$\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t} = g^{ij} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t}, \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^i} \right\rangle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} = -g^{ij} \left\langle \vec{\nu}, \frac{\partial (-F_\delta \vec{\nu})}{\partial x^i} \right\rangle \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} = g^{ij} \frac{\partial F_\delta}{\partial x^i} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^j} = \nabla F_\delta.$$

(iv) By a direct computation, we see that

$$\Delta v = g^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j v = g^{ij} \nabla_i (-v^2 \langle -\nabla_j \nu, \mathbf{e} \rangle) = 2v^{-1} |\nabla v|^2 + v^2 \langle \Delta \vec{\nu}, \mathbf{e} \rangle$$

It can now be deduced from Lemma 2.1.2 that

$$\Delta v = 2v^{-1} |\nabla v|^2 + v^2 \langle \nabla H, \mathbf{e} \rangle + v |A|^2$$

which implies

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial v}{\partial t} &= -v^2 \left\langle -\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial t}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle = v^2 \left\langle \nabla H + \nabla \beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle \\ &= \Delta v - 2v^{-1} |\nabla v|^2 - v|A|^2 + v^2 \left\langle \nabla \beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle \end{aligned}$$

(v) As in the proof of (*iii*), it holds that $\frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^i} = h_i^k \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k}$. Using this, we see that

$$\begin{split} \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} &= \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 (-F_{\delta} \vec{\nu})}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, -\vec{\nu} \right\rangle + \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 \vec{X}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, -\nabla F_{\delta} \right\rangle \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 F_{\delta}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} + F_{\delta} \left\langle \frac{\partial^2 \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j}, \vec{\nu} \right\rangle - \left\langle \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k}, g^{mn} \frac{\partial F_{\delta}}{\partial x^m} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^n} \right\rangle \\ &= \frac{\partial^2 F_{\delta}}{\partial x^i \partial x^j} - \Gamma^k_{ij} \frac{\partial \vec{X}}{\partial x^k} - F_{\delta} \left\langle \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^i}, \frac{\partial \vec{\nu}}{\partial x^j} \right\rangle \\ &= \nabla_i \nabla_j F_{\delta} - F_{\delta} (h^2)_{ij}. \end{split}$$

This, together with (4.2.2), yields

$$\frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} = \Delta h_{ij} - 2H(h^2)_{ij} + |A|^2 h_{ij} + \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_\delta - (h^2)_{ij} \beta_\delta.$$

(vi) One easily computes

$$\frac{\partial g^{ij}}{\partial t} = 2F_{\delta}h^{ij} \tag{4.3.1}$$

so that $\frac{\partial H}{\partial t} = g^{ij} \frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} + 2F_{\delta}|A|^2$. Then we get the desired result from (v).

(vii) It also follows from (4.3.1) that $\frac{\partial |A|^2}{\partial t} = 2h^{ij}\frac{\partial h_{ij}}{\partial t} + 4F_{\delta}h^{ij}(h^2)_{ij}$, and observe that $2h^{ij}\Delta h_{ij} = \Delta |A|^2 - 2|\nabla A|^2$. Again, the evolution equation

(v) gives the conclusion.

4.4 Uniform boundedness for β_{δ}

Lemma 4.4.1. Let u be the solution of (4.2.4). Then the solution u does not touch the obstacle, *i.e.*,

$$u(x,t) < \varphi(x) \quad \text{for all } x \in \overline{B}_R, \ t \ge 0.$$
 (4.4.1)

In particular, the penalty term has the following uniform bound:

$$-C \le \beta_{\delta}(\varphi(x) - u(x, t)) \le 0, \quad \text{for all } x \in \overline{B}_R, \ t \ge 0, \tag{4.4.2}$$

where the constant C depends only on $\max_{\Phi} H_{\Phi}$.

Proof. The first assertion follows from the simple maximum principle argument. In fact, assume that (x_0, t_0) is a point such that $u(x_0, t_0) = \varphi(x_0)$ for the first time. Since $u = u_0 < \varphi$ on the parabolic boundary of $B_R \times [0, \infty)$, the point (x_0, t_0) should be an interior point and therefore at this point we have

$$\partial_t(\varphi - u) \le 0, \quad D(\varphi - u) = 0, \quad D^2(\varphi - u) \ge 0.$$
 (4.4.3)

Applying this to the equation (4.2.4), the inequality

$$0 \le \frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = a_{ij}(Du)D_{ij}u + \sqrt{1 + |Du|^2}\beta_{\delta}(\varphi - u)$$
(4.4.4)

$$\leq a_{ij}(D\varphi)D_{ij}\varphi + \sqrt{1 + |D\psi|^2}\beta_{\delta}(0) \tag{4.4.5}$$

holds at (x_0, t_0) , which implies

$$H_{\Phi}(x_0) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + |D\psi(x_0)|^2}} a_{ij}(D\psi(x_0)) D_{ij}\psi(x_0) \ge -\beta_{\delta}(0).$$
(4.4.6)

However, this leads to a contradiction as $-\beta_{\delta}(0) = \max_{\Phi} H_{\Phi} + 1.$

To obtain the second assertion, we observe that

$$-\max_{\Phi} H_{\Phi} - 1 = \beta_{\delta}(0) \le \beta_{\delta}(\varphi - u) \le \lim_{z \to \infty} \beta_{\delta}(z) = 0$$

since β_{δ} is increasing. Taking $C = \max_{\Phi} H_{\Phi} + 1$ completes the proof. \Box

4.5 Gradient Estimate

In this section, we derive a local gradient estimate for the height function. Consider the cut-off function ψ_{γ} with moving height to get a local gradient estimate:

$$\psi_{\gamma} := \left(M - \gamma t - u(p, t) \right)_{+},$$

where we take $\gamma < \frac{M}{T}$ for a fixed T. Then one can obtain the evolution equation of ψ_{γ} and recall that of v from Lemma 4.3.1:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi_{\gamma} = \Delta\psi_{\gamma} - \gamma - \beta_{\delta}v^{-1} \tag{4.5.1}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}v = \Delta v - 2v^{-1}|\nabla v|^2 - v|A|^2 + v^2 \langle \nabla \beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \rangle$$
(4.5.2)

which gives the following local gradient estimate.

Lemma 4.5.1. Let Σ_0 be an initial hypersurface and Φ be an obstacle. Assume that Σ_t is a complete strictly mean convex smooth graph solution of (4.2.4) defined on $M^n \times [0,T]$, for some T > 0. Suppose also that $\gamma = C_0 + 1$ where C_0 is the constant in Lemma 3.4.1. Then one has

$$v(x,t)\,\psi_{\gamma}(x,t) \le M \max\left\{\sup_{Q_{M}^{\delta}} |\langle -\vec{\nu}_{\Phi}, \mathbf{e}\rangle|^{-1}, \sup_{Q_{M}} v(\cdot,0)\right\}$$
(4.5.3)

where $Q_M = \{x \in M^n : u(x,0) < M\}$ and $Q_M^{\delta} = \{x \in M^n : \psi(x) < M + \delta\}.$

Proof. One can find the evolution equation of $Z := \psi_{\gamma} v$ from (4.5.1) and

(4.5.2):

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}Z = \psi_{\gamma}\frac{\partial}{\partial t}v + v\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\psi_{\gamma}$$

$$= \psi_{\gamma}\left[\Delta v - 2v^{-1}|\nabla v|^{2} - v|A|^{2} + v^{2}\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e}\rangle\right]$$

$$+ v\left[\Delta\psi_{\gamma} - \gamma - \beta_{\delta}v^{-1}\right]$$

$$= \Delta Z - 2v^{-1}\langle\nabla Z, \nabla v\rangle - Z|A|^{2} - \gamma v$$

$$+ vZ\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e}\rangle - \beta_{\delta}.$$
(4.5.4)

Moreover, the terms involving penalization become

$$vZ\beta_{\delta}'(\varphi-u)\left[\nabla\psi\cdot\nabla u-|\nabla u|^{2}\right]-\beta_{\delta}(\varphi-u).$$
(4.5.5)

Note that the support of ψ_{γ} is compactly supported, which makes Z achieves its maximum on $M^n \times [0,T]$ at some point (x_0, t_0) . If we assume $|\nabla u|^2 \leq \nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla u$ at this point, then we obtain $|\nabla u| \leq |\nabla \psi|$ by Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, which is equivalent to $v \leq |\langle -\vec{\nu}_{\Phi}, \mathbf{e} \rangle|^{-1}$ at the same point. Then we have

$$Z(x_0, t_0) \le M \sup_{Q_{M+\delta}} |\langle -\vec{\nu}_{\Phi}, \mathbf{e} \rangle|^{-1}.$$
(4.5.6)

provided we make the additional assumption $\varphi(x_0) - u(x_0, t_0) \leq \delta$. We now assume $|\nabla u|^2 > \nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla u$ or $\varphi - u > \delta$ at (x_0, t_0) so that $vZ\beta'_{\delta}(\varphi - u) [\nabla \varphi \cdot \nabla u - |\nabla u|^2] \leq 0$. Also from the uniform boundedness of β_{δ} , the remaining term in (4.5.5) is bounded by C_0 , and hence (4.5.5) is bounded by the same constant. If $t_0 > 0$, then from (4.5.4) we have

$$0 \le -Z|A|^2 - \gamma v + C_0, \tag{4.5.7}$$

which is a contradiction since $\gamma = C_0 + 1$. On the other hand, in the case of

 $t_0 = 0$, we obtain

$$Z \le M \sup_{Q_M} v(\cdot, 0). \tag{4.5.8}$$

This completes the proof.

4.6 Speed estimates

We start with the following computations

Lemma 4.6.1. Let u be a solution of (4.2.4). Then

$$\Delta u = \langle \Delta X, \mathbf{e} \rangle = \langle -H\nu, \mathbf{e} \rangle = Hv^{-1}, \qquad (4.6.1)$$

$$\Delta \psi = D_{ij} \psi \nabla_k X^i \nabla^k X^j + D_i \psi \Delta X^i \tag{4.6.2}$$

$$= D_{ij}\psi\nabla_k X^i\nabla^k X^j - D_i\psi(H\nu^i), \qquad (4.6.3)$$

$$\langle \nabla(\psi - u), \mathbf{e} \rangle = \nabla_i(\psi - u) \langle \nabla^i X, \mathbf{e} \rangle = \langle \nabla \psi, \nabla u \rangle - \|\nabla u\|^2.$$
 (4.6.4)

Now we are ready to prove speed estimates

Lemma 4.6.2. Assume that Σ_0 is a initial hypersurface and Φ is an obstacle. Let Σ_t be a complete strictly mean convex smooth graph solution of (4.2.4) on $\mathcal{M}^n \times [0, T)$. Then

$$\left(\frac{t}{t+1}\right)(H^2\psi_{\gamma}^4)(x,t) \le c(n)M^2\theta(M^2 + \theta + \mu_{\max}^2)$$
(4.6.5)

where c(n) denotes a dimensional constant and the constant θ is given by

$$\theta = \sup\{\max(v^2(x,s), 1 + D\varphi \cdot Du) : u(x,s) < M, s \in [0,t]\}.$$
 (4.6.6)

Proof. We start with the evolution equation of H^2 which follows from (vi)

in Lemma 4.3.1:

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)H^2 = 2H(|A|^2H + \Delta\beta_{\delta} + |A|^2\beta_{\delta}) - 2 \|\nabla H\|^2$$

= $-\frac{1}{2}H^{-2} \|\nabla H^2\|^2 + 2|A|^2H^2 + 2H\Delta\beta_{\delta} + 2|A|^2H\beta_{\delta}.$ (4.6.7)

Since the sign of the reaction term, $2|A|^2H^2$, in this equation is not good for the maximum principle, we employ the auxiliary function

$$\varphi(v^2) = \frac{v^2}{2\theta - v^2}$$
(4.6.8)

following the well-known idea by Caffarelli, Nirenberg, and Spruck in [?]. To obtain the evolution equation of φ we recall (*iv*) in Lemma 4.3.1 so that

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(v^2) &= 2v(-2v^{-1} \|\nabla v\|^2 - v|A|^2 + v^2 \langle \nabla \beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \rangle) - 2 \|\nabla v\|^2 \\ &= -2v^2 |A|^2 - \frac{3}{2}v^{-2} \|\nabla v^2\|^2 + 2v^3 \langle \nabla \beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \rangle \end{aligned}$$

and hence, we have

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)\varphi = \varphi'(\partial_t - \Delta)v^2 - \varphi'' \|\nabla v^2\|^2$$

= $\varphi' \left(-2v^2|A|^2 - \frac{3}{2}v^{-2} \|\nabla v^2\|^2 + 2v^3 \langle \nabla \beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \rangle \right) - \varphi'' \|\nabla v^2\|^2$
= $-2\varphi'v^2|A|^2 - \left(\frac{3}{2}\varphi'v^{-2} + \varphi''\right) \|\nabla v^2\|^2 + 2\varphi'v^3 \langle \nabla \beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \rangle.$

This, together with (4.6.7), gives

$$\begin{split} (\partial_t - \Delta)(H^2\varphi) &= \varphi(\partial_t - \Delta)H^2 + H^2(\partial_t - \Delta)\varphi - 2\left\langle \nabla H^2, \nabla\varphi \right\rangle \\ &= \varphi\left(-\frac{1}{2}H^{-2}\left\|\nabla H^2\right\|^2 + 2|A|^2H^2 + 2H\Delta\beta_\delta + 2|A|^2H\beta_\delta\right) \\ &+ H^2\left(-2\varphi'v^2|A|^2 - \left(\frac{3}{2}\varphi'v^{-2} + \varphi''\right)\left\|\nabla v^2\right\|^2 + 2\varphi'v^3\left\langle\nabla\beta_\delta, \mathbf{e}\right\rangle\right) \\ &- \left\langle\nabla H^2, \nabla\varphi\right\rangle - \frac{1}{\varphi}\left\langle\nabla(H^2\varphi), \nabla\varphi\right\rangle + \frac{H^2}{\varphi}\left\|\nabla\varphi\right\|^2. \end{split}$$

Observe that for the first term in the last line

$$-\left\langle \nabla H^{2}, \nabla \varphi \right\rangle \leq \frac{1}{2}\varphi H^{-2} \left\| \nabla H^{2} \right\|^{2} + \frac{H^{2}}{2\varphi} \left\| \nabla \varphi \right\|^{2}$$

and for the last term in the last line $\|\nabla \varphi\|^2 = (\varphi')^2 \|\nabla v^2\|^2$. Using this we arrive at the following inequality:

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)(H^2\varphi) \leq -\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla(H^2\varphi), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle + 2(\varphi - \varphi'v^2)|A|^2 H^2 - H^2 \left(\frac{3}{2}\varphi'v^{-2} + \varphi'' - \frac{3(\varphi')^2}{2\varphi}\right) \left\|\nabla v^2\right\|^2 + 2\varphi H \Delta\beta_{\delta} + 2\varphi'v^3 H^2 \left\langle \nabla\beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle + 2\varphi |A|^2 H \beta_{\delta}.$$
(4.6.9)

From direct computations, we have

$$\varphi'(v^2) = \frac{2\theta}{(2\theta - v^2)^2}, \quad \varphi''(v^2) = \frac{4\theta}{(2\theta - v^2)^3} = \frac{2}{2\theta - v^2}\varphi'(v^2) \tag{4.6.10}$$

so that

$$\varphi - \varphi' v^2 = \frac{v^2}{2\theta - v^2} - \frac{2\theta v^2}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} = \frac{-v^4}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} = -\varphi^2$$

and

$$\frac{3}{2}\varphi'v^{-2} + \varphi'' - \frac{3(\varphi')^2}{2\varphi} = \varphi'\left(\frac{3}{2v^2} + \frac{2}{2\theta - v^2} - \frac{6\theta}{2v^2(2\theta - v^2)}\right) = \frac{\theta}{(2\theta - v^2)^3}.$$

Using this, the inequality (4.6.9) becomes

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)(H^2\varphi) \le -\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla(H^2\varphi), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle - \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{B}$$
(4.6.11)

where

$$\mathcal{A} = 2\varphi^2 |A|^2 H^2 + \frac{\theta}{(2\theta - v^2)^3} \left\| \nabla v^2 \right\|^2 H^2,$$
(4.6.12)

$$\mathcal{B} = 2\varphi H \Delta \beta_{\delta} + 2\varphi' v^3 H^2 \left\langle \nabla \beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle + 2\varphi |A|^2 H \beta_{\delta}. \tag{4.6.13}$$

Note that \mathcal{A} and \mathcal{B} denote reaction terms and penalty terms, respectively.

Now we proceed to the localized quantities. Recall $\psi_{\gamma} = (M - u - \gamma t)_{+}$ and its evolution equation (4.5.1) so that on the support of ψ_{γ} ,

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)\psi_{\gamma}^4 = 4\psi_{\gamma}^3(-\gamma - \beta_{\delta}v^{-1}) - 12\psi_{\gamma}^2 \|\nabla u\|^2.$$

As in the above, this and (4.6.11) gives

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4) &= \psi_{\gamma}^4 (\partial_t - \Delta)(H^2 \varphi) + H^2 \varphi (\partial_t - \Delta) \psi_{\gamma}^4 - 2 \left\langle \nabla (H^2 \varphi), \nabla \psi_{\gamma}^4 \right\rangle \\ &= \psi_{\gamma}^4 \left(-\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla (H^2 \varphi), \nabla \varphi \right\rangle - \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{B} \right) \\ &+ H^2 \varphi \left(4 \psi_{\gamma}^3 (-\gamma - \beta_\delta v^{-1}) - 12 \psi_{\gamma}^2 \| \nabla u \|^2 \right) \\ &- 2 \psi_{\gamma}^{-4} \left\langle \nabla (H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4), \nabla \psi_{\gamma}^4 \right\rangle + 2 \psi_{\gamma}^{-4} H^2 \varphi \left\| \nabla \psi_{\gamma}^4 \right\|^2. \end{aligned}$$

Observe from $\nabla \varphi = \varphi' \nabla v^2$ and (4.6.10) that

$$\begin{split} -\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla(H^2 \varphi), \nabla \varphi \right\rangle &= -\frac{1}{\varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4} \left\langle \nabla(H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4), \nabla \varphi \right\rangle + \frac{H^2 \varphi'}{\psi_{\gamma}^4} \left\langle \nabla \psi_{\gamma}^4, \nabla v^2 \right\rangle \\ &\leq -\frac{1}{\varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4} \left\langle \nabla(H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4), \nabla \varphi \right\rangle + H^2 \theta \left(\frac{\left\| \nabla v^2 \right\|^2}{(2\theta - v^2)^3} + \frac{\left\| \nabla \psi_{\gamma}^4 \right\|^2}{\psi_{\gamma}^8 (2\theta - v^2)} \right), \end{split}$$

and notice that $\left\|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\right\|^{2} = 16\psi_{\gamma}^{6}\left\|\nabla u\right\|^{2}$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4) &= -\left\langle \nabla (H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4), \frac{2 \nabla \psi_{\gamma}^4}{\psi_{\gamma}^4} + \frac{\nabla \varphi}{\varphi} \right\rangle \\ &- 2 \varphi^2 \psi_{\gamma}^4 |A|^2 H^2 - 4 \psi_{\gamma}^3 \gamma H^2 \varphi + \frac{4 H^2 \psi_{\gamma}^2 \left\| \nabla u \right\|^2 (4\theta + 5v^2)}{2\theta - v^2} \\ &+ \psi_{\gamma}^4 \mathcal{B} - 4 \psi_{\gamma}^3 v^{-1} H^2 \varphi \beta_{\delta}. \end{aligned}$$

Setting $\eta := t(t+1)^{-1}$ and $g := H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4 \eta$, we arrive at

$$(\partial_{t} - \Delta)g \leq g - \left\langle \nabla g, \frac{2\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{4}}{\psi_{\gamma}^{4}} + \frac{\nabla\varphi}{\varphi} \right\rangle$$
$$- 2\eta\varphi^{2}\psi_{\gamma}^{4}|A|^{2}H^{2} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\gamma H^{2}\varphi + \eta \frac{4H^{2}\psi_{\gamma}^{2} \left\|\nabla u\right\|^{2} (4\theta + 5v^{2})}{2\theta - v^{2}}$$
$$+ \eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\mathcal{B} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}H^{2}\varphi\beta_{\delta}$$
(4.6.14)

since $\partial_t \eta = (1+t)^{-2} \leq 1$. Now notice that g has a compact support and thus we can take a maximum point (x_0, t_0) of g with $t_0 > 0$. At this point, the inequality (4.6.14) becomes

$$0 \leq g - 2\eta\varphi^{2}\psi_{\gamma}^{4}|A|^{2}H^{2} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\gamma H^{2}\varphi + \eta \frac{4H^{2}\psi_{\gamma}^{2} \|\nabla u\|^{2} (4\theta + 5v^{2})}{2\theta - v^{2}} + \eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\mathcal{B} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}H^{2}\varphi\beta_{\delta}.$$
(4.6.15)

From now on, every quantity will be considered as the value evaluated at (x_0, t_0) .

To proceed further, we define

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = g - 2\eta\varphi^{2}\psi_{\gamma}^{4}|A|^{2}H^{2} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\gamma H^{2}\varphi + \eta \frac{4H^{2}\psi_{\gamma}^{2} \|\nabla u\|^{2} (4\theta + 5v^{2})}{2\theta - v^{2}},$$
(4.6.16)

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}} = \eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\mathcal{B} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}H^{2}\varphi\beta_{\delta}.$$
(4.6.17)

Since $n|A|^2 \ge H^2$, $1 \le v^2 \le \theta$, and $g = H^2 \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4 \eta$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \tilde{\mathcal{A}} &= g - \frac{2}{n\eta\psi_{\gamma}^4}g^2 - \frac{4\gamma}{\psi_{\gamma}}g + \frac{4(4\theta + 5v^2) \left\|\nabla u\right\|^2}{v^2\psi_{\gamma}^2}g \\ &\leq \frac{2g}{n\eta\psi_{\gamma}^4} \left(\frac{c(n)\eta}{2}(\psi_{\gamma}^4 + \psi_{\gamma}^2\theta \left\|\nabla u\right\|^2) - g\right), \end{split}$$

where c(n) denotes a dimensional constant. Furthermore, using the facts that

 $\psi_{\gamma} \leq M, \ \eta \leq 1, \ \text{and} \ \|\nabla u\|^2 = 1 - v^{-2} \leq 1, \ \text{the last inequality yields}$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} \leq \frac{2g}{n\eta\psi_{\gamma}^4} \left(\frac{c(n)}{2}(M^4 + M^2\theta) - g\right),\,$$

which implies $\tilde{\mathcal{A}} < 0$ unless $g(x_0, t_0) \leq c(n)(M^4 + M^2\theta)$.

Now we estimate terms including penalty effects. First of all, we may rewrite (4.6.17), substituting (4.6.13), as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}} = 2\eta \psi_{\gamma}^{4} \varphi H \Delta \beta_{\delta} + 2\eta \psi_{\gamma}^{4} \varphi' v^{3} H^{2} \left\langle \nabla \beta_{\delta}, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle + 2\eta \psi_{\gamma}^{3} \varphi H \left(\psi_{\gamma} |A|^{2} - 2v^{-1} H \right) \beta_{\delta}.$$

To estimate the lowest order term, we see that

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\gamma}|A|^{2} - 2v^{-1}H &\geq \frac{1}{n}\psi_{\gamma}H^{2} - 2v^{-1}H \\ &= \frac{g}{n\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\varphi\eta} - \frac{2\sqrt{g}}{v\sqrt{\varphi\eta}\psi_{\gamma}^{2}} \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{g}}{n\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\varphi\eta}\left(\sqrt{g} - \frac{2n\psi_{\gamma}\sqrt{\varphi\eta}}{v}\right). \end{split}$$

Using the inequalities $v \ge 1$, $\psi_{\gamma} \le M$, $\varphi \le 1$, and $\eta \le 1$ again, the following holds: if $g(x_0, t_0) \ge 4n^2 M^2$, then $\psi_{\gamma} |A|^2 - 2v^{-1}H \ge 0$. This, together with the fact $\beta_{\delta} \le 0$, leads us to that

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\varphi H\left(\psi_{\gamma}|A|^{2}-2v^{-1}H\right)\beta_{\delta}\leq0$$

unless $g(x_0, t_0) \leq 4n^2 M^2$. To estimate the highest order term, we notice that

$$\Delta \beta_{\delta} = g^{ij} \nabla_i \nabla_j \beta_{\delta} = g^{ij} \nabla_i (\beta'_{\delta} \nabla_j (\varphi - u))$$
$$= \beta''_{\delta} \| \nabla (\varphi - u) \|^2 + \beta'_{\delta} \Delta (\varphi - u).$$

Since $\beta_{\delta}'' \leq 0$, we have

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi H\Delta\beta_{\delta} \leq 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi H\beta_{\delta}^{\prime}\Delta(\varphi-u).$$
(4.6.18)

On the other hand, the remaining term is

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}H^{2}\left\langle \nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\right\rangle = 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}H^{2}\beta_{\delta}'\left\langle \nabla(\varphi-u),\mathbf{e}\right\rangle \tag{4.6.19}$$

Adding (4.6.18) and (4.6.19) gives that

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi H\Delta\beta_{\delta} + 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}H^{2}\left\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\right\rangle \tag{4.6.20}$$

$$\leq 2\eta \psi_{\gamma}^{4} H(\varphi \Delta(\varphi - u) + \varphi' v^{3} H \langle \nabla(\varphi - u), \mathbf{e} \rangle) \beta_{\delta}'. \quad (4.6.21)$$

By Lemma 4.6.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi \Delta(\varphi - u) + \varphi' v^3 H \left\langle \nabla(\varphi - u), \mathbf{e} \right\rangle \\ &= \varphi \left((\delta^{ij} - \nu^i \nu^j) D_{ij} \psi - H v^{-1} D_i \psi D_i u - H v^{-1} \right) \\ &+ \varphi' v H (D \psi \cdot D u - |D u|^2) \\ &\leq \varphi (n-1) \mu_{\max} - \frac{(2\theta - 1) H v^3}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} + \frac{(D \psi \cdot D u) H v^3}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} \\ &= \varphi (n-1) \mu_{\max} - \frac{(2\theta - 1 - D \psi \cdot D u) H v^3}{(2\theta - v^2)^2}. \end{split}$$

From the definition of θ , we see that $\theta \ge 1 + D\psi \cdot Du$. Using this, we deduce

$$\varphi\Delta(\varphi-u) + \varphi'v^{3}H \left\langle \nabla(\varphi-u), \mathbf{e} \right\rangle \le \varphi\left((n-1)\mu_{\max} - \frac{\theta Hv}{2\theta - v^{2}}\right). \quad (4.6.22)$$

If $(n-1)\mu_{\max} \le \frac{\theta H v}{2\theta - v^2}$, by (4.6.20) and (4.6.22), we have

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi H\Delta\beta_{\delta} + 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}H^{2}\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\rangle \leq 0.$$

Otherwise, $H \leq (2\theta - v^2)(n-1)\mu_{\max}(\theta v)^{-1} \leq (n-1)\mu_{\max}$ so that

$$g(x_0, t_0) \le c(n) M^4 \mu_{\max}^2.$$

Now we can claim that

$$g(x_0, t_0) \le c(n)M^2(M^2 + \theta + \mu_{\max}^2).$$
 (4.6.23)

In fact, if (4.6.23) does not hold, we already observed that $\mathcal{A} < 0$ and $\mathcal{B} \leq 0$, which contradicts to (4.6.15). Finally, we conclude, by noting $\varphi \geq (2\theta)^{-1}$, that

$$(H^2\psi_{\gamma}^4\eta)(x_0,t_0) \le c(n)M^2\theta(M^2+\theta+\mu_{\max}^2).$$

This completes the proof.

4.7 Estimate for maximum eigenvalue

The purpose of this section is to establish the estimate for the maximum eigenvalue.

Lemma 4.7.1. Let Σ_t be a complete strictly mean convex smooth graph solution of (4.2.4) on $\mathcal{M}^n \times [0,T]$. Then

$$\left(\frac{t}{t+1}\right)(\lambda_{\max}^2\psi_{\gamma}^4)(x,t) \le c(n)M^2\theta(M^2+\theta+\mu_{\max}^2)$$
(4.7.1)

where c(n) denotes a dimensional constant and the constant θ is given by

$$\theta = \sup\{\max(v^2(x,s), 1 + D\psi \cdot Du) : u(x,s) < M, s \in [0,t]\}.$$
 (4.7.2)

Proof. We shall consider a quantity

$$g_0 = \eta(t)\lambda_{\max}^2\varphi(v^2)\psi_{\gamma}^4$$

where $\eta(t) = \frac{t}{t+1}$, $\varphi(v^2) = \frac{v^2}{2\theta - v^2}$, and $\psi_{\gamma} = (M - \gamma t - u)_+$. Observe that g_0 is compactly supported since ψ_{γ} has a compact support. Thus we can take a maximum point (x_0, t_0) of g_0 over $M^n \times [0, T]$. If $t_0 = 0$, we have the desired

result. Thus we may assume $t_0 > 0$.

Now we define a function

$$g = \eta(t) \left(\frac{h_{1i}g^{ij}h_{j1}}{g_{11}}\right)\varphi(v^2)\psi_{\gamma}^4$$

in the coordinate chart near x_0 . We may choose a normal coordinate so that

$$g_{ij} = \delta_{ij}, \quad h_{ij} = \lambda_i \delta_{ij}, \quad \lambda_1 = \lambda_{\max}$$

at the point (x_0, t_0) . From the Euler's formula (see Proposition 3.1 in [17]), we see that

$$g \le g_0, \quad g(x_0, t_0) = g_0(x_0, t_0)$$

Thus g also have a maximum at (x_0, t_0) .

Next, observe that $\partial_t g^{ij} = 2(H + \beta_{\delta})h^{ij}$ and $\nabla g = 0$. We consider the evolution equation of $h_{1i}g^{ij}h_{j1}/g_{11}$ which follows from (v) in Lemma 4.3.1:

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(h_{1i}g^{ij}h_{j1}) &= 2h_{1i}g^{ij}(\partial_t - \Delta)h_{j1} + h_{1i}h_{j1}(2(H + \beta_{\delta})h^{ij}) \\ &- 2g^{ij}g^{kl}\nabla_k h_{1i}\nabla_l h_{j1}, \\ (\partial_t - \Delta)\left(\frac{h_{1i}g^{ij}h_{j1}}{g^{11}}\right) &= \frac{2}{g^{11}}h_{1i}g^{ij}(\partial_t - \Delta)h_{j1} + \frac{2(h^3)_{11}}{g^{11}}(H + \beta_{\delta}) \\ &- \frac{2g^{ij}g^{kl}}{g^{11}}\nabla_k h_{1i}\nabla_l h_{j1} - \frac{2(H + \beta_{\delta})(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &= \frac{2}{g^{11}}h_{1i}g^{ij}(-2H(h^2)_{j1} + |A|^2h_{j1} + \nabla_j\nabla_1\beta_{\delta} - (h^2)_{j1}\beta_{\delta}) \\ &+ \frac{2}{g^{11}}(h^3)_{11}(H + \beta_{\delta}) - \frac{2}{g^{11}}g^{ij}g^{kl}\nabla_k h_{1i}\nabla_l h_{j1} \\ &- \frac{2(H + \beta_{\delta})(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &= \frac{-2H(h^3)_{11}}{g^{11}} + \frac{2|A|^2(h^2)_{11}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2H(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &- \frac{2}{g^{11}}g^{ij}g^{kl}\nabla_k h_{1i}\nabla_l h_{j1} + \frac{2h_{1i}g^{ij}\nabla_j\nabla_1\beta_{\delta}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2\beta_{\delta}(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Since the evolution equation of $\varphi(v^2)$ is given by

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)\varphi = -2\varphi' v^2 |A|^2 - \left(\frac{3}{2}\varphi' v^{-2} + \varphi''\right) \left\|\nabla v^2\right\|^2 + 2\varphi' v^3 \left\langle\nabla\beta_\delta, \mathbf{e}\right\rangle.$$

Thus it follows that

$$\begin{split} (\partial_t - \Delta)(Q\varphi) &= \varphi(\partial_t - \Delta)Q + Q(\partial_t - \Delta)\varphi - 2\,\langle \nabla Q, \nabla \varphi \rangle \\ &= \varphi \bigg(\frac{-2H(h^3)_{11}}{g^{11}} + \frac{2|A|^2(h^2)_{11}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2H(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &- \frac{2}{g^{11}}g^{ij}g^{kl}\nabla_k h_{1i}\nabla_l h_{j1} + \frac{2h_{1i}g^{ij}\nabla_j\nabla_1\beta_\delta}{g^{11}} - \frac{2\beta_\delta(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \bigg) \\ &+ Q\left(-2\varphi'v^2|A|^2 - \left(\frac{3}{2}\varphi'v^{-2} + \varphi''\right) \left\|\nabla v^2\right\|^2 + 2\varphi'v^3\,\langle \nabla \beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \rangle \right) \\ &- \langle \nabla Q, \nabla \varphi \rangle - \frac{1}{\varphi}\,\langle \nabla (Q\varphi), \nabla \varphi \rangle + \frac{Q}{\varphi}\,\|\nabla \varphi\|^2 \,. \end{split}$$

Observe that for the first term in the last line

$$-\left\langle \nabla Q, \nabla \varphi \right\rangle \leq \frac{\varphi}{2Q} \left\| \nabla Q \right\|^2 + \frac{Q}{2\varphi} \left\| \nabla \varphi \right\|^2$$

and for the last term in the last line $\|\nabla \varphi\|^2 = (\varphi')^2 \|\nabla v^2\|^2$. Using this, we arrive at the following inequality:

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(Q\varphi) &\leq -\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle - \frac{2\varphi}{g^{11}} g^{ij} g^{kl} \nabla_k h_{1i} \nabla_l h_{j1} + \frac{\varphi}{2Q} \|\nabla Q\|^2 \\ &+ 2(\varphi - \varphi' v^2) |A|^2 Q - \frac{2\varphi H(h^3)_{11}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2\varphi H(h^2)_{11} h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &- Q \left(\frac{3}{2} \varphi' v^{-2} + \varphi'' - \frac{3(\varphi')^2}{2\varphi}\right) \|\nabla v^2\|^2 \\ &+ 2\varphi \frac{h_{1i} g^{ij}}{g^{11}} \nabla_j \nabla_1 \beta_\delta + 2\varphi' v^3 Q \left\langle \nabla\beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle - 2\varphi \frac{(h^2)_{11} h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \beta_\delta. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.7.3)$$
From direct computations, we have

$$\varphi - \varphi' v^2 = \frac{v^2}{2\theta - v^2} - \frac{2\theta v^2}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} = \frac{-v^4}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} = -\varphi^2$$

and

$$\frac{3}{2}\varphi'v^{-2} + \varphi'' - \frac{3(\varphi')^2}{2\varphi} = \varphi'\left(\frac{3}{2v^2} + \frac{2}{2\theta - v^2} - \frac{6\theta}{2v^2(2\theta - v^2)}\right) = \frac{\theta}{(2\theta - v^2)^3}.$$

Using this, the inequality (4.7.3) becomes

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)(Q\varphi) \le -\frac{1}{\varphi} \langle \nabla(Q\varphi), \nabla\varphi \rangle + \mathcal{A}_1 + \mathcal{A}_2 + \mathcal{B}$$
(4.7.4)

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{1} = -\frac{2\varphi}{g^{11}}g^{ij}g^{kl}\nabla_{k}h_{1i}\nabla_{l}h_{j1} + \frac{\varphi}{2Q} \|\nabla Q\|^{2}$$

$$\mathcal{A}_{2} = -2\varphi^{2}|A|^{2}Q - \frac{\theta}{(2\theta - v^{2})^{3}} \|\nabla v^{2}\|^{2}Q - \frac{2\varphi H(h^{3})_{11}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2\varphi H(h^{2})_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^{2}},$$

$$(4.7.6)$$

$$\mathcal{B} = 2\varphi \frac{h_{1i}g^{ij}}{g^{11}} \nabla_j \nabla_1 \beta_\delta + 2\varphi' v^3 Q \left\langle \nabla \beta_\delta, \mathbf{e} \right\rangle - 2\varphi \frac{(h^2)_{11} h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \beta_\delta.$$
(4.7.7)

Now we proceed to the localized quantities. Recall $\psi_{\gamma} = (M - u - \gamma t)_{+}$ and its evolution equation (4.5.1) so that on the support of ψ_{γ} ,

$$(\partial_t - \Delta)\psi_{\gamma}^4 = 4\psi_{\gamma}^3(-\gamma - \beta_{\delta}v^{-1}) - 12\psi_{\gamma}^2 \|\nabla u\|^2.$$

As in the above, this and (4.7.4) gives

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^4) &= \psi_{\gamma}^4(\partial_t - \Delta)(Q\varphi) + Q\varphi(\partial_t - \Delta)\psi_{\gamma}^4 - 2\left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi), \nabla\psi_{\gamma}^4 \right\rangle \\ &= \psi_{\gamma}^4 \left(-\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle + \mathcal{A}_1 + \mathcal{A}_2 + \mathcal{B} \right) \\ &+ Q\varphi \left(4\psi_{\gamma}^3(-\gamma - \beta_\delta v^{-1}) - 12\psi_{\gamma}^2 \|\nabla u\|^2 \right) \\ &- 2\psi_{\gamma}^{-4} \left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^4), \nabla\psi_{\gamma}^4 \right\rangle + 2\psi_{\gamma}^{-4}Q\varphi \|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^4\|^2. \end{aligned}$$

Observe from $\nabla \varphi = \varphi' \nabla v^2$ and (4.6.10) that

$$\begin{split} -\frac{1}{\varphi} \left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle &= -\frac{1}{\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^{4}} \left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^{4}), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle + \frac{Q\varphi'}{\psi_{\gamma}^{4}} \left\langle \nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{4}, \nabla v^{2} \right\rangle \\ &\leq -\frac{1}{\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^{4}} \left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^{4}), \nabla\varphi \right\rangle + Q\theta \left(\frac{\left\|\nabla v^{2}\right\|^{2}}{(2\theta - v^{2})^{3}} + \frac{\left\|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\right\|^{2}}{\psi_{\gamma}^{8}(2\theta - v^{2})} \right), \end{split}$$

and notice that $\left\|\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\right\|^{2} = 16\psi_{\gamma}^{6}\left\|\nabla u\right\|^{2}$. Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)(Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^4) &= -\left\langle \nabla(Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^4), \frac{2\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^4}{\psi_{\gamma}^4} + \frac{\nabla\varphi}{\varphi} \right\rangle + \psi_{\gamma}^4 \mathcal{A}_1 \\ &- 2\varphi^2\psi_{\gamma}^4|A|^2Q - 4\psi_{\gamma}^3\gamma Q\varphi + \frac{4Q\psi_{\gamma}^2 \left\|\nabla u\right\|^2 (4\theta + 5v^2)}{2\theta - v^2} \\ &- \frac{2\psi_{\gamma}^4\varphi H(h^3)_{11}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2\psi_{\gamma}^4\varphi H(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &+ \psi_{\gamma}^4\mathcal{B} - 4\psi_{\gamma}^3v^{-1}Q\varphi\beta_\delta. \end{aligned}$$

With $\eta = t(t+1)^{-1}$ and $g = \eta Q \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4$, we arrive at

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial_t - \Delta)g &\leq Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^4 - \left\langle \nabla g, \frac{2\nabla\psi_{\gamma}^4}{\psi_{\gamma}^4} + \frac{\nabla\varphi}{\varphi} \right\rangle + \eta\psi_{\gamma}^4 \mathcal{A}_1 \\ &- 2\eta\varphi^2\psi_{\gamma}^4 |A|^2 Q - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^3 \gamma Q\varphi + \frac{4\eta Q\psi_{\gamma}^2 \left\| \nabla u \right\|^2 (4\theta + 5v^2)}{2\theta - v^2} \\ &- \frac{2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^4 \varphi H(h^3)_{11}}{g^{11}} - \frac{2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^4 \varphi H(h^2)_{11}h^{11}}{(g^{11})^2} \\ &+ \eta\psi_{\gamma}^4 \mathcal{B} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^3 v^{-1} Q\varphi\beta_\delta \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.7.8)$$

from $\partial_t \eta = (1+t)^{-2} \leq 1$. At the point (x_0, t_0) , the inequality (4.7.8) becomes

$$0 \leq Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^{4} - 2\varphi|A|^{2}g - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\gamma Q\varphi + \eta \frac{4Q\psi_{\gamma}^{2} \|\nabla u\|^{2} (4\theta + 5v^{2})}{2\theta - v^{2}} - 4gH\lambda_{1} + \eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\mathcal{B} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}Q\varphi\beta_{\delta}.$$

$$(4.7.9)$$

since we see

$$\mathcal{A}_1 = -2\varphi \nabla_k h_{1i}^2 + 2\varphi \nabla_k h_{11}^2 \le 0.$$

From now on, every quantity will be considered as the value evaluated at (x_0, t_0) .

To proceed further, we define

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} = Q\varphi\psi_{\gamma}^{4} - 2\varphi|A|^{2}g - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}\gamma Q\varphi + \eta \frac{4Q\psi_{\gamma}^{2} \|\nabla u\|^{2} (4\theta + 5v^{2})}{2\theta - v^{2}} - 4gH\lambda_{1},$$

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}} = \eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\mathcal{B} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}Q\varphi\beta_{\delta}.$$

Since $|A|^2 \ge Q, \, 1 \le v^2 \le \theta$, and $g = Q \varphi \psi_{\gamma}^4 \eta$, we obtain

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} \le \frac{c(n)g}{\eta\psi_{\gamma}^4} \left(\psi_{\gamma}^4 + \psi_{\gamma}^2\theta - g\right)$$

where c(n) denotes a dimensional constant. Furthermore, using the facts that $\psi_{\gamma} \leq M, \ \eta \leq 1$, and $\|\nabla u\|^2 = 1 - v^{-2} \leq 1$, the last inequality yields

$$\tilde{\mathcal{A}} \leq \frac{g}{\eta \psi_{\gamma}^4} \left(\frac{c(n)}{2} (M^4 + M^2 \theta) - g \right).$$

Now we estimate terms including penalty effects. First of all, we may rewrite $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$, substituting (4.7.7), as

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}} = 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}\nabla_{1}\nabla_{1}\beta_{\delta} + 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}Q\left\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\right\rangle - 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}^{3}\beta_{\delta} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}Q\varphi\beta_{\delta}.$$

To estimate the lowest order term, we see that

$$-2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}^{3}\beta_{\delta} - 4\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{3}v^{-1}Q\varphi\beta_{\delta} \leq \frac{C_{0}g}{\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}}(g^{1/2}+1)$$

To estimate the highest order term, we notice that

$$\nabla_1 \nabla_1 \beta_\delta = \nabla_1 (\beta'_\delta \nabla_1 (\psi - u))$$
$$= \beta''_\delta \| \nabla_1 (\psi - u) \|^2 + \beta'_\delta \nabla_1 \nabla_1 (\psi - u).$$

Since $\beta_{\delta}'' \leq 0$, we have

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}\nabla_{1}\nabla_{1}\beta_{\delta} \leq 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}\beta_{\delta}^{\prime}\nabla_{1}\nabla_{1}(\psi-u).$$

$$(4.7.10)$$

On the other hand, the remaining term is

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}Q\left\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\right\rangle = 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}Q\beta_{\delta}'\left\langle\nabla(\psi-u),\mathbf{e}\right\rangle \tag{4.7.11}$$

Adding (4.7.10) and (4.7.11) gives that

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}\nabla_{1}\nabla_{1}\beta_{\delta} + 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}Q\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\rangle \leq 2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\lambda_{1}(\varphi\nabla_{1}\nabla_{1}(\psi-u) \quad (4.7.12)$$
$$+\varphi'v^{3}\lambda_{1}\langle\nabla(\psi-u),\mathbf{e}\rangle)\beta_{\delta}'.$$
$$(4.7.13)$$

Thus we need to estimate

$$\varphi \nabla_1 \nabla_1 (\psi - u) + \varphi' v^3 \lambda_1 \langle \nabla (\psi - u), \mathbf{e} \rangle.$$

For the first term, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi \nabla_1 \nabla_1 (\psi - u) &= \varphi \nabla_1 \left(D \psi \nabla_1 (X - u \mathbf{e}) - \langle \nabla_1 X, \mathbf{e} \rangle \right) \\ &= \varphi (D^2 \psi \nabla_1 (X - u \mathbf{e}) \nabla_1 (X - u \mathbf{e}) + D \psi \nabla_1 \nabla_1 (X - u \mathbf{e}) \\ &- \langle \nabla_1 \nabla_1 X, \mathbf{e} \rangle) \\ &\leq \varphi \left(\mu_{\max} (1 - \langle \nabla_1 X, \mathbf{e} \rangle^2) - \lambda_1 D \psi (\nu - \langle \nu, \mathbf{e} \rangle \mathbf{e}) - \lambda_1 v^{-1} \right) \\ &\leq \varphi \left(\mu_{\max} - \lambda_1 D \psi D u v^{-1} - \lambda_1 v^{-1} \right) \end{split}$$

where μ_{\max} denotes the maximum eigenvalue of $D^2\psi$. To estimate second term, we express $\nabla_i X = a_{ij} E_j$ where $\{E_j\} \cup \{\nu\}$ is orthonormal basis in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} .

Also, we extend functions ψ and u to the functions whose space variable is defined on \mathbb{R}^{n+1} by defining $\psi(X) = \psi(X + b\mathbf{e})$ and $u(X) = u(X + b\mathbf{e})$ for $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we have

$$\begin{split} \langle \nabla(\psi - u), \mathbf{e} \rangle &= D_{\alpha}(\psi - u) \nabla_{i} X^{\alpha} g^{ij} \nabla_{j} X^{\beta} \mathbf{e}^{\beta} \\ &= D_{\alpha}(\psi - u) (a_{ik} E_{k})^{\alpha} a^{li} a^{lj} a_{jm} \langle E_{m}, \mathbf{e} \rangle \\ &= \langle D(\psi - u), E_{k} \rangle \langle E_{k}, \mathbf{e} \rangle \\ &= \langle D(\psi - u), \mathbf{e} \rangle - \langle D(\psi - u), \nu \rangle \langle \mathbf{e}, \nu \rangle \\ &= v^{-2} D(\psi - u) \cdot Du. \end{split}$$

Therefore, we have

$$\begin{split} \varphi \nabla_1 \nabla_1 (\psi - u) + \varphi' v^3 \lambda_1 \left\langle \nabla(\psi - u), \mathbf{e} \right\rangle \\ &= \varphi \left(\mu_{\max} - \lambda_1 D \psi D u v^{-1} - \lambda_1 v^{-1} \right) + \varphi' v \lambda_1 D(\psi - u) \cdot D u \\ &= \varphi \mu_{\max} + \frac{(D \psi \cdot D u) \lambda_1 v^3}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} - \frac{(2\theta - 1) \lambda_1 v^3}{(2\theta - v^2)^2} \\ &= \varphi \mu_{\max} - \frac{(2\theta - 1 - D \psi \cdot D u) \lambda_1 v^3}{(2\theta - v^2)^2}. \end{split}$$

From the definition of θ , we see that $\theta \ge 1 + D\psi \cdot Du$. Using this, we deduce

$$\varphi \nabla_1 \nabla_1 (\psi - u) + \varphi' v^3 \lambda_1 \left\langle \nabla(\psi - u), \mathbf{e} \right\rangle \le \varphi \left(\mu_{\max} - \frac{\theta \lambda_1 v^3}{2\theta - v^2} \right). \quad (4.7.14)$$

If $\mu_{\max} \leq \frac{\theta H v^3}{2\theta - v^2}$, by (4.7.12) and (4.7.14), we have

$$2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi\lambda_{1}\nabla_{1}\nabla_{1}\beta_{\delta}+2\eta\psi_{\gamma}^{4}\varphi'v^{3}Q\left\langle\nabla\beta_{\delta},\mathbf{e}\right\rangle\leq0.$$

Otherwise, $H \leq (2\theta - v^2)\mu_{\max}\theta^{-1}v^{-3} \leq \mu_{\max}$ so that

$$g(x_0, t_0) \le c(n) M^4 \mu_{\max}^2.$$

This completes the proof.

4.8 Proof of Theorem 4.1.1

In this section we finish the proof of Theorem 4.1.1. From Lemma 4.5.1, we can solve the following initial boundary value problem (see [65, 41]):

$$\frac{\partial u}{\partial t} = \sqrt{1 + |Du|^2} \operatorname{div} \left(\frac{Du}{\sqrt{1 + |Du|^2}} \right) + \beta_\delta(\varphi - u) \quad \text{in } B_R(0) \times [0, \infty),$$
$$u = L \qquad \qquad \text{on } \partial B_R(0) \times [0, \infty),$$
$$u(\cdot, 0) = \min\{u_0, L\} \qquad \qquad \text{in } B_R(0).$$
$$(4.8.1)$$

Let us denote the solution of (4.8.1) by u^L . By Lemma 4.7.1, we obtain uniform bounds for $||u^L||_{C^{0,1;0,1/2}}$ in $B_R(0) \times [0, \infty)$. Using the compactness lemma, Lemma 7.3 in [65], we can obtain a solution u of (4.2.4) such that u^L converge to u uniformly. Now the conclusion follows from the uniform $C^{1;1}$ estimates and the stability property of viscosity solutions.

Chapter 5

The obstacle problem for parabolic Monge-Ampère equation

5.1 Introduction

5.1.1 Backgrounds

The obstacle problem is an example of the free boundary problem, which arises in Stefan problem, option pricing of American option, fluid filtration in porous media, elasto-plasticity, optimal control, and financial mathematics [35, 12]. In [11], Caffarelli established the regularity of the free boundary for the classical obstacle problem. Later, this regularity result has been extended to various class of obstacle problems by many authors [53, 58, 52, 68, 31, 10, 5, 56].

The Monge-Ampère equation is one of the examples of fully nonlinear differential equations but it could be degenerated if the second derivative is degenerate, so we need extra estimates to obtain uniform parabolic operator. It arises in prescribed Gaussian curvature equation [62], optimal transportation [66], and affine geometry [71]. Also, it has been applied to image

processing [64, 15, 59], where preserving sharp edges and reducing noises are important to overcome blurring problem. This problem can be resolved by the fact that the diffusion driven by the Gauss curvature is slow near edges due to the degeneracy of curvature.

Krylov suggested three versions of parabolic Monge-Ampère equation in [49]:

$$-u_t + (\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f, \qquad (5.1.1)$$

$$[(-u_t)\det D^2 u]^{\frac{1}{n+1}} = f,$$
(5.1.2)

$$\left[\det(D^2 u - u_t I_n)\right]^{\frac{1}{n}} = f,$$
(5.1.3)

where I_n denotes the $n \times n$ identity matrix. Equation (5.1.1) is related to the graph representation of the Gauss curvature flow (see [55] for instance) and Equation (5.1.2) appears in the Gauss curvature flow represented by its support function [72].

The obstacle problem for (elliptic) Monge-Ampère equation was first considered by [54] and later its generalization to non-convex domains was studied by [74]. In addition, the very recent work by the first and the second authors concerns the obstacle problem for the α -Gauss curvature flow in [55]. On the other hand, obstacle type problems with zero lower obstacle for Gauss curvature flow have been considered in [23, 24, 48, 19]. Also, the problem in the Alexandrov sense with zero lower obstacle is researched by [67].

5.1.2 Main results

In this chapter, we would like to consider the obstacle problem for the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation of the form (5.1.1). We prove the existence, uniqueness, and optimal regularity $(C^{1,1})$ under some structure conditions via the penalization method and a priori estimates. As a consequence of our approach, we also obtain the existence and uniqueness of the solution of the Cauchy-Dirichlet problem for the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation of the form (5.1.1) with the general forcing term f(x, t, u, Du). Moreover, we

discuss the regularity of the free boundary using the method of blowup.

Precisely, we consider the following version of parabolic obstacle problem for the Monge-Ampère equation:

$$\begin{cases} \min\left\{\phi - u, -u_t + \left(\det D^2 u\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} - f(x, t, u, Du)\right\} = 0 & \text{in } \Omega_T, \\ u = g & \text{on } \partial_p \Omega_T. \end{cases}$$
(PMAo)

Here Ω is a strictly convex bounded domain with $\partial \Omega \in C^{3,1}$, the forcing term $f \in C^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega_T} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$, the boundary data $g \in C^{3,1}(\partial_p \Omega_T)$, and the obstacle function $\phi \in C^{2,1}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ such that the obstacle ϕ lies above the boundary data g, i.e., $\phi > g$ on $\partial_p \Omega_T$.

To state our main results, we introduce structure conditions on f and assumption on the existence of a subsolution.

- (A1) The function f has a lower bound: $f > \left(\min_{\overline{\Omega_T}} \phi_t\right)^-$.
- (A2) The function f = f(x, t, z, p) is nondecreasing in z.
- (A3) The function f = f(x, t, z, p) is convex with respect to p.
- (A4) There exists a strictly convex subsolution $\underline{u} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega_T})$ satisfying

$$-\underline{u}_t + (\det \underline{u}_{ij})^{\frac{1}{n}} \ge f(x, t, \underline{u}, D\underline{u}) \text{ in } \Omega_T \quad \text{and} \quad \underline{u} = g \text{ on } \partial_p \Omega_T.$$

(A5) There exists a nonnegative constant a such that

$$a\left(1-|f_p|d-\frac{f_zd^2}{2}\right) \ge f_t$$

and

$$\min\left\{\inf_{\partial\Omega\times[0,T]}g_t,\inf_{\Omega\times\{0\}}\left(\left(\det D^2g\right)^{\frac{1}{n}}-f(\cdot,g,Dg)\right)\right\}+f>\frac{1}{2}ad^2,$$

where d denotes the minimum radius such that $\Omega \subset B_d$. In particular, a = 0 if $f_t \leq 0$.

We will discuss about the conditions in Section 5.1.3 below.

Now we state our first main result:

Theorem 5.1.1. If the assumptions (A1)-(A5) hold, then there exists a unique strictly convex viscosity solution u of (PMAo) with the optimal regularity, $C^{1,1}(\overline{\Omega_T})$, satisfying $u \geq \underline{u}$ in Ω_T .

The main strategy to have Theorem 5.1.1 is the penalization method. Since we expect the solution to stay below the obstacle, a discontinuity of the velocity u_t occurs when the solution touches the obstacle. This makes the problem difficult and that is why the optimal regularity of the solution to (PMAo) is expected to be $C^{1,1}$ (see Section 5.2 for the definition). To have the optimal regularity of the solution to (PMAo), we approximate the obstacle problem (PMAo) by allowing the solution can pass the obstacle, with the property such that the more the solution pass the obstacle, the more "penalty" is imposed on the velocity u_t . This approximation problem is formulated as (PMAo_{ϵ}) in Section 5.3. We will prove various a priori estimates for solutions u^{ϵ} of the approximation problem (PMAo_{ϵ}) in Subsections 5.3.1-5.3.3. The existence of u^{ϵ} and Theorem 5.1.1 can be given by a priori $C^{2,\alpha}$ estimates of u^{ϵ} and the method of continuity (see Theorem 3.13 in [61] for instance).

We note that all the equations (5.1.1)-(5.1.3) can be viewed as concave operators which are homogeneous of degree one. However, this homogeneity causes some difficulties if we try to obtain interior $C^{1,1}$ -estimates since second derivatives of homogeneous operators of degree one must be degenerate in some direction. The equations (5.1.2) and (5.1.3) can make it possible to overcome the difficulties by taking logarithm to both sides, which is not the case for (5.1.1). Thus, the convexity condition (A3) for the forcing term f(x, t, u, Du) is assumed due to the special character of the parabolic operator (5.1.1). Including (A3), general and reasonable structure conditions which have been considered in the literature are supposed to f(x, t, u, Du), see Section 5.1.3 below for details.

As we mentioned above, we also discuss the existence of the following Cauchy-Dirichlet problem:

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t u + \left(\det D^2 u\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f(x, t, u, Du) & \text{ in } \Omega_T, \\ u = g & \text{ on } \partial_p \Omega_T. \end{cases}$$
(PMA)

This result will be used to prove the existence of penalization problem (PMAo_{ϵ}). Our proof will be based on the a priori estimates by using the method of continuity. To deal with the dependence on u and Du of the forcing term, we use a Pogorelov type computation while obtaining interior $C^{1,1}$ -estimate. When the forcing term f depends only on x and t, this problem has been studied by some authors (see [39, 25, 69]).

Theorem 5.1.2. If the assumptions (A2)-(A5) hold, then there exists a unique strictly convex solution $u \in C^3(\overline{\Omega_T})$ to (PMA) satisfying $u \geq \underline{u}$ in Ω_T .

The last result is the free boundary regularity of (PMAo). Since the operator $(\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}}$ is defined only in the space of positive definite matrix, the reduced problem, the obstacle problem with zero obstacle, is not appropriate in the problem for Monge-Ampère operator. Hence, contrary to Laplacian and fully nonlinear operator [53, 31, 32, 56], we develop the theory for (PMAo) as it is without using the reduced problem.

Theorem 5.1.3 (Regularity of free boundary). Let $u \in P_1(M)$ with an obstacle ϕ such that

$$\mathcal{P}\phi - f \ge c > 0 \quad in \ Q_1^-$$

Let $v := \phi - u$ and suppose

$$\delta_r(v, X) \ge \epsilon_0 \quad \text{for all } r < 1/4, X \in Q_{1/2}^- \cap \partial N(v). \tag{5.1.4}$$

Then there is $r_0 = r_0(u, \phi) > 0$ such that $\Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r_0}^-$ is C^1 graphs.

We note that the linearized operator $\mathcal{L}_u = -\partial_t + F_{ij}(D^2u) \cdot \partial_{ij}$ plays an important role throughout Section 5.4 in such as non-degeneracy (Lemma 5.4.5), the classification of the global solutions (Proposition 5.4.7), and the directional monotonicity (Proposition 5.4.10).

5.1.3 Discussion on the conditions

The assumption (A1) implies f > 0 which is not assumed in Theorem 5.1.2. Unlike (PMA), the assumption (A1) is almost necessary condition in most cases. In fact, when the solution of (PMAo) touches the obstacle, we can deduce

$$(\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}} \ge u_t + f = \phi_t + f \ge f - (\phi_t)^{-1}$$

in the contact set, which ensures the convexity of the solution u. Here we used $f = f(\cdot, u, Du)$.

The monotone assumption (A2) is essential for uniqueness assertions. The assumption (A4) has been appeared in many literature, see [8] for instance.

The convexity assumption (A3) is assumed to have the optimal regularity in Theorem 5.1.1. This assumption has been commonly used in the Hessian equation (see [61]). For example, $S_k^{1/k}$ for $1 \le k < n+1$ and $(S_k/S_m)^{1/(k-m)}$ for $1 \le m < k \le n+1$ need the convexity assumption in the gradient variable of f, where $S_k = S_k(D^2u, -u_t)$ denotes the elementary symmetric polynomial of degree k in the eigenvalues of $\begin{pmatrix} D^2u & 0\\ 0 & -u_t \end{pmatrix}$. In case of $S_{n+1}^{1/(n+1)}$, the second form in (5.1.3), the convexity assumption is not needed since it can be considered as an operator which is non-homogeneous and still concave, by taking logarithm to both sides. Our equation, the first form in (5.1.3), is more likely to $S_k^{1/k}$ for k < n + 1.

The assumption (A5) will be used to show the preservation of convexity, see Lemma 5.3.3. Such conditions also appeared in [39, 69].

5.1.4 Notations

$Q_r^-(x,t)$	$B_r(x) \times (t - r^2, t]$
Ω_T	$\Omega \times (0,T]$
$\Omega(t)$	$\Omega \times \{t\}$ the time section with respect to t
N(u)	$\{(x,t) \in \Omega_T u(x,t) < \phi(x,t)\}$ the non-coincident set
$\Lambda(u)$	$\{(x,t) \in \Omega_T u(x,t) = \phi(x,t)\}$ the coincident set
$\Gamma(u)$	$\partial N(u) \cap \Omega_T$ the free boundary
$\mathcal{S}^{n imes n}$	the set of symmetric $n \times n$ matrices
\mathbb{S}^n	$\{x \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} x = 1\}$ the unit n-sphere
$F(\mathcal{M})$	$(\det \mathcal{M})^{\frac{1}{n}}$ for $\mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{S}^{n \times n}$
$\mathcal{P}u$	$-\partial_t u + F(D^2 u)$
\mathcal{L}_{u}	$-\partial_t + F_{ij}(D^2u) \cdot \partial_{ij}$
$P_r(M), P_{\infty}(M)$	see Definitions 5.4.2 and 5.4.3
$\delta_r(u,x), \ \delta_r(u)$	see Definition 5.4.1
$L_q(\Omega_T), W_q^{2l,l}(\Omega_T)$	see Section 5.2
$C^k(\overline{\Omega_T}), C^{k,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega_T})$	see Section 5.2

5.1.5 Outline

The organization of the chapter is as follows. In Section 5.2, we provide definitions of viscosity solutions and give a proof of the fact that the *n*-th root of the determinant is a concave operator. In Section 5.3, a priori $C^{1,1}$ estimates for the approximation problem (PMAo_{ϵ}) are established and finish the proof of Theorem 5.1.1 and Theorem 5.1.2. Finally, in Section 5.4, we study the regularity of the free boundary of the obstacle problem.

5.2 Preliminaries

We give definitions of function spaces over space-time domain. Also, we introduce the concept of viscosity solutions that is useful to define solutions of obstacle problem for non-divergence form operator. Finally, we prove the concavity of the operator F which we use later in the chapter.

The Lebesgue space $L_q(\Omega_T)$ for $q \ge 1$ consists of all measurable functions on Q_T with a finite norm

$$\|u\|_{L^q(\Omega_T)} = \left(\int_0^T \int_{\Omega} |u(x,t)|^q dx dt\right)^{\frac{1}{q}} \quad \text{and} \quad \|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega_T)} = \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega_T} |u|.$$

The Sobolev space $W_q^{2l,l}(\Omega_T)$ for integer l and $q \ge 1$ consists of the elements of $L_q(\Omega_T)$ having generalized derivatives of the form $D_t^r D_x^s$ with any r and s satisfying the inequality $2r + s \le 2l$. We define its norm to be

$$\|u\|_{W^{2l,l}_q(\Omega_T)} = \sum_{j=0}^{2l} \langle \langle u \rangle \rangle^j_{q,\Omega_T}, \quad \text{where } \langle \langle u \rangle \rangle^j_{q,\Omega_T} = \sum_{2r+s=j} \|D^r_t D^s_x u\|_{q,\Omega_T}.$$

Given a nonnegative integer k, the function space $C^k(\overline{\Omega_T})$ is the Banach space of all continuous functions on Ω_T with derivatives of the form $D_x^{\gamma} D_t^s$ for all $|\gamma| + 2s \leq k$, where

$$\gamma = (\gamma^1, \cdots, \gamma^n), \quad |\gamma| = \gamma^1 + \cdots + \gamma^n, \text{ and } D_x^{\gamma} = \frac{\partial^{|\gamma|}}{\partial x_1^{\gamma_1} \cdots \partial x_n^{\gamma_n}},$$

under the norm

$$\|u\|_{C^k(\overline{\Omega_T})} = \sum_{|\gamma|+2s \le k} \sup_{(x,t)\in\overline{\Omega_T}} |D_x^{\gamma} D_t^s u(x,t)| < \infty.$$

Given a nonnegative integer k and $0 < \alpha < 1$, the Hölder space $C^{k,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ is the Banach space of functions in $C^k(\overline{\Omega_T})$ under the norm

$$\|u\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega_T})} = \|u\|_{C^k(\overline{\Omega_T})} + \sum_{|\gamma|+2s=k} \sup_{(x_1,t_1)\neq (x_2,t_2)\in\overline{\Omega_T}} \frac{|D_x^{\gamma}D_t^s u(x_1,t_1) - D_x^{\gamma}D_t^s u(x_2,t_2)|}{(|x_1 - x_2|^2 + |t_1 - t_2|)^{\alpha/2}} < \infty.$$

For simplicity of notation, we define

$$\|u\|_k = \|u\|_{C^k(\overline{\Omega_T})} \quad \text{ and } \quad \|u\|_{k,\alpha} = \|u\|_{C^{k,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega_T})}\,,$$

and denote $C^{k,1}(\overline{\Omega_T}) = W^{k+1,(k+1)/2}_{\infty}(\Omega_T)$. For a forcing term f(x,t,z,p), $f \in C^{k,1}(\overline{\Omega_T} \times \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n)$ is understood in a natural way.

Now we consider definitions of superjet and subjet. The concept of viscosity solutions to (PMAo) will then follow.

Definition 5.2.1 (Superjet and Subjet). Let u be an upper (resp. lower) semi-continuous function on $\overline{\Omega_T}$ and $(z,s) \in \Omega_T$. The superjet $J^+_{\Omega_T}u(z,s)$ (resp. subjet $J^-_{\Omega_T}u(z,s)$) of u at (z,s) is defined to be the set of points $(a, p, X) \in \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{S}^{n \times n}$ such that

$$u(x,t) \le (\text{resp.} \ge)u(z,s) + a(t-s) + \langle p, x-z \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \langle X(x-z), x-z \rangle + o(|t-s| + |x-z|^2)$$

as $(x,t) \to (z,s)$ in Ω_T .

We also set $J_{\Omega_T}' u(z,s) = J_{\Omega_T} u(z,s) \cap (\mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{S}^{n \times n}_+)$, where $\mathcal{S}^{n \times n}_+$ denotes the set of positive semi-definite symmetric $n \times n$ matrices.

The following lemma explains the reason why we do not consider $J_{\Omega_T}^{'+}u(z,s)$.

Lemma 5.2.2 ([1]). Let u be an upper semi-continuous in $\overline{\Omega_T}$. Then, $u(\cdot, t)$ is convex for each $t \in [0, T]$ if and only if $X \ge 0$ for all $(a, p, X) \in J^+_{\Omega_T} u(z, s)$ and $(z, s) \in \Omega_T$.

Now we are ready to define viscosity solutions.

Definition 5.2.3 (Viscosity Solutions). Let u be a function on $\overline{\Omega_T}$ such that $u(\cdot, t)$ is convex in Ω for each $t \in [0, T]$.

(i) We say that an upper (resp. lower) semi-continuous function u on $\overline{\Omega_T}$ is said to be a viscosity subsolution (resp. supersolution) of

$$-\partial_t u + (\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f(x, t, u, Du)$$
(5.2.1)

in Ω_T if for all $(x,t) \in \Omega_T$ and $(a,p,X) \in J^+_{\Omega_T} u(x,t)$ (resp. $J^{'-}_{\Omega_T} u(x,t)$),

 $-a + (\det X)^{\frac{1}{n}} \ge (\text{resp.} \le) f(x, t, u(x, t), p).$

- (ii) We say that $u \in C(\overline{\Omega_T})$ is a viscosity solution of (5.2.1) if it is both a viscosity subsolution and a viscosity supersolution of (5.2.1).
- (iii) A viscosity solution of (PMAo) is an upper semi-continuous function on $\overline{\Omega_T}$ such that u is a viscosity subsolution in Ω_T and a viscosity supersolution in N(u) of (5.2.1), $u \leq \phi$ in Ω_T , and u = g on $\partial_p \Omega_T$.

We close this section by showing that the operator $(\det \mathcal{M})^{\frac{1}{n}}$ is concave.

Lemma 5.2.4. Let $F(\mathcal{M}) = (\det \mathcal{M})^{\frac{1}{n}}$ be an operator defined for $\mathcal{M} \in \mathcal{S}^{n \times n}_+$, where $\mathcal{S}^{n \times n}_+$ is the set of positive semi-definite symmetric $n \times n$ matrices. Then F is a concave operator.

Proof. By continuity of the operator F, it suffices to assume \mathcal{M} is positive definite matrix. We observe that the concavity assertion is equivalent to

$$\ddot{F}(\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}) = \sum_{i,j,k,l} F^{ij,kl} N_{ij} N_{kl} \le 0 \quad \text{for any matrix } \mathcal{N} = (N_{ij}).$$
(5.2.2)

To show this, we need the formulas

$$F^{ij} = \frac{1}{n} F M^{ij}, (5.2.3)$$

$$F^{ij,kl} = \frac{1}{n^2} F M^{ij} M^{kl} - \frac{1}{n} F M^{ik} M^{jl}, \qquad (5.2.4)$$

where M^{ij} is the (i, j)-component of the inverse matrix of \mathcal{M} . We may assume \mathcal{M} is a diagonal matrix since $F(\mathcal{M}) = F(\mathcal{UMU}^{-1})$ for any invertible matrix \mathcal{U} . Let us denote this diagonal matrix by $\mathcal{M} = \text{diag}(M_1, M_2, \cdots, M_n)$, where each M_i is positive. Then the left hand side of (5.2.2) becomes

$$\ddot{F}(\mathcal{N}, \mathcal{N}) = \sum_{i,k} \frac{F}{n^2 M_i M_k} N_{ii} N_{kk} - \sum_{i,j} \frac{F}{n M_i M_j} N_{ij}^2$$

$$= \sum_i \frac{(1-n)F}{n^2 M_i^2} N_{ii}^2 + \sum_{i \neq j} \frac{F}{n^2 M_i M_j} N_{ii} N_{jj} - \sum_{i \neq j} \frac{F}{n M_i M_j} N_{ij}^2$$

$$= -\frac{F}{2n^2} \sum_{i \neq j} \left(\frac{N_{ii}}{M_i} - \frac{N_{jj}}{M_j}\right)^2 - \sum_{i \neq j} \frac{F}{n M_i M_j} N_{ij}^2$$

which is clearly nonpositive. This completes the proof.

5.3 The optimal regularity

In this section we will obtain the existence and optimal $(C^{1,1})$ regularity of solutions to (PMAo), as stated in Theorem 5.1.1. Our proof will be based on the uniform a priori estimates for the singular perturbation problem defined below in order to use the method of continuity. Throughout the section, we assume the assumptions in Theorem 5.1.1.

Let us introduce the following singular perturbation problem with a penalty term:

$$\begin{cases} -u_t^{\epsilon} + \left(\det D^2 u^{\epsilon}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f(x, t, u^{\epsilon}, Du^{\epsilon}) - \beta_{\epsilon}(\phi - u^{\epsilon}) & \text{in } \Omega_T, \\ u^{\epsilon} = g & \text{on } \partial_p \Omega_T, \end{cases}$$
(PMAo_{\epsilon})

for given $\varepsilon > 0$, where $\beta_{\epsilon} \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ is a so called penalty function satisfying

$$\begin{cases} \beta_{\epsilon}(z) < 0, \quad \beta'_{\epsilon}(z) > 0, \quad \beta''_{\epsilon}(z) \le 0 \text{ for } z < 0, \\ \beta_{\epsilon}(z) \to -\infty & \text{if } z < 0, \epsilon \to 0, \\ \beta_{\delta}(z) = 0 & \text{if } z \ge 0, \\ \beta_{\epsilon}(-\varepsilon) = -1. \end{cases}$$

We begin with the uniform boundedness of $\beta_{\epsilon}(\phi - u^{\epsilon})$ which is important when we deal with convergence.

Lemma 5.3.1. Let u^{ε} be a solution of (PMAo_{ϵ}). Then

$$-C \le \beta_{\delta}(\phi - u^{\varepsilon}) \le 0,$$

where the constant $C = C(\|\phi\|_2, n)$ is independent of ε .

Proof. By the definition of β_{δ} , we see that $\beta_{\delta}(\phi - u^{\varepsilon}) \leq 0$ on $\overline{\Omega_T}$. To have

the lower bound of β_{δ} , we define

$$w(x,t) := \beta_{\epsilon}(\phi(x,t) - u^{\epsilon}(x,t))$$

and take $X_0 \in \overline{\Omega_T}$ such that $w(X_0) = \inf_{\overline{\Omega_T}} w < 0$. Since $u^{\varepsilon} = g < \phi$ on $\partial_p \Omega_T$ and $\beta_{\delta}(z) = 0$ if $z \ge 0$, we have $X_0 \in \Omega_T$. Thus it follows from the monotone increasing property of β_{δ} on $(-\infty, 0)$ that $\phi - u_{\epsilon}$ also has a minimum at X_0 , and consequently $D^2\phi(X_0) \ge D^2u^{\epsilon}(X_0)$ and $\partial_t\phi(X_0) \le \partial_t u^{\epsilon}(X_0)$. Hence,

$$f(x, t, u^{\epsilon}, Du^{\epsilon}) - w(X_0) = -\partial_t u^{\epsilon}(X_0) + (\det D^2 u^{\epsilon}(X_0))^{\frac{1}{n}}$$
$$\leq -\partial_t \phi(X_0) + (\det D^2 \phi(X_0))^{\frac{1}{n}} = \mathcal{P}\phi(X_0).$$

Therefore, we have $w(X_0) \ge -\mathcal{P}\phi(X_0)$. This completes the proof.

Our next task is to show the uniform C^1 estimate which enables us to control the forcing term f. It is exploited that the subsolution \underline{u} in the assumption (A4) is also a subsolution of (PMAo_{ϵ}).

Lemma 5.3.2. Let u^{ε} be a solution of $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$ and assume (A1) and (A4). Then

$$\left\| u^{\epsilon} \right\|_{1} \le C_{0},$$

for some constant $C_0 = C_0(\|\underline{u}\|_1, \|g\|_1, \Omega_T, n)$ independent of ε .

Proof. We start with a unique function h satisfying

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t h + \frac{1}{n} \Delta h = 0 & \text{in } \Omega_T, \\ h = g & \text{on } \partial_p \Omega_T. \end{cases}$$
(5.3.1)

Since $(\det D^2 u^{\varepsilon})^{\frac{1}{n}} \leq \frac{1}{n} \Delta u^{\varepsilon}$ and $f - \beta_{\delta} > 0$, u^{ε} is a subsolution of (5.3.1) and $u^{\varepsilon} \leq h$ in $\overline{\Omega_T}$. On the other hand, since the function $\underline{u} \leq \phi$ and thus $\beta_{\delta}(\phi - \underline{u}) = 0$, \underline{u} is a subsolution of (PMAo_{\varepsilon}) and $u^{\varepsilon} \geq \underline{u}$ in $\overline{\Omega_T}$. Thus, we have $\underline{u} \leq u^{\varepsilon} \leq h$ in $\overline{\Omega_T}$ and from the strictly convexity of u^{ε} , it is easy to

show

$$\sup_{\overline{\Omega_T}} |Du^{\varepsilon}| = \sup_{\partial_p \Omega_T} |Du^{\varepsilon}|.$$

Furthermore, it follows from $\underline{u} = u^{\varepsilon} = h$ on $\partial_p \Omega_T$ that for any $x \in \partial \Omega$ and $0 \le t \le T$,

$$D_e \underline{u}(x,t) \le D_e u^{\varepsilon}(x,t) \le D_e h(x,t),$$

where e denotes the inward unit normal to $\partial \Omega$ at x. Thus we can conclude

$$||u^{\varepsilon}||_{1} \leq C_{0}(||\underline{u}||_{1}, ||g||_{1}, \Omega_{T}, n).$$

This completes the proof.

Using Lemma 5.3.2, there exist constants μ_1 and μ_2 (independent of ε) such that

$$0 < \mu_1 = \inf_{\overline{\Omega_T}} f(\cdot, u^{\varepsilon}, Du^{\varepsilon}) \le \sup_{\overline{\Omega_T}} f(\cdot, u^{\varepsilon}, Du^{\varepsilon}) = \mu_2 < \infty.$$
(5.3.2)

From the initial data g, there are also constants κ_1 and κ_2 such that

$$\kappa_{1} = \min\left\{\inf_{\partial\Omega\times[0,T]}g_{t},\inf_{\Omega\times\{0\}}\left(\left(\det D^{2}g\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} - f(\cdot,g,Dg)\right)\right\}$$
$$\leq \max\left\{\sup_{\partial\Omega\times[0,T]}g_{t},\sup_{\Omega\times\{0\}}\left(\left(\det D^{2}g\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} - f(\cdot,g,Dg)\right)\right\} = \kappa_{2}.$$

5.3.1 Preservation of convexity and a priori speed estimate

This subsection will be devoted to the proof of a preservation of convexity and a speed bound. We start with the preserving of convexity whose direct consequence is a lower bound for the speed. From the assumptions (A1) and

(A5) in Theorem 5.1.1, we can take a positive constant ν such that

$$\min\{\phi_t, 0\} + \mu_1 \ge \nu \quad \text{and} \quad \kappa_1 + \mu_1 - \frac{1}{2}ad^2 \ge \nu.$$
 (5.3.3)

Lemma 5.3.3. Let u^{ε} be a solution of $(PMAo_{\varepsilon})$ and assume (A1), (A2), and (A5). Then

$$(\det D^2 u^{\varepsilon})^{\frac{1}{n}} = u_t^{\varepsilon} + f(\cdot, u^{\varepsilon}, Du^{\varepsilon}) \ge \nu,$$

where ν is the constant defined in (5.3.3). In particular, $u_t^{\varepsilon} \geq \nu - \mu_2$.

Remark 5.3.4. When f = f(x,t) and $\max(f_t)_+ < \infty$, we may take $a = \max(f_t)_+$ as in [39, 69].

Proof. Let ν be a positive constant satisfying (5.3.3). By translation, we can assume $\Omega \subset B_{d/2}$. Let $\mathcal{L}_1 = -\partial_t + F^{ij}\partial_{ij} - f_{p_i}\partial_i - f_z$. Then we have

$$\mathcal{L}_1 u_t^{\varepsilon} = D_t (f - \beta_{\delta} (\phi - u^{\varepsilon})) - f_{p_i} (u_t^{\varepsilon})_i - f_z u_t^{\varepsilon} = f_t + \beta_{\delta}' (u^{\varepsilon} - \phi)_t.$$

For a small constant b > 0, consider an auxiliary function $w = \frac{1}{2}a|x|^2 - bt$, where a is the constant in the assumption (A5) of Theorem 5.1.1. Since $\sum_{i=1}^{n} F^{ii} = \frac{F}{n} \operatorname{tr}((D^2 u^{\varepsilon})^{-1}) \ge 1$, we obtain

$$\mathcal{L}_1 w \ge a \left(1 - f_{p_i} x_i - f_z |x|^2 / 2 \right) + b \ge a \left(1 - |f_p| d - f_z d^2 / 2 \right) + b \ge f_t + b.$$

Thus, we have shown $\mathcal{L}_1(u_t^{\varepsilon} - w) \leq \beta'_{\delta}(u^{\varepsilon} - \phi)_t - b.$

If $u_t - w$ attains an interior minimum over $\overline{\Omega_T}$, we have $\mathcal{L}_1(u_t^{\varepsilon} - w) \geq -f_z(u_t^{\varepsilon} - w)$ at the minimum point. Since both $u_t^{\varepsilon} - w$ and $u_t^{\varepsilon} - \phi_t$ are less than or equal to $u_t^{\varepsilon} - \min\{\phi_t, 0\} + bT$, we obtain

$$b \le f_z(u_t^\varepsilon - w) + \beta_\delta'(u_t^\varepsilon - \phi_t) \le (f_z + \beta_\delta')(u_t^\varepsilon - \min\{\phi_t, 0\} + bT)$$

which implies $u_t^{\varepsilon} \ge \min\{\phi_t, 0\} - bT$ from $f_z + \beta'_{\delta} \ge 0$. Otherwise, we have

$$u_t^{\varepsilon} \ge \min g_t - \frac{1}{2}ad^2.$$

In any case, it follows from (5.3.3) that

$$u_t^{\varepsilon} + f \ge \nu - bT.$$

By taking $b \to 0$, we have the desired result.

Next, we will show an upper bound for the speed.

Lemma 5.3.5. Let u^{ε} be a solution of $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$ and assume (A2). Then we have

$$u_t^{\varepsilon} \leq e^T \max\left\{ \left(\inf_{v \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\overline{\Omega_T}} f_t(\cdot, v, Dv) \right)^-, \kappa_2, \phi_t \right\}.$$

Proof. Let us define $v = e^{-t}u_t^{\varepsilon}$ and then, it is easy to verify that

$$\mathcal{L}_1 v = e^{-t} (f_t + u_t^{\varepsilon} - \beta_{\delta}' (\phi_t - u_t^{\varepsilon})), \qquad (5.3.4)$$

where $\mathcal{L}_1 = -\partial_t + F^{ij}\partial_{ij} - f_{p_i}\partial_i - f_z$. If a maximum of v is attained on the parabolic boundary $\partial_p\Omega_T$, then we are done. Suppose that v has its positive maximum over $\overline{\Omega_T}$ at $X_0 \in \Omega_T$. Then we have $\mathcal{L}_1 v \leq 0$ at X_0 , and therefore, (5.3.4) becomes

$$f_t + u_t^{\varepsilon} - \beta_{\delta}'(\phi_t - u_t^{\varepsilon}) \le 0$$
 at X_0 .

At this point, if $\phi_t - u_t^{\varepsilon} \leq 0$, then $u_t^{\varepsilon} \leq -f_t$. Otherwise, $u_t^{\varepsilon} \leq \phi_t$. In any case, we have $0 < v(X_0) \leq u(X_0) \leq \max\{-f_t, \phi_t\}$, and the conclusion follows. \Box

Remark 5.3.6. In case of (PMA), we also have the similar results to Lemma 5.3.3

and Lemma 5.3.5. More precisely, we can obtain

$$u_t + f(\cdot, u, Du) \ge \nu$$
 and $u_t \le e^T \max\left\{ \left(\inf_{v \in \mathcal{A}} \inf_{\overline{\Omega_T}} f_t(\cdot, v, Dv) \right)^-, \kappa_2 \right\}$

without assumption (A1) in Theorem 5.1.1 by applying the comparison principle directly.

5.3.2 A priori interior $C^{1,1}$ -estimate

We will prove a priori interior $C^{1,1}$ -estimate for u^{ϵ} . From the results of the previous subsection, Lemmas 5.3.3 and 5.3.5, we note that

$$0 < \nu \le F \le \|F\|_0 < \infty, \tag{5.3.5}$$

where

$$\left\|F\right\|_{0} := \left\|F(D^{2}u^{\epsilon})\right\|_{0} = \sup_{(x,t)\in\overline{\Omega_{T}}}\left|F(D^{2}u^{\epsilon}(x,t))\right| = \sup_{(x,t)\in\overline{\Omega_{T}}}\left|\det(D^{2}u^{\epsilon}(x,t))^{\frac{1}{n}}\right|$$

is a bounded quantity. We also notice from Lemma 5.3.2 that

$$\|f\|_{1,1}^* := \|f\|_{C^{1,1}(\overline{\Omega_T} \times [-C_0, C_0] \times [-C_0, C_0]^n)} < \infty,$$

and we define $||f||_{k,1}^*$ in a similar way.

As we mentioned in the introduction, the operator $\mathcal{P}u$ must be degenerate in some direction so we need to assume the convexity of f in the gradient variable to have $C^{1,1}$ estimate.

Lemma 5.3.7. Let u^{ε} be the solution of $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$ and assume (A1)-(A3) and (A5). Then we have

$$\sup_{\overline{\Omega_T}} |D^2 u^{\varepsilon}| \le C \left(1 + \sup_{\partial_p \Omega_T} |D^2 u^{\varepsilon}| \right),$$

where the constant C depends only on $n, |\Omega|, \nu, ||F||_0, ||\phi||_{2,1}, ||f||_2^*$, and $||u||_1$.

Proof. In this proof, we will use u instead of u^{ε} for simplicity. For $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$, we set

$$w := u_{\xi\xi} \exp\left\{\frac{a}{2}|D(u-\phi)|^2 + \frac{b}{2}|x|^2\right\},\,$$

where a and b are positive constants to be determined later. Since $\overline{\Omega_T} \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ is compact, w has a maximum over this set. We may assume that the maximum of w is achieved at some point (x_0, t_0, ξ) in $\Omega_T \times \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$. By rotating the coordinates $\{x_1, \dots, x_n\}$, we also assume that $\xi = e_1 = (1, 0, \dots, 0)$ and that $D^2u(x_0, t_0)$ is diagonal.

If $u_{11}(x_0, t_0) \leq \phi_{11}(x_0, t_0)$, we are done. So we assume $u_{11}(x_0, t_0) \geq \phi_{11}(x_0, t_0)$. Setting $F(D^2 u) = (\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}}$, we have

$$F^{ij} = \frac{F}{n}u^{ij}$$
 and $F^{ij,kl} = \frac{F}{n^2}u^{ij}u^{kl} - \frac{F}{n}u^{ik}u^{jl}$. (5.3.6)

The linearized operator at (x_0, t_0) is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_u v = -\partial_t v + F^{ij} \partial_{ij} v.$$

Now, we compute that

$$\frac{w_t}{w} = \frac{u_{11t}}{u_{11}} + a(u-\phi)_k(u-\phi)_{kt},
\frac{w_i}{w} = \frac{u_{11i}}{u_{11}} + a(u-\phi)_k(u-\phi)_{ki} + bx_i,
\frac{w_{ij}}{w} = \frac{w_i w_j}{w^2} - \frac{u_{11i} u_{11j}}{u_{11}^2} + \frac{u_{11ij}}{u_{11}}
+ a(u-\phi)_{ki}(u-\phi)_{kj} + a(u-\phi)_k(u-\phi)_{kij} + b\delta_{ij}$$

Since $F^{ij}\frac{w_iw_j}{w^2} = \frac{F}{n}\frac{1}{w^2}u^{ij}w_iw_j$, we have

$$\frac{\mathcal{L}_{u}w}{w} \ge -\frac{F^{ij}u_{11i}u_{11j}}{u_{11}^{2}} + \frac{\mathcal{L}_{u}u_{11}}{u_{11}} + a(u-\phi)_{k}\mathcal{L}_{u}(u-\phi)_{k} + aF^{ij}(u-\phi)_{ki}(u-\phi)_{kj} + bF^{ij}.$$
(5.3.7)

Recall the equation $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$ and differentiate this to get

$$\mathcal{L}_{u}u_{k} = D_{k}f - \beta_{\delta}' \cdot (\phi - u)_{k},$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{u}u_{11} = -F^{ij,kl}u_{ij1}u_{kl1} + D_{11}f - \beta_{\delta}' \cdot (\phi - u)_{11} - \beta_{\delta}'' \cdot (\phi - u)_{1}^{2}.$$

Since $\beta'_{\delta} \ge 0$, $\beta''_{\delta} \le 0$, and $u_{11}(x_0, t_0) \ge \phi_{11}(x_0, t_0)$, we obtain at (x_0, t_0) ,

$$(u - \phi)_k \mathcal{L}_u u_k \ge (u - \phi)_k D_k f$$

$$\mathcal{L}_u u_{11} \ge -F^{ij,kl} u_{ij1} u_{kl1} + D_{11} f.$$
 (5.3.8)

Moreover, we calculate

$$aF^{ij}(u-\phi)_{ki}(u-\phi)_{kj} \ge \frac{aF}{n}(\Delta u - 2\Delta\phi).$$
(5.3.9)

By multiplying (5.3.7) by $u_{11}(x_0, t_0)$ and replacing (5.3.8) and (5.3.9) into it, we infer that at (x_0, t_0) ,

$$0 \ge \frac{\mathcal{L}w}{w} \ge -\frac{F^{ij}u_{11i}u_{11j}}{u_{11}} - F^{ij,kl}u_{ij1}u_{kl1} + D_{11}f + a(u-\phi)_k D_k f u_{11} - a(u-\phi)_k \mathcal{L}\phi_k u_{11} + \frac{aF}{n}(\Delta u - 2\Delta\phi)u_{11} + \frac{bF}{n}u^{ij}u_{11}.$$
(5.3.10)

The first inequality is obtained from that w has it maximum at (x_0, t_0) .

On the other hand, from (5.3.6) and the fact that $D^2u(x_0, t_0)$ is diagonal, we get

$$-\frac{F^{ij}u_{11i}u_{11j}}{u_{11}} - F^{ij,kl}u_{ij1}u_{kl1} = -\frac{Fu_{11i}^2}{nu_{11}u_{ii}} + \frac{Fu_{ij1}^2}{nu_{ii}u_{jj}} - \frac{Fu_{ii1}u_{jj1}}{n^2u_{ii}u_{jj}}$$
$$= \sum_i \sum_{j \neq 1} \frac{Fu_{ij1}^2}{nu_{ii}u_{jj}} - \frac{F}{n^2} \left(\sum_i \frac{u_{ii1}}{u_{ii}}\right)^2 \ge -\frac{Fu_{111}^2}{nu_{11}^2},$$
(5.3.11)

by the Cauchy-Schwarz inequality,

$$\frac{F}{n^2} \left(\sum_i \frac{u_{ii1}}{u_{ii}} \right)^2 \le \frac{F}{n} \sum_i \frac{u_{ii1}^2}{u_{ii}^2}.$$

Next, we consider terms involving f. By simple computation,

$$D_k f = f_k + f_z u_k + f_{p_i} u_{ik},$$

$$D_{11} f = f_{11} + 2f_{1z} u_1 + f_{zz} u_1^2 + 2f_{1p_i} u_{i1} + 2f_{zp_i} u_1 u_{i1} + f_z u_{11} \qquad (5.3.12)$$

$$+ f_{p_i p_j} u_{i1} u_{j1} + f_{p_i} u_{i11}.$$

Combining (5.3.10), (5.3.11) and (5.3.12),

$$0 \ge -\frac{Fu_{111}^2}{nu_{11}^2} + f_{p_1p_1}u_{11}^2 + f_{p_i}u_{i11} + a(u-\phi)_k f_{p_k}u_{kk}u_{11} + \frac{aF}{n}(\Delta u - 2\Delta\phi)u_{11} + \frac{bF}{n}u^{ij}u_{11} - a(u-\phi)_k \mathcal{L}\phi_k u_{11} - C - C(1+a)u_{11},$$
(5.3.13)

where C is a positive constant depending only on $||u||_1$, $||f||_2^*$, and $||\phi||_1$. From the convexity of u and the boundedness of F,

$$\frac{aF}{n}(\Delta u - 2\Delta\phi)u_{11} \ge \frac{aFu_{11}^2}{n} - Cau_{11}$$
(5.3.14)

where C depends only on n, $\|F\|_0$, and $\|\phi\|_2$. On the other hand, if we define

$$b := a \sup_{\overline{\Omega_T}} |(u - \phi)_k \phi_{ijk}|,$$

we see that

$$\frac{bF}{n}u^{ij}u_{11} - a(u-\phi)_k \mathcal{L}\phi_k u_{11} \ge a(u-\phi)_k \phi_t u_{11}.$$
(5.3.15)

Combining (5.3.13), (5.3.14), and (5.3.15), we arrive at

$$0 \ge -\frac{Fu_{111}^2}{nu_{11}^2} + \left(\frac{F}{n}a + f_{p_1p_1}\right)u_{11}^2 + f_{p_i}u_{i11} + a(u - \phi)_k f_{p_k}u_{kk}u_{11} - C - C(1 + a)u_{11},$$

where the constant C depends only on n, $||F||_0$, $||\phi||_{2,1}$, $||f||_2^*$, and $||u||_1$.

Notice that $w_i = 0$ at (x_0, t_0) , which implies

$$0 = \frac{u_{11i}}{u_{11}} + a(u - \phi)_k (u - \phi)_{ki} + bx_i,$$

and therefore,

$$\begin{split} f_{p_i} u_{i11} + a(u-\phi)_k f_{p_k} u_{kk} u_{11} &= f_{p_i} u_{11} (a(u-\phi)_k \phi_{ki} - b x_i), \\ &- \frac{F u_{111}^2}{n u_{11}^2} \geq - \frac{F}{n} a^2 (u-\phi)_1^2 u_{11}^2 - C a^2 (u_{11}+1), \end{split}$$

where C depends only on $n,\,\|F\|_0,\,\|\phi\|_{2,1},$ and $\|u\|_1.$ If we define

$$\Theta := \sup_{\overline{\Omega_T}} |D(u - \phi)|^2,$$

we finally obtain that

$$0 \ge \left(-\frac{F\Theta}{n}a^2 + \frac{F}{n}a + f_{p_1p_1}\right)u_{11}^2 - C(1+a^2) - C(1+a+a^2)u_{11}.$$

Notice that

$$-\frac{F\Theta}{n}a^2 + \frac{F}{n}a + f_{p_1p_1} = -\frac{F\Theta}{n}\left(a - \frac{1}{2\Theta}\right)^2 + \frac{F}{4n\Theta} + f_{p_1p_1}$$

and that f is convex with respect to p variable so that $f_{p_1p_1} \ge 0$. Choosing $a = (2\Theta)^{-1}$, we conclude that

$$u_{11} \le C,$$

where the constant C depends on $n, |\Omega|, \nu, ||F||_0, ||\phi||_{3,1}, ||f||_2^*$, and $||u||_1$. This completes the proof.

5.3.3 A priori boundary $C^{1,1}$ -estimate

In this subsection, we consider a more general equation without the obstacle, (PMA),

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t u + \left(\det D^2 u\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f(x, t, u, Du) & \text{in } \Omega_T, \\ u = g & \text{on } \partial_p \Omega_T \end{cases}$$

The goal here is to prove the a priori boundary $C^{1,1}$ -estimate for a solution of (PMA).

Proposition 5.3.8. Let u be a solution of (PMA) and assume (A2), (A4), and (A5). Then we have

$$\sup_{\partial_p \Omega_T} |D^2 u| \le C$$

where the constant C depends only on $||f||_2^*$, $||g||_{3,1}$, $||\underline{u}||_2$, Ω_T , and n.

We postpone its proof for a moment. Assuming this, we have the following:

Proposition 5.3.9. Let u^{ε} be the solution of (PMAo_{ϵ}) and assume (A1), (A2), (A4), and (A5). Then we have

$$\sup_{\partial_p \Omega_T} |D^2 u^\epsilon| \le C$$

where the constant C depends only on $||f||_2^*$, $||g||_{3,1}$, $||\underline{u}||_2$, Ω_T , and n.

Proof. Let h be the solution of (5.3.1) in Lemma 5.3.2. Then, $u^{\varepsilon} \leq h$ in $\overline{\Omega_T}$ and h = g on $\partial_p \Omega_T$. Let $\eta_0 := \frac{1}{2} \inf_{\partial_p \Omega_T} (\phi - h) = \frac{1}{2} \inf_{\partial_p \Omega_T} (\phi - g) > 0$. Now define a set

$$U = \{ X \in \Omega_T : \phi - h > \eta_0 \}$$

so that U contains a tubular neighborhood of $\partial_p \Omega_T$. Then we deduce

$$\phi - u^{\varepsilon} \ge \phi - h > \eta_0$$
 in U

and we see that $\beta_{\epsilon}(\phi - u^{\varepsilon}) = 0$ in U. Thus, u^{ε} satisfies

$$\begin{cases} -\partial_t u^{\varepsilon} + (\det D^2 u^{\varepsilon})^{\frac{1}{n}} = f(X, u^{\varepsilon}, Du^{\varepsilon}) & \text{in } U, \\ u^{\varepsilon} = g & \text{on } \partial_p \Omega_T. \end{cases}$$

Now the conclusion follows from Proposition 5.3.8.

Now we prove Proposition 5.3.8. First, we remark that (5.3.5) is still valid for solutions of (PMA) since we can easily repeat the arguments in Lemma 5.3.3 and Lemma 5.3.5 (see also Remark 5.3.6). Let us take a point $(x_0, t_0) \in \partial_p \Omega_T$. It is enough to consider the case that $t_0 > 0$, since $D^2 u(x_0, 0) =$ $D^2 g(x_0, 0)$ is controlled by the initial data. Thus, we consider the case $x_0 \in$ $\partial\Omega$ and $t_0 > 0$. We may assume that x_0 is the origin and the interior unit normal vector of $\partial\Omega$ at $x_0 = 0$ is e_n . In a small neighborhood U' of 0' in \mathbb{R}^{n-1} , the boundary $\partial\Omega$ is given by a graph $(x', \rho(x'))$ where $x' = (x_1, \dots, x_{n-1})$, and we can express ρ as

$$x_n = \rho(x') = \frac{1}{2} \sum B_{\alpha\beta} x_{\alpha} x_{\beta} + O(|x'|^3), \qquad (5.3.16)$$

where $B_{\alpha\beta} = \rho_{\alpha\beta}(0')$ and Greek letters α and β go from 1 to n-1. We note that since Ω is strictly convex and bounded, $B_{\alpha\beta}$ is bounded below and above with constants depend only on the boundary of Ω .

We start with the estimate of the second derivates with respect to tangential directions for the solution u.

Lemma 5.3.10. Let u be a solution of (PMA). Then we have

$$\left|\partial_{\alpha\beta}u(0,t_0)\right| \le C, \quad \text{for } 1 \le \alpha, \beta \le n-1.$$

where the constant C depends only on $\partial \Omega$, $\|u\|_1$ and $\|g\|_2$.

Proof. Since u - g vanishes on the lateral boundary $\partial \Omega \times (0, T]$, we see

$$u(x', \rho(x'), t_0) = g(x', \rho(x'), t_0) \quad \text{in } U'.$$
(5.3.17)

This implies

$$D_{\alpha\beta}(u-g)(x',\rho(x'),t_0) = 0 \quad \text{for } 1 \le \alpha, \beta \le n-1,$$

so that

$$(\partial_{\alpha} + \rho_{\alpha}\partial_n)(\partial_{\beta} + \rho_{\beta}\partial_n)(u - g)(x', \rho(x'), t_0) = 0.$$

Since $\rho(0') = 0$ and $\rho_{\alpha}(0') = \rho_{\beta}(0') = 0$, this gives

$$(u-g)_{\alpha\beta}(0,t_0) = -\rho_{\alpha\beta}(0')(u-g)_n(0,t_0).$$
(5.3.18)

Now we have

$$|\partial_{\alpha\beta}u(0,t_0)| \le |\partial_{\alpha\beta}g(0,t_0)| + \rho_{\alpha\beta}(0')|(u-g)_n(0,t_0)|,$$

and therefore, the conclusion follows.

We briefly remark that (5.3.18) shows the relation of the normal and tangential derivatives, i.e., the normal derivative is heuristically equal to the second tangential derivatives. We also remark here that this tangential second derivative implied by not the equation but the regularity of domain Ω , the boundary data g, and Lipschitz regularity of u up to the boundary.

Now, we claim that $u_{\xi\xi}^{\varepsilon}$ has a uniform lower bound on the boundary for any tangential direction ξ .

Lemma 5.3.11. Let u be a solution of (PMA) and assume (A1), (A2), and (A5). Then there is a uniform constant $c_0 = c_0(\partial\Omega, ||g||_{3,1}, \nu)$ such that

$$\sum_{\alpha,\beta < n} u_{\alpha\beta}(0,t_0) \xi_{\alpha} \xi_{\beta} \ge c_0 > 0,$$

for any unit vector $\xi = (\xi_1, \cdots, \xi_{n-1})$.

Proof. We may assume that $\xi = e_1$. In the neighborhood $U' \times (0, T]$ of $(0', t_0)$, we can write

$$g(x',\rho(x'),t_0) = g(0,t_0) + g_\alpha(0,t_0)x_\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\gamma_{\alpha\beta}x_\alpha x_\beta + O(|x'|^3).$$
(5.3.19)

Let $\lambda = \frac{\gamma_{11}}{\rho_{11}(0')} = \frac{\gamma_{11}}{B_{11}}, A = (g_1(0, t_0), \cdots, g_{n-1}(0, t_0), \lambda),$

$$\tilde{u} = u - g(0, t_0) - A \cdot x,$$

and

$$\hat{f}(x,t,z,p) = f(x,t,z+g(0,t_0) + A \cdot x, p + A).$$

Then, it is easy to verify that

$$-\partial_t \tilde{u} + (\det D^2 \tilde{u})^{\frac{1}{n}} = \tilde{f}(x, t, \tilde{u}, D\tilde{u})$$

Moreover, from (5.3.17), (5.3.19), and the definitions of \tilde{u} and λ , we have

$$D_{11}\tilde{u}(0,t_0) = D_{11}u(0,t_0) - \lambda\rho_{11}(0') = D_{11}g(0,t_0) - \lambda B_{11} = \gamma_{11} - \lambda B_{11} = 0,$$
(5.3.20)

which implies

$$u_{11}(0,t_0) = \tilde{u}_{11}(0,t_0) = -\tilde{u}_n(0,t_0)\rho_{11}(0')$$

since $D_{11}\tilde{u}(0,t_0) = \tilde{u}_{11}(0,t_0) + \tilde{u}_n(0,t_0)\rho_{11}(0').$

It remains to show that $-\tilde{u}_n(0, t_0)$ has a uniform positive lower bound. Hence, we construct a barrier function for \tilde{u} . By (5.3.16) and Young's in-

equality,

$$x_{1}^{3} = \frac{2x_{1}}{B_{11}} \left(x_{n} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(\alpha,\beta)\neq(1,1)} B_{\alpha\beta} x_{\alpha} x_{\beta} + O(|x'|^{3}) \right)$$

$$\leq \frac{2}{B_{11}} x_{1} x_{n} + C \left(\sum_{1 < \beta < n} x_{\beta}^{2} + |x|^{4} \right) \quad \text{in } U',$$
(5.3.21)

where $C = C(\partial \Omega)$. On the other hand, we see from (5.3.17), (5.3.19) and (5.3.20) that

$$\tilde{u} = u - g(0, t_0) - A \cdot x = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{(\alpha, \beta) \neq (1, 1)} \gamma_{\alpha\beta} x_{\alpha} x_{\beta} + O(|x'|^3) \quad \text{in } U'. \quad (5.3.22)$$

Therefore, by (5.3.21), (5.3.22) and Young's inequality, there is $C(\partial\Omega, \|g\|_{3,1})$ such that

$$\tilde{u}|_{\partial\Omega} \le \sum_{1 < j \le n} a_{1j} x_1 x_j + C\left(\sum_{1 < \beta < n} x_\beta^2 + |x|^4\right),$$

for some constants a_{1j} , $1 < j \le n$.

Consider a barrier function h defined by

$$h = -ax_n + b|x|^2 + \frac{1}{2B} \sum_{1 < j \le n} (a_{1j}x_1 + Bx_j)^2,$$

where constants a, b, and B will be determined below. Denoting the $k \times k$

identity matrix by I_k , we see that

$$D^{2}h = 2bI_{n} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{B}(a_{12}^{2} + \dots + a_{1n}^{2}) & a_{12} & \dots & a_{1n} \\ a_{12} & & & \\ \vdots & & BI_{n-1} \\ a_{1n} & & & \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\sim \begin{pmatrix} 2b + (\frac{1}{B} - \frac{1}{2b+B})(a_{12}^{2} + \dots + a_{1n}^{2}) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ a_{12} & & & \\ \vdots & & (2b+B)I_{n-1} \\ a_{1n} & & & \end{pmatrix}$$

and thus det $D^2h = (2b+B)^{n-1}2b\left(1+\frac{1}{B(B+2b)}(a_{12}^2+\cdots+a_{1n}^2)\right)$. First, we take a constant B = B(C) such that

$$\sum_{1 < j \le n} a_{1j} x_1 x_j + C \left(\sum_{1 < \beta < n} x_\beta^2 + |x|^4 \right) \le \frac{1}{2B} \sum_{1 < j \le n} (a_{1j} x_1 + B x_j)^2 \quad \text{on } \partial\Omega.$$

Then, choose small $b = b(\partial \Omega, \|g\|_{3,1}, \nu) > 0$ such that

$$(\det D^2 h)^{\frac{1}{n}} < \nu \le \partial_t u + f(x, t, u, Du) = \partial_t \tilde{u} + \tilde{f}(x, t, \tilde{u}, D\tilde{u}) = (\det D^2 \tilde{u})^{\frac{1}{n}}$$

in $\Omega \times \{t_0\}$, where ν is the positive constant in Lemma 5.3.3. Since Ω is strictly convex, there is a small positive constant $a = a(b, \partial\Omega) = a(\partial\Omega, ||g||_{3,1}, \nu)$ such that $-ax_n + b|x|^2 > 0$ for $x \in \partial\Omega$ and therefore we have

$$\tilde{u} \leq h \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega.$$

From the maximum principle, $\tilde{u} \leq h$ in $\Omega \times \{t_0\}$ and $\tilde{u}(0, t_0) = h(0, t_0) = 0$. By taking a derivative with respect to x_n , we have $-\tilde{u}_n \geq -h_n = a > 0$ at $(0, t_0)$. This completes the proof.

In the next lemma, we shall estimate the mixed derivative $u_{\alpha n}(0, t_0)$ for $\alpha = 1, 2, \dots, n-1$.

Lemma 5.3.12. Let u be a solution of (PMA) and assume (A1), (A2), (A4), and (A5). Then we have

$$|\partial_{n\alpha}u(0,t_0)| \le C \quad for \ 1 \le \alpha \le n-1,$$

where the constant $C = C(\partial \Omega, ||u||_1, ||f||_2^*, ||g||_3, \nu).$

Proof. Let us consider the vector field

$$T_{\alpha} = \partial_{\alpha} + \sum_{\beta < n} B_{\alpha\beta} (x_{\beta} \partial_n - x_n \partial_{\beta})$$

and the linearized operators

$$\mathcal{L}_u = -\partial_t + rac{F}{n} u^{ij} \partial_i \partial_j, \quad \mathcal{L}_0 = \mathcal{L}_u - f_{p_i} \partial_i,$$

where u^{ij} denotes (i, j) component of inverse matrix of D^2u . Recall that u - g = 0 in $U' \times [0, t_0]$, where U' is the neighborhood of 0' introduced at the beginning of this subsection. Differentiating this with respect to u - g and recalling (5.3.16), we obtain that

$$0 = D_{\alpha}(u-g) = (\partial_{\alpha} + \rho_{\alpha}\partial_{n})(u-g)$$
$$= \left(\partial_{\alpha} + \sum_{\beta=1}^{n-1} B_{\alpha\beta}x_{\beta}\partial_{n}\right)(u-g) + O(|x'|^{2})$$
$$= T_{\alpha}(u-g) + O(|x'|^{2}) \quad \text{in } U' \times [0, t_{0}].$$

Thus, we have

$$|T_{\alpha}(u-g)| \le C_1 |x'|^2$$
 in $U' \times [0, t_0]$ (5.3.23)

for some $C_1 = C_1(\partial \Omega)$. On the other hand, by a direct computation (or using

that our operator is invariant under the rotations), we can get

$$\mathcal{L}_{u}(T_{\alpha}u) = T_{\alpha}(\mathcal{L}_{u}u) = T_{\alpha}f(x, t, u, Du) \leq f_{p_{i}}T_{\alpha}u_{i} + C(\partial\Omega, ||f||_{1}^{*}, ||u||_{1}),$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}(T_{\alpha}g) \geq -C(\partial\Omega, ||f||_{1}^{*}, ||g||_{3}) - C(\partial\Omega, n, ||f||_{2}^{*}, ||g||_{3}) \sum u^{ii},$$

which yields

$$\mathcal{L}_0(T_\alpha(u-g)) \le C_2 \left(1 + \sum u^{ii}\right) \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_{t_0}, \tag{5.3.24}$$

Cwhere $_{2} = C_{2}(\partial \Omega, \|f\|_{2}^{*}, \|g\|_{3}, \|u\|_{1}).$

Next, we shall construct a barrier function for $T_{\alpha}(u-g)$ in $\Omega^{\delta} \times [0, t_0]$, where $\Omega^{\delta} := \{|x| < \delta\} \cap \Omega$. In order to do this, we use

$$w(x', x_n) = x_n - \frac{1}{2} B_{\alpha\beta} x_{\alpha} x_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} M x_n^2 + \frac{1}{4} \mu |x'|^2,$$

where μ denotes the minimum eigenvalue of the matrix $B_{\alpha\beta}$ and M will be determined later. We start with estimates on the lateral boundary of $\Omega^{\delta} \times [0, t_0]$. On $(\partial \Omega^{\delta} \cap \partial \Omega) \times [0, t_0]$, by (5.3.16),

$$w = \frac{1}{4}\mu|x'|^2 - \frac{1}{2}Mx_n^2 + O(|x'|^3) \ge \frac{1}{4}\mu|x'|^2 - C_3|x'|^3, \quad \text{for } C_3 = C_3(\Omega, M) > 0$$

If $\delta \leq \frac{\mu}{8C_3}$, we have

$$w \ge \frac{1}{8} |x'|^2$$
 on $(\partial \Omega_{\delta} \cap \partial \Omega) \times [0, t_0].$ (5.3.25)

On $K_1 \times [0, t_0]$, where $K_1 := \partial \Omega^{\delta} \cap \Omega \cap \{\frac{1}{4}\mu |x'|^2 \ge M x_n^2\}$, using $x_n > \rho(x')$ and (5.3.16), we see that

$$w \ge \rho - \frac{1}{2} B_{\alpha\beta} x_{\alpha} x_{\beta} - \frac{1}{2} M x_n^2 + \frac{1}{4} \mu |x'|^2 = -\frac{1}{2} M x_n^2 + \frac{1}{4} \mu |x'|^2 + O(|x'|^3)$$

$$\ge -C_4 |x'|^3 + \frac{1}{8} \mu |x'|^2,$$

for some $C_4 = C_4(\partial \Omega)$. If $\delta \leq \frac{\mu}{16C_4}$, we have

$$w \ge \frac{1}{16}\mu |x'|^2 \ge \frac{M\mu}{4(\mu + 4M)}\delta^2$$
 on $K_1 \times [0, t_0].$ (5.3.26)

Finally, on $K_2 \times [0, t_0]$, where $K_2 := \partial \Omega^{\delta} \cap \Omega \cap \{\frac{1}{4}\mu |x'|^2 \leq Mx_n^2\}$, using $x_n \geq \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{(4M+\mu)}}\delta$, we see that

$$w \ge \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{4M+\mu}}\delta - C_5(\Omega, M, \mu)\delta^2.$$

If $\delta \leq \frac{1}{2C_5} \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{(4M+\mu)}}$, we have

$$w \ge C_5 \delta^2$$
 on $K_2 \times [0, t_0].$ (5.3.27)

From (5.3.23), (5.3.25), (5.3.26), and (5.3.27), it is immediate that if we take sufficiently small constant $\delta > 0$ and a constant A > 0 such that $\delta < \min\left(\frac{\mu}{8C_3}, \frac{\mu}{16C_4}, \frac{1}{2C_5}\sqrt{\frac{\mu}{(4M+\mu)}}\right)$ and $A > C_1/\min\left(1/8, \frac{M\mu}{4(\mu+4M)}, C_5\right)$, then

$$Aw \pm T_{\alpha}(u-g) \ge 0$$
 on $\partial \Omega^{\delta} \times [0, t_0].$

Our next task is to show that

$$\mathcal{L}_0(Aw \pm T_\alpha(u-g)) \le 0 \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega^\delta \times (0, t_0]. \tag{5.3.28}$$

Indeed, from the definition of w and μ , we calculate that

$$\mathcal{L}_u w = \frac{F}{n} u^{ij} \left(-B_{ij} - M\delta_{in}\delta_{jn} + \frac{\mu}{2}\delta_{ij} \right) \le -\frac{F}{2n} \mu \sum_{i < n} u^{ii} - \frac{F}{n} M u^{nn}.$$

Using the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality, we have

$$\frac{F}{4n}\mu\sum_{i< n}u^{ii} + \frac{F}{2n}Mu^{nn} \ge \frac{\mu^{(n-1)/n}}{4}(2M)^{1/n},$$

and then we see that if $M \ge \mu/2$,

$$\mathcal{L}_u w \le -\frac{F}{4n} \mu \sum_{i < n} u^{ii} - \frac{F}{2n} M u^{nn} - \frac{\mu^{(n-1)/n}}{4} (2M)^{1/n} \le -\frac{F}{4n} \mu \sum u^{ii} - \frac{\mu^{(n-1)/n}}{4} (2M)^{1/n}.$$

Therefore, by the definition of \mathcal{L}_0 and w,

$$\mathcal{L}_0 w \le -\frac{F}{4n} \mu \sum u^{ii} - \frac{\mu^{(n-1)/n}}{4} (2M)^{1/n} + C_6 (1+M\delta) \quad \text{in } \Omega^{\delta},$$

for some $C_6 = C_6(||f||_1^*, \partial\Omega)$. If we choose M so that $\frac{\mu^{(n-1)/n}}{4}(2M)^{1/n} \geq 2C_6 + 1$ and for this M we take δ so that $M\delta \leq 1$, then we have

$$\mathcal{L}_0 w \le -\frac{F}{4n} \mu \sum u^{ii} - 1 \le -C_7 \left(1 + \sum u^{ii}\right),$$

for some $C_7 = C_7(\nu, M)$, by (5.3.5). By choosing $A \ge C_2/C_7$ and recalling (5.3.24), we have the desired result, (5.3.28).

In order to finish the proof, we need to prove that

$$Aw \pm T_{\alpha}(u-g) \ge 0 \quad \text{on} \quad \Omega^{\delta} \times \{0\}.$$

Since u - g = 0 on $\Omega \times \{0\}$, we obtain $T_{\alpha}(u - g) = 0$ on $\Omega \times \{0\}$. Now it suffices to show that $w \ge 0$ in Ω^{δ} , which follows from the maximum principle to w in Ω^{δ} since $w \ge 0$ on $\partial \Omega^{\delta}$ and $\frac{F}{n} u^{ij} \partial_{ij} w < 0$ in Ω^{δ} .

From the comparison principle, we have

$$|T_{\alpha}(u-g)| \leq Aw$$
 in $\overline{\Omega^{\delta}} \times [0, t_0].$

Using this and $T_{\alpha}(u-g)(0,t_0) = w(0,t_0) = 0$, we conclude that

$$\left|\partial_n T_\alpha(u-g)\right| \le A \partial_n w = A \quad \text{at} \quad (0, t_0),$$
which implies

$$|\partial_{n\alpha}u(0,t_0)| \le C(\partial\Omega, ||u||_1, ||f||_2^*, ||g||_3, \nu)$$
 for $1 \le \alpha \le n-1$.

This completes the proof.

The last lemma in this section is bound for $u_{nn}(0, t_0)$.

Lemma 5.3.13. Let u be a solution of (PMA) and assume (A1), (A2), (A4), and (A5). Then we have

$$\left|\partial_{nn}u(0,t_0)\right| \le C$$

where the constant $C = (\partial \Omega, \|u\|_1, \|f\|_2^*, \|g\|_{3,1}, \nu, \|F\|_0).$

Proof. Denoting the cofactor of u_{ij} by A^{ij} , we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{n} A^{ni} u_{in} = \det D^2 u = (f + u_t)^n,$$

and

$$|A^{nn}u_{nn}| \le (f+u_t)^n + \sum_{i \ne n} |A^{ni}u_{in}| \quad \text{at } (0,t_0).$$
(5.3.29)

From Lemma 5.3.11, we see that $A^{nn}(0, t_0)$ has a uniform positive lower bound. By (5.3.5), the first term in the right hand side of (5.3.29) is uniformly bounded (see also the remark at the beginning of the proof of Proposition 5.3.8). Moreover, Lemma 5.3.10 and Lemma 5.3.12 gives the uniform upper bound for the second term of the right hand side of (5.3.29). This completes the proof.

5.3.4 The optimal regularity of the obstacle problem

The results of the previous subsections read as follows:

Theorem 5.3.14. Let $u^{\varepsilon} \in C^3(\overline{\Omega_T}) \cap C^4(\Omega_T)$ be a solution of (PMAo_{ϵ}) . Assume that (A1)-(A5). Then

$$\|u^{\varepsilon}\|_{1,1} \le C,$$

where the constant C depends on $||g||_{3,1}$, $||f||_2^*$, $||\phi||_{2,1}$, $||\underline{u}||_2$, Ω_T , and n, and is independent of ε .

We also have the higher order estimates.

Proposition 5.3.15. Let $u \in C^{k+1}(\overline{\Omega_T}) \cap C^{k+2}(\Omega_T)$ be a solution of $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$. Assume that (A1)-(A5). Then we have for $0 < \alpha < 1$,

$$\|u\|_{k,\alpha} \leq C_{\varepsilon},$$

where the constant C_{ε} depends on ε , $\|g\|_{k+1,1}$, $\|f\|_{k,1}^*$, $\|\phi\|_{k,1}$, $\|\underline{u}\|_2$, Ω_T , and n.

Sketch of proof. From Krylov-Safonov's estimate in [51], we may obtain the Hölder regularity of $\partial_t u$ as in Step 1 of [70, Theorem 2.1]. Observe that our equation is

$$\left(\det D^2 u\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = f + u_t - \beta_\delta(\phi - u).$$

Since $(\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}}$ is a concave operator, we have a space Hölder estimate by Evans-Krylov theory (see [29] and [50]). Now the Hölder estimate for $D^2 u$ in t follows from the same argument as in Step 2 of [70, Theorem 2.1]. By standard Schauder theory, we have the desired result.

Using the method of continuity and the a priori estimates which have been shown above, we can prove the existence of solutions to $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$ having uniform $C^{1,1}$ bound.

Lemma 5.3.16. Assume that (A1)-(A5). There exists a unique solution $u^{\varepsilon} \in$

 $C^3(\overline{\Omega_T}) \cap C^4(\Omega_T)$ of (PMAo_e) for each $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ satisfying

$$u^{\varepsilon} \geq \underline{u} \text{ in } \overline{\Omega_T} \text{ and } \|u^{\varepsilon}\|_2 \leq C,$$

where the constant C is independent of ε .

Proof. The uniqueness assertion follows from the comparison principle since $f_z \ge 0$. We prove the existence assertion in two cases.

Case 1. Assume that $\underline{u} \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_T})$. Let us define

$$\underline{f} = -\underline{u}_t + (\det D^2 \underline{u})^{\frac{1}{n}},$$

and $f^{\varepsilon}(x, t, z, p) = f(x, t, z, p) - \beta_{\delta}(\phi - z)$. Since \underline{u} is a subsolution of (PMA), we know that $\underline{f} \geq f(\cdot, \underline{u}, D\underline{u}) \geq \mu_1 > 0$. For each $s \in [0, 1]$, we consider the Cauchy-Dirichlet problem

$$-\partial_t u + \left(\det D^2 u\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = sf^{\varepsilon}(x, t, u, Du) + (1 - s)\underline{f}(x, t) \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_T,$$

$$u = g \qquad \qquad \text{on} \quad \partial_p \Omega_T.$$
 (5.3.30)

Let $u \in C^3(\overline{\Omega_T})$ be a solution of (5.3.30) and let \mathcal{B} be the class of solutions v of (5.3.30) such that $v \ge \underline{u}$ in Ω_T . Since \underline{u} is also a subsolution of (5.3.30), it follows from the comparison principle that any strictly convex solution $u \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ satisfies $u \ge \underline{u}$. This gives $u \in \mathcal{B}$, and by the Proposition 5.3.15,

$$||u||_{2,\alpha} \leq C_{\varepsilon}$$
 independent of s.

Hence, it is possible to show, by using the method of continuity, that for each $s \in [0, 1]$, the equation (5.3.30) has a strictly convex solution in $C^3(\overline{\Omega_T})$. As in Proposition 5.3.15, it follows from the standard regularity theory that $u \in C^4(\Omega_T)$.

Case 2. We now consider the case $\underline{u} \in C^2(\overline{\Omega_T})$. Take a sequence of strictly convex functions $\underline{u}_m \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ converging to \underline{u} in $C^2(\overline{\Omega_T})$. Since \underline{u} is a

subsolution of (PMA), we may assume that

$$-\partial_t \underline{u}_m + \left(\det D^2 \underline{u}_m\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \ge (1 - 2^{-m}) f_m(x, t, \underline{u}_m, D\underline{u}_m) \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_T.$$

Setting $g_m = \underline{u}_m |_{\partial_p \Omega_T}$, we consider Cauchy-Dirichlet problem

$$-\partial_t u + \left(\det D^2 u\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = (1 - 2^{-m})f \quad \text{in} \quad \Omega_T,$$

$$u = g_m \qquad \text{on} \quad \partial_p \Omega_T.$$
 (5.3.31)

By the result of Case 1 and the fact that \underline{u}_m is a subsolution of (5.3.31), there exists a strictly convex solution $u_m \in C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ of (5.3.31) satisfying

$$\left\|u_m\right\|_{k,\alpha} \le C(k,\alpha, \left\|\underline{u}\right\|_2)$$

for $k \geq 2$ and $0 < \alpha < 1$. Here the constant $C(k, \alpha, \|\underline{u}\|_2)$ also depends on the other known data. Thus we can extract a subsequence converging to a solution of (PMA) in $C^{\infty}(\overline{\Omega_T})$.

proof of Theorem 5.1.1. We begin with the uniqueness assertion. It was shown in [45] that the comparison principle holds for viscosity subsolutions and supersolutions of equation (5.2.1) if $f_z \ge 0$. Assume that there are two viscosity solutions u_1 and u_2 of (PMAo) with $u_1(x_1, t_1) < u_2(x_1, t_1)$ for some $(x_1, t_1) \in$ Ω_T . Let G be a connected component of $\{(x, t) \in \Omega_T : u_1(x, t) < u_2(x, t)\}$ containing (x_1, t_1) . Since $u_1 < u_2 \le \phi$ in G, it follows that u_1 is a viscosity solution of (5.2.1) in G. On the other hand, u_2 is a viscosity subsolution in G. Then by the maximum principle, we have $u_2 \le u_1$ in G, which is a contradiction.

From the uniform $C^{1,1}$ estimate, we can extract a subsequence u^{ε_k} converging to a function $u \in C^{1,1}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ in $C^{1,\alpha}(\overline{\Omega_T})$ for all $0 < \alpha < 1$. Since $u^{\varepsilon} \geq \underline{u}$ in $\overline{\Omega_T}$ for any ε , we thus have $u \geq \underline{u}$ in $\overline{\Omega_T}$. Moreover, $u \leq \phi$ follows from the uniform boundedness of β_{δ} , Lemma 5.3.1. To finish the proof, it remains to show that u is the viscosity solution of (PMAo), which is a direct consequence of the stability property in [22].

Remark 5.3.17. The solution u has, in fact, $C^{3,\alpha}$ -regularity in the noncoincidence set N(u) as in the same argument in Proposition 5.3.15.

We close this section by giving the proof of Theorem 5.1.2. Since the main part of proof is simpler and similar to that of Theorem 5.1.1, we do not repeat here.

proof of Theorem 5.1.2. Without the penalty term in $(PMAo_{\epsilon})$, we can obtain the same a priori estimates in this section. Moreover, as we explained in the Remark 5.3.6, the assumption (A1) in Theorem 5.1.1 can be removed. Following the proof of Lemma 5.3.16, we have the desired result.

5.4 Regularity of the free boundary

In this section, we study the regularity of the free boundary $\Gamma(u) = \partial N(u) \cap \Omega_T$ of the solution u to (PMAo). Precisely, we discuss the local regularity of the free boundary N(u) at a free boundary point $X_0 = (x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma(u)$. For simplicity, we set $(x_0, t_0) = (0, 0)$ and consider the problem in a neighborhood of (0, 0):

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{P}u \ge f(x,t) & \text{in } Q_r^-, \\ \mathcal{P}u = f(x,t) & \text{in } Q_r^- \cap N(u), \\ u \le \phi & \text{in } Q_r^-, \end{cases}$$
(5.4.1)

with $u(0,0) = \phi(0,0) = 0$, $\nabla u(0,0) = \nabla \phi(0,0) = 0$ by subtracting the affine function $\phi(0) + D\phi(0) \cdot x$, and the obstacle ϕ such that $\partial_t \phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r)$ and $D\phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r)$.

In contrast with the theory for the uniformly elliptic or parabolic fully nonlinear operator in [53, 31, 32, 56], introducing the problem with lower zero obstacle for the Monge-Ampère operator is not appropriate since the modified operator $-\partial_t + G$ (see (5.4.2)) for $F(\mathcal{M}) = \det^{\frac{1}{n}}(\mathcal{M})$ is not the Monge-Ampère operator. Hence, in this section, we deal with the problem (5.4.1) as it is without using the simplified problem with the zero obstacle such as in [53, 9, 31, 32, 56].

First, for a detailed explanation, we briefly introduce the reduced obstacle problem for the uniformly fully nonlinear operator, F. The modified operator is defined as follow:

$$G(\mathcal{M}, x) = -F(-\mathcal{M} + D^2\phi(x)) + F(D^2\phi(x)).$$
(5.4.2)

Then, for the solution u of the obstacle problem for F, $v = \phi - u$ is a solution the *reduced obstacle problem* with the zero obstacle function:

$$-\partial_t v + G(D^2 v, x) = \left(-\partial_t \phi + F(D^2 \phi) - f\right) \chi_{\{v>0\}}, \qquad v \ge 0 \quad \text{in } Q_1^-.$$
(5.4.3)

The operator G is also a uniformly parabolic with the same parabolicity. Hence, to have the regularity of the free boundary, it is enough to discuss the regularity for the reduced problem (5.4.3).

In the case that $F = \det^{\frac{1}{n}}$, G is not the Monge-Ampère operator and defined only in $\{(\mathcal{M}, x) \mid -\mathcal{M} + D^2\phi(x) \geq 0\} \subset \mathcal{S}^{n \times n} \times \mathbb{R}^n$. Hence, to have the regularity theory of the free boundary with the operator $-\partial_t + G$, additional mathematical justification is needed to apply general theories (like maximum principle or regularity theory) to the solution u of PDEs with the operator G although (D^2v, x) is exactly in the subspace. Therefore, instead of G and the reduced form (5.4.3), in this section, we deal with the original problem (5.4.1).

We note that the linearized operator

$$\mathcal{L}_u := -\partial_t + F_{ij}(D^2 u) \cdot \partial_{ij}$$

of $\mathcal{P} := -\partial_t + F(\mathcal{M})$, where $F(\mathcal{M}) = (\det \mathcal{M})^{\frac{1}{n}}$ and

$$F_{ij}(D^2u) \cdot \mathcal{M} = \frac{1}{n} F(D^2u) tr((D^2u)^{-1}\mathcal{M})$$

is used throughout this section. Since $F_{ij}(D^2u)$ depends on D^2u , \mathcal{L}_u is an operator with continuous coefficient only on N(u). By the optimal regularity

of the solution, Theorem 5.1.1, we know that D^2u and $\partial_t u$ are bounded and moreover, by Lemma 5.3.3 and the convergence of u^{ϵ} to u, we know that

$$(\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}} \ge f + \partial_t u \ge \nu > 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega_T,$$

and the eigenvalues of u also have a lower bound. Therefore, \mathcal{L}_u is uniformly parabolic in N(u).

In Subsection 5.4.1, we discuss rescalings, blowup functions, and the thickness of $\Lambda(u)$ for the solution u of (5.4.1) and define the solution spaces of the local and global solutions. We note that since it is needed to consider the global solution with the uniform thickness assumption, we introduce a class of global solution including the global solution of the obstacle problem for Monge-Ampère equation, (5.4.1) in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$.

In Subsection 5.4.2, the non-degeneracy of $u \in P_1(M)$ is proved by using (5.4.4) and it is discussed that the blowup function u_0 of $u \in P_1(M)$ is a solution of the global solution, $u_0 \in P_{\infty}(M)$.

In Subsections 5.4.3 and 5.4.4, we will discuss the classification of the global solutions and the directional monotonicity of the local solutions, respectively. We note that since the linearized operator \mathcal{L}_u depends on $D^2 u$, in the proof of the classification of the global solutions and the directional monotonicity, we will carefully deal with the case that the \mathcal{L}_u applied on the functions such as $\partial_t \phi$, $\partial_e \phi$, and $\partial_{ee} \phi$.

Finally, in Subsection 5.4.5, we prove the regularity of the free boundary $\Gamma(u) = \partial \Omega(u) \cap Q_1^-$.

5.4.1 Preliminaries

The rescalings of the solution u of (5.4.1) and ϕ at 0 with $u(0,0) = \phi(0,0) = 0$ and $\nabla u(0,0) = \nabla \phi(0,0) = 0$ for r > 0 are

$$u_r(X) := \frac{u(rx, r^2t)}{r^2}$$
 and $\phi_r(X) := \frac{\phi(rx, r^2t)}{r^2}, \quad X \in Q^-_{1/r}$

By the $W^{2,1}_{\infty}$ -regularity of solution u (Theorem 5.1.1), $W^{2,1}_{\infty}$ -norm of the rescalings u_r are uniformly bounded. Then, we can extract a limit function which is called a blowup. Specifically, for the solution u of (5.4.1), there exists a sequence r_i and $u_0 \in W^{2,1}_{\infty,loc}(\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0])$ such that

$$u_{r_i} \to u_0$$
 in $W^{2,1}_{p,loc}(\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0])$, for any $n .$

The limt function u_0 is called a *blowup of u at* 0.

Definition 5.4.1. We denote by $\delta_r(u, X_0)$ the thickness of $\Lambda(u)$ on $B_r(x^0) \times \{t^0 - r^2\}$, i.e.,

$$\delta_r(u, X^0) := \frac{\operatorname{MD}\left(\Lambda(u) \cap \left(B_r(x^0) \times \{t^0 - r^2\}\right)\right)}{r},$$

where MD(A) is the least distance between two parallel hyperplanes containing $A \subset \mathbb{R}^n$. We will use the abbreviation $\delta_r(u)$ for $\delta_r(u, 0)$.

For the convenience of statement, we define a class of local solutions to the problem (5.4.1).

Definition 5.4.2. (Local solutions) The class of local solutions $P_r(M)$ ($0 < r < \infty$) consists of all solutions u of (5.4.1) satisfying:

- (i) $\|\partial_t u\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} + \|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} \le M$,
- (ii) $0 \in \partial N(u)$,

with
$$f(0) = 1, f \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r), \partial_t \phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r)$$
, and $D\phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r)$.

In order to have the classification of global solutions, it is needed to consider global solutions with the uniform thickness assumption, (5.1.4). On the other hand, we know that non-degeneracy of $u \in P_1(M)$ and the uniform thickness assumption on u imply that the blowup function u_0 of u satisfies the uniform thickness condition,

$$\delta_r(u_0, X) \ge \epsilon_0 \quad \text{ for all } r > 0, X \in Q^-_{1/2} \cap \partial N_{u_0},$$

where $N_{u_0} = \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0] \setminus \Lambda_{u_0}$,

$$\Lambda_{u_0} := \limsup_{r_j \to \infty} \{ u_{r_j} = \phi_{r_j} \} \subset \{ u_0 = \phi_0 \},$$

and $\limsup_{j\to\infty} A_j$ is the set of all limit points of sequences $(x_{j_k}, t_{j_k}) \in A_{j_k}$, see subsection 5.2 of [9] and subsection 6.2 of [57]. Hence, we define the global solution as follows:

Definition 5.4.3. (Global solutions) The class of global solutions $P_{\infty}(M)$ consists of all solutions u of

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{P}u \ge 1 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0], \\ \mathcal{P}u = 1 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0] \cap N_u \\ u \le \phi & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0], \end{cases}$$

with the obstacle ϕ which satisfying:

- (i) $\|\partial_t u\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0])} + \|D^2 u\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0])} \le M$,
- (ii) $0 \in \partial N_u$,
- (iii) $\mathcal{P}\phi = a > 1$ and $\partial_t \phi$ and $D^2 \phi$ are constants,

where N_u is an open set such that $N_u \supset \{u < \phi\}$ and $\Lambda_u = \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0] \setminus N_u$.

Remark 5.4.4. We note that for $u \in P_{\infty}(M)$, $\mathcal{P}u = \mathcal{P}\phi = a > 1$ a.e. in $\{u = \phi\}$. Hence, $\mathcal{P}u = 1$ in N_u implies $|\{u = \phi\} \setminus \Lambda_u| = |\{u = \phi\} \cap N_u| = 0$.

We note that in the definition of $P_1(M)$, $\partial_t \phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r)$ and $D\phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(Q^-_r)$ are assumed. Hence, $\phi \in C^2(Q^-_r)$ and by Taylor expansion, ϕ_0 is a homogeneous polynomial with homogeneity 1 for t and 2 for x, where ϕ_0 is the blowup of ϕ at 0. Especially, we know that $\partial_t \phi_0$ and $D^2 \phi_0$ are constant in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$. Therefore, it is assumed that $\partial_t \phi$ and $D^2 \phi$ are constants in the definition for the space of global solutions $P_{\infty}(M)$, where ϕ is the obstacle function.

5.4.2 Basic results

Now we prove the non-degeneracy by using the linearized operator \mathcal{L}_u and (5.4.4) below. The non-degeneracy implies that the blowup of $\phi - u$ at a free boundary point is not the zero function and the fact that the Lebesgue measure of the free boundary is zero.

By the concavity of \mathcal{P} , we have that

$$\mathcal{L}_{u}(\phi - u) \ge \mathcal{P}\phi - \mathcal{P}u = \mathcal{P}\phi - f \quad \text{in } N(u).$$
(5.4.4)

Indeed, from the definition of operators, $\mathcal{P}u = \mathcal{L}_u u = f$ in N(u) and moreover, the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality gives

$$\mathcal{P}\phi \leq \mathcal{L}_u\phi$$
 in Ω_T .

Precisely, by the inequality, we have

$$F(D^{2}u)^{-1}F(D^{2}\phi) = \left(\det\left((D^{2}u)^{-1}D^{2}\phi\right)\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \le \frac{1}{n}\operatorname{tr}\left((D^{2}u)^{-1}D^{2}\phi\right)$$

and

$$\mathcal{P}\phi = -\partial_t \phi + F(D^2\phi) \le -\partial_t \phi + \frac{1}{n} F(D^2u) \operatorname{tr} \left((D^2u)^{-1} D^2\phi \right) = \mathcal{L}_u \phi \quad \text{in } \Omega_T.$$

For $u \in P_1(M)$, by Lemma 5.3.3 and the convergence of u^{ϵ} to u, we know that

$$F(D^2 u) = (\det D^2 u)^{\frac{1}{n}} \ge f + \partial_t u \ge \nu > 0 \qquad \text{in } \Omega_T,$$

and the eigenvalues of $D^2 u$ have upper and lower bounds, i.e. there is $\epsilon_0 = \epsilon_0(M, \nu) > 0$ such that $\epsilon_0 I \leq D^2 u \leq \frac{1}{\epsilon_0} I$.

Lemma 5.4.5 (Non-degeneracy). Let $u \in P_1(M)$. If $\mathcal{P}\phi \ge f + c$ in Q_1^- for some positive constant c, then

$$\sup_{X \in Q_r^-(X_0)} (\phi(X) - u(X)) \ge \phi(X_0) - u(X_0) + 2\alpha r^2, \quad X_0 \in N(u) \cap Q_1^-,$$

for any $Q_r^-(X_0) \subset Q_1^-$, where $\alpha := \frac{c}{(1+2(\mu_2+M)/\epsilon_0)}$.

Proof. Let $v = \phi - u$ and $X_0 \in N(u) = \{u < \phi\} \cap Q_1^- = \{v > 0\} \cap Q_1^-$ and define an auxiliary function

$$w(x,t) = v(x,t) - v(x_0,t_0) - \alpha \left(|x - x_0|^2 - (t - t_0) \right).$$

Recalling (5.3.2), we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{u}\left(|x-x_{0}|^{2}-(t-t_{0})\right) = 1 + \frac{2}{n}F(D^{2}u)tr((D^{2}u)^{-1}) \leq 1 + \frac{2}{\epsilon_{0}}(f+\partial_{t}u)$$
$$\leq 1 + \frac{2}{\epsilon_{0}}(\mu_{2}+M) = \frac{c}{\alpha}.$$
(5.4.5)

Then, the inequality (5.4.4) implies

$$\mathcal{L}_u w \ge \mathcal{L}_u(\phi - u) - c \ge \mathcal{P}\phi - f - c \ge 0 \quad \text{in } Q_r^-(X_0).$$

Since $w(X_0) = 0$ and $w(X) \le 0$ on $\partial \{v > 0\} \cap Q_r^-(X_0)$, by the maximum principle, we have

$$w(X_0) = 0 \le \sup_{\{v>0\} \cap \partial_p Q_r^-(X_0)} w$$

and the desired inequality holds for $X_0 \in N(u) \cap Q_1^-$.

For $X_0 \in \partial N(u) \cap Q_1^-$, we will take a sequence of points $X^j \in N(u)$ such that $X^j \to X_0$ as $j \to \infty$. By passing to the limit as j goes to ∞ , we have the desired inequality for $X_0 \in \overline{N(u)} \cap Q_1^-$.

Lemma 5.4.6. Let $u \in P_1(M)$ with the obstacle function ϕ such that $\mathcal{P}\phi \geq f + c$ in Q_1^- , for some positive constant c. Then any blowup u_0 at 0 is in $P_{\infty}(M)$.

Proof. Let u_{r_i} be a sequence of the rescalings converging to a blowup u_0 . The

rescaling u_{r_i} satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \mathcal{P}u_{r_{i}} \geq f(r_{i}x, r_{i}^{2}t) & \text{in } Q_{1/r_{i}}^{-}, \\ \mathcal{P}u_{r_{i}} = f(r_{i}x, r_{i}^{2}t) & \text{in } Q_{1/r_{i}}^{-} \cap N(u_{r_{i}}), \\ u_{r_{i}} \leq \phi_{r_{i}} & \text{in } Q_{1/r_{i}}^{-}, \end{cases}$$
(5.4.6)

Take a point X_0 in N_{u_0} , where $N_{u_0} = \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0] \setminus \Lambda_{u_0}$ and $\Lambda_{u_0} = \lim \sup_{r_j \to \infty} \{u_{r_j} = \phi_{r_j}\}$. Then, there exist $\delta > 0$ and i_0 such that $Q_{\delta}^-(X_0) \subset \{u_{r_i} < \phi_{r_i}\}$ for all $i \ge i_0$ and

$$\mathcal{P}u_{r_i}(x,t) = -\partial_t u_{r_i}(x,t) + (\det D^2 u_{r_i}(x,t))^{\frac{1}{n}}$$

= $-\partial_t u(r_i x, r_i^2 t) + (\det D^2 u(r_i x, r_i^2 t))^{\frac{1}{n}}$
= $f(r_i x, r_i^2 t)$ in $Q_{\delta}^-(X_0)$.

By the interior uniform $C^{2,\alpha}$ bound, we may assume strong convergence of u_{r_i} to u_0 in $C^{2,\beta}(Q_{\delta}^-(X_0))$, for some $0 < \beta < \alpha$. Thus, we have that

$$-\partial_t u_0(X) + (\det D^2 u_0(X))^{\frac{1}{n}} = f(0) = 1 \quad \text{in } Q_\delta^-(X_0)$$

and

$$-\partial_t u_0(X) + F(D^2 u_0(X)) = 1 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0] \cap N_{u_0}$$

Moreover, we obtain $0 \in \partial N_{u_0}$ by using the non-degeneracy. Therefore, u_0 is in $P_{\infty}(M)$.

5.4.3 Classification of the blowup

In this subsection, we will prove that any global solution $u \in P_{\infty}(M)$ with the uniform thickness assumption (5.1.4) are of the form

$$v = \phi - u = \frac{c}{2} (x_n^+)^2$$
 in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$.

For the first step, in Proposition 5.4.7 below, we show that $\partial_t v \leq 0$ in

 $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$ by using the method which is introduced by [9] for the reduced problem (5.4.3) with the heat operator.

In the proof of Proposition 5.4.7, we define limit functions u_0 and ϕ_0 of the rescalings, u_j and ϕ_j , (5.4.7), respectively, such that $\mathcal{P}u_0 = 1$ in $N_{u_0} \cup Q_1^-$. Then, $\partial_t(\mathcal{P}u_0) = \mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t u_0 = 0$ in $N_{u_0} \cup Q_1^-$. By the fact that $\partial_t \phi$ is constant, $\partial_t \phi_0$ is also constant, $\mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t \phi_0 \equiv 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$, and

$$\mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t v_0 = \mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t \phi_0 - \mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t u_0 = 0 \quad \text{in } N_{u_0} \cup Q_1^-(0,0).$$

Thus, we could utilize the maximum principle to $\partial_t v_0$ and have the result of the proposition.

Proposition 5.4.7. Let $u \in P_{\infty}(M)$. Then,

$$\partial_t v(x,t) \le 0$$
 in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0]$.

Proof. Since $u \in P_{\infty}(M)$, the function $\partial_t v$ is globally bounded. Suppose that

$$m:=\sup_{\mathbb{R}^n\times(-\infty,0]}\partial_t v>0$$

and let (x_j, t_j) be a sequence such that

$$\partial_t v(x_j, t_j) \to m = \lim_{j \to \infty} \partial_t v(x, t) > 0.$$

We denote d_j by the supremum of r such that $Q_r^-(x_j, t_j)$ is contained in $N_u \supset N(u) = \{u < \phi\}$. Let $(y_j, s_j) \in \partial_p Q_{d_j}^-(x_j, t_j) \cap \Gamma(u), (\tilde{y}_j, \tilde{s}_j) := \left(\frac{y_j - x_j}{d_j}, \frac{s_j - t_j}{d_j^2}\right)$,

$$u_j(x,t) := \frac{u(d_j x + x_j, d_j^2 t + t_j)}{d_j^2}, \quad \phi_j(x,t) := \frac{\phi(d_j x + x_j, d_j^2 t + t_j)}{d_j^2}, \quad (5.4.7)$$

and

$$v_j := \phi_j - u_j.$$

Since $(y_j, s_j) \in \partial N_u$, $u(y_j, s_j) = \phi(y_j, s_j)$, and $\nabla u(y_j, s_j) = \nabla \phi(y_j, s_j)$,

we have that $u_j \leq \phi_j$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$,

$$u_j(\tilde{y}_j, \tilde{s}_j) = \phi_j(\tilde{y}_j, \tilde{s}_j), \quad \nabla u_j(\tilde{y}_j, \tilde{s}_j) = \nabla \phi_j(\tilde{y}_j, \tilde{s}_j),$$

and

$$\left\| D^2 u_j \right\|_{L^{\infty}} + \left\| \partial_t u_j \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \le M.$$

Furthermore, $Q_1^- \subset N_{u_j}$, $\mathcal{P}u_j = 1$ in $N_{u_j} \cup Q_1^-$ and $(\tilde{y}_j, \tilde{s}_j) \in \partial_p Q_1^- \cap \partial N_{u_j}$, where $N_{u_j} := \{(y, s) \mid (d_j y + x_j, d_j^2 s + t_j) \in N_u\}$ such that $N_{u_j} \supset \{u_j < \phi_j\}$.

Hence, u_j and ϕ_j have at most quadratic growth at infinity and we can extract subsequence of u_j converging to global solutions u_0 such that

$$\mathcal{P}u_0 = 1 \text{ in } N_{u_0} \cup Q_1^-, \quad \partial_t v_0 \le m \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0], \quad \text{ and } \quad \partial_t v_0(0, 0) = m,$$

where $v_0 := \phi_0 - u_0$.

Since $\partial_t \phi$ is constant, $\partial_t \phi_0$ is also constant and $\mathcal{L}_{u_0} \partial_t \phi_0 \equiv 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$. Thus, $\partial_t(\mathcal{P}u_0) = \mathcal{L}_{u_0} \partial_t u_0 = 0$ in $N_{u_0} \cup Q_1^-$ implies

$$\mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t v_0 = \mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t \phi_0 - \mathcal{L}_{u_0}\partial_t u_0 = 0 \quad \text{in } N_{u_0} \cup Q_1^-(0,0).$$

Since \mathcal{L}_{u_0} is uniformly parabolic, by the maximum principle, $\partial_t v_0 \equiv m$ in Q_1^- . Furthermore, by the same method, we have that $\partial_t v_0 \equiv m$ in the connected component $\tilde{\Omega}(u_0)$ of $Q_1^- \cup N_{u_0}$, which containing Q_1^- and there is a point $(\tilde{y}_0, \tilde{s}_0) \in \partial_p Q_1^- \cap \partial N_{u_0}$.

Then,

$$v_0(x,t) = mt + f(x)$$
 in $(B_1 \times \mathbb{R}^-) \cap \Omega(u_0)$,

where $f(x) := v_0(x, 0) \ge 0$ and $\mathbb{R}^- := (-\infty, 0]$

Then, the free boundary $\partial \tilde{\Omega}(u_0)$ is represented by t(x) = -f(x)/m in $B_1 \times \mathbb{R}^-$. Since

$$\nabla v_0 = \nabla f(x) \quad \text{in } \{(x,t) \mid t > t(x)\} \cap (B_1 \times \mathbb{R}^-),$$

$$\nabla v_0 = 0 \quad \text{on } \{(x,t) \mid t = t(x)\} \cap (B_1 \times \mathbb{R}^-),$$

and ∇v_0 is continuous in $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^-$, we know that $\nabla f(x) = 0$ in B_1 . Hence

 $v_0(x,t) = mt + c_0$ and $u_0(x,t) = -mt + \phi_0 - c_0$ in $\{(x,t) \mid t > t(x)\} \cap (B_1 \times \mathbb{R}^-)$,

for a nonnegative constant c_0 .

Since $\mathcal{P}\phi_0 = a > 1$,

$$\mathcal{P}u_0 = m + \mathcal{P}\phi_0 > 1$$
 in $\{(x,t) \mid t < t(x)\} \cap (B_1 \times \mathbb{R}^-) \subset N_{u_0}$

and we have a contradiction.

By using an argument in [57] with rescaled functions such as (5.4.7), we could have that $\partial_t v \geq 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$. This together with Proposition 5.4.7 implies $\partial_t v \equiv 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$ and then the results for the elliptic case which is discussed in [54] implies the classification of the global solutions, see the comment prior to Proposition 5.4.8.

Precisely, by $\partial_t v \equiv 0$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$, we know that the free boundary ∂N_u is time-invariant and $\partial_t u = \partial_t \phi$ is constant in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$. Hence, for the classification of the global solution, it is enough to consider the classification for the elliptic obstacle problem:

$$\begin{cases} \left(\det D^{2}\tilde{u}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} \geq \partial_{t}u(0,0) + 1 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{n}, \\ \left(\det D^{2}\tilde{u}\right)^{\frac{1}{n}} = \partial_{t}u(0,0) + 1 & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{n} \cap N(\tilde{u}), \\ \tilde{u} \leq \tilde{\phi} & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^{n}, \end{cases}$$
(5.4.8)

where $\tilde{u} := u - \partial_t u(0,0)t$, $\tilde{\phi} := \phi - \partial_t u(0,0)t = \phi - \partial_t \phi(0,0)t$, and $N_{\tilde{u}} := N_u(0)$.

Since the linearized operator $F_{ij}(D^2\tilde{u})M = \frac{1}{n}F(D^2\tilde{u})tr((D^2\tilde{u})^{-1}M)$ is uniformly elliptic, the classification of the global solution for the elliptic problem, (5.4.8), is obtained by the method in [53, 31] with the consideration of the special characteristics of the Monge-Ampère operator, $F(D^2u) =$ $(\det D^2u)^{\frac{1}{n}}$, which is discussed in the introduction of this section.

Indeed, for a solution u to $F(D^2u) = (\det D^2u)^{\frac{1}{n}} = c$ in a domain $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$,

the concavity of F implies

$$F_{ij}(D^2u)D^2u_{ee} \ge 0$$
 in Ω .

On the other hand, since $D^2\phi(x)$ is constant, we have $F_{ij}(D^2u)D^2\phi_{ee} = 0$ and

$$F_{ij}(D^2 u)(D^2(\phi - u)_{ee}) \le 0$$
 in Ω . (5.4.9)

Then, the method in [53, 31] with (5.4.9) to $v = \phi - u$ implies that v is convex and

$$v = \phi - u = c(x_n^+)^2$$
 in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$,

for a global solution u of (5.4.8) with obstacle ϕ .

Proposition 5.4.8. [57] Let $u \in P_{\infty}(M)$ and assume that

$$\delta_r(v, X) > \epsilon_0 \quad \text{for all } r > 0, X \in \partial N_u$$

then,

 $\partial_t v(x,t) \equiv 0 \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0] \quad and \quad v := \phi - u = c(x_n^+)^2 \quad in \ \mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty,0],$

for an appropriate system of coordinates and a positive constant c.

By using Proposition 5.4.8, with the same method as in Lemma 4.1 of [32], we have the following proposition.

Lemma 5.4.9. Let $u \in P_1(M)$ and assume that

$$\delta_r(v, X) > \epsilon_0$$
 for all $r > 0, X \in N(u)$.

Then,

 $\partial_t v(X) \to 0$ as $X \to (x_0, t_0)$

for any $(x_0, t_0) \in \Gamma(u)$.

5.4.4 Directional monotonicity

Now we are ready to prove the directional monotonicity, Proposition 5.4.10. In the proof of the property, we use the $C^{1,\alpha}$ convergence of u_r and ϕ_r to u_0 and ϕ_0 , respectively, Lemma 5.4.9, and the regularity of u, f, and ϕ .

Precisely, for $u \in P_1(M)$ with $u \leq \phi$ in Q_1^- , the rescaling u_r at 0 satisfies (5.4.6) in Q_{1/r_i}^- and u_r converges to the blowup function u_0 in $C^{1,\alpha}(Q_1^-)$. Then we have

$$||u_r - u_0||_{C^{1,\alpha}(Q_1^-)}$$
 and $||\phi_r - \phi_0||_{C^{1,\alpha}(Q_1^-)} \to 0$ as $r \to 0$. (5.4.10)

On the other hand, by Lemma 5.4.9, $0 \in \Gamma(u)$, the optimal $W^{2,1}_{\infty}$ regularity of u, and $\partial_t \phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}$, we have that

$$\|\partial_t (\phi_r - u_r)\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} = \|\partial_t v(rx, r^2 t)\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} = \|\partial_t v\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} \to 0 \quad \text{as } r \to 0.$$
(5.4.11)

Then, by using (5.4.10) and (5.4.11), for a unit vector $\tilde{e} := (e_x, e_t) \in \mathbb{S}^n$ such that $C\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_0 - v_0 \ge 0$ in Q_1^- , we have $C\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r - v_r \ge -\epsilon_0$ in Q_1^- .

Furthermore, since $f \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(\Omega_T)$, $\partial_t \phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(\Omega_T)$, and $D\phi \in W^{2,1}_{\infty}(\Omega_T)$, for $f_r := f(rx, r^2t)$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|\partial_i f_r\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} &= r \,\|\partial_i f\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} &\to 0, \\ \|\partial_t f_r\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} &= r^2 \,\|\partial_t f\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} &\to 0, \\ \|(D^2 + \partial_t)\partial_t \phi_r\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} &= r^2 \,\|D^2 \partial_t \phi + \partial_t \partial_t \phi\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} &\to 0, \\ \|(D^2 + \partial_t)\partial_i \phi_r\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} &= r \,\|D^2 \partial_i \phi + \partial_t \partial_i \phi\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_r^-)} &\to 0 \quad \text{as } r \to 0. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.4.12)$$

Thus, by using (5.4.4), we know that the auxiliary function \hat{w} in (5.4.13) is a supersolution. Finally, the maximum principle to the auxiliary function \hat{w} in (5.4.13) implies that $C\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r - v_r \ge 0$ in $Q_{1/2}^-$ and $\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r \ge 0$ in $Q_{1/2}^-$.

We note that this argument for the parabolic obstacle problem for the heat operator was introduced in [9, Chapter 13] and [57].

Proposition 5.4.10. (Directional monotonicity) Let $u \in P_1(M)$ and $\mathcal{P}\phi$ –

 $f \ge c > 0$ in Q_1^- . Let

$$v_0(x,t) = \phi_0(x,t) - u_0(x,t) = \frac{1}{2}(x_n^+)^2,$$

where u_0 and ϕ_0 are blowup functions of u and ϕ , respectively. Then, for any $\delta \in (0, 1]$, there exists $r_{\delta} = r(\delta, u, \phi) > 0$ such that

$$\partial_{\tilde{e}}v \ge 0$$
 in $Q^{-}_{r_{\delta}}$ for any $\tilde{e} \in \mathbb{S}^{n}$ such that $\tilde{e} \cdot (e_{n}, 0) \ge \delta$.

Proof. For any $\delta \in (0,1]$, by direct computation, we know that there is $C_{\delta} > 0$ such that

$$C_{\delta}\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_0 - v_0 \ge 0$$
 in Q_1^- for any $\tilde{e} \in \mathbb{S}^n$ such that $\tilde{e} \cdot (e_n, 0) \ge \delta$.

By (5.4.10) and (5.4.11), for sufficiently small $r = r(\delta, u, \phi)$,

$$C_{\delta}\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r - v_r \ge -\frac{\alpha}{32}$$
 in Q_1^-

where α is the constant in Lemma 5.4.5. We claim that

$$C_{\delta}\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r - v_r \ge 0 \quad \text{in } Q_{1/2}^-$$

Suppose that there is a point $Y_0 = (y_0, s_0) \in Q_{1/2}^- \cap \{v_r > 0\}$ such that $C_{\delta} \partial_{\tilde{e}} v_r(Y_0) - v_r(Y_0) < 0$ and consider

$$\hat{w}(Y) := C_{\delta} \partial_e v_r(Y) - v_r(Y) + \frac{\alpha}{2} \left(|y - y_0|^2 - (s - s_0) \right), \qquad (5.4.13)$$

where α is the constant in Lemma 5.4.5. Recalling (5.4.5), we obtain

$$\frac{\alpha}{2}\mathcal{L}_{u}\left(|y-y_{0}|^{2}-(s-s_{0})\right)=\frac{c}{2}.$$

Then, by $\mathcal{L}_{u_r}\partial_{\tilde{e}}u_r = \partial_{\tilde{e}}\mathcal{P}u_r = \partial_{\tilde{e}}(f(rx, r^2t))$ in N(u), $\mathcal{L}_{u_r}\partial_{\tilde{e}}\phi_r = -\partial_t\partial_{\tilde{e}}\phi_r + \partial_t\partial_{\tilde{e}}\phi_r$

 $\frac{1}{n}F(D^2u)tr((D^2u)^{-1}D^2\partial_{\tilde{e}}\phi_r)$ in Q_1^- , and (5.4.12), we may assume that

$$\|\mathcal{L}_{u_r}\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r\|_{L^{\infty}(Q_1^-)} \le \frac{c}{2C_{\delta}}$$
 in $N(u_r)$

and have

$$\mathcal{L}_{u_r}\hat{w}(Y) = C_{\delta}\mathcal{L}_{u_r}\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r(Y) - \mathcal{L}_{u_r}v_r(Y) + \frac{c}{2}$$

$$\leq c - (\mathcal{P}\phi_r - f_r(ry, r^2s)) \leq 0 \qquad \text{in } Q^-_{1/4}(Y_0) \cap N(u_r).$$

Thus, by the maximum principle for \hat{w} on $Q_{1/4}^{-}(Y_0) \cap N(u_r)$, we have

$$\inf_{\partial_p Q_{1/4}^-(Y_0) \cap N(u_r)} \hat{w} \le \hat{w}(Y_0) < 0 \quad \text{and} \quad \inf_{\partial_p Q_{1/4}^-(Y_0) \cap N(u_r)} \left(C \partial_{\tilde{e}} v_r - v_r \right) < -\frac{\alpha}{32}.$$

Hence, we arrive at a contradiction and have $C_{\delta}\partial_{\tilde{e}}v_r - v_r \ge 0$ in $Q_{1/2}^-$. By the nonnegativity of v_r , we have $\partial_{\tilde{e}}v \ge 0$ in $Q_{r/2}^-$.

5.4.5 Proof of the regularity of the free boundary

Lemma 5.4.11. Let $u \in P_1(M)$ be as in Theorem 5.1.3. Then, there is $r'_1 = r'_1(u, \phi) > 0$ such that blowup functions of $v = \phi - u$ at $X \in \Gamma(u) \cap Q^-_{r'_1}$ are half-space functions, i.e., blowups of v at X are of the form $c(x_n^+)^2/2$, up to a rotation, for some constant c.

Proof. By Proposition 5.4.8,

$$v_0 = \frac{1}{2} (x_n^+)^2$$

in an appropriate system of coordinates, for any blowup of v at 0.

For $X = (x,t) \in \Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r'_1}^-$ and t = 0, by the thickness assumptions (5.1.4) and the same methods as in Proposition 5.4.8, we have that any blowup v_0 of v at X,

$$v_0(x,t) = \phi_0 - u_0 = c(x \cdot e_x)_+^2$$
 in $\mathbb{R}^n \times (-\infty, 0]$,

for $e_x \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$, some positive constant c.

For the case $X = (x, t) \in \Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r'_1}$ and t < 0, By using the argument in Proposition 5.4.8 in $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ (as in Appendix of [57]), we have that

$$v_0(x,t) = \phi_0 - u_0 = c(x \cdot e_x)_+^2 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}_+$$

for some $e_x \in \mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ and positive constant c.

Now, we are ready to prove the regularity of the free boundaries of $u \in P_1(M)$, Theorem 5.1.3.

Proof of Theorem 5.1.3. By the directional monotonicity, Proposition 5.4.10, the free boundary $\Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r_{\delta}/2}^{-}$ is a graph $x_n = f(x', t)$ where f is a Lipschitz function with the Lipschitz constant less than $\delta/\sqrt{1-\delta^2}$. Furthermore, in Proposition 5.4.10, $\delta \in (0,1]$ could be arbitrary small. Hence, we have a tangent plane of $\Gamma(u)$ and the normal vector $(e_n, 0)$ at 0. For any point $Z \in \Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r'_1}$, by Lemma 5.4.11, we know that there is a tangent plane of the free boundary at Z with normal vector ν_Z . By Proposition 5.4.10, for $Z \in \Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r_{\delta}}$, we have $\nu_Z \cdot \tilde{e} \ge 0$, for any $\tilde{e} \cdot (e_n, 0) \ge \delta$. Hence, ν_Z is close to e_n . Therefore, $\Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r'_1}$ is C^1 at 0.

By the same argument in Propositions 5.4.7 and 5.4.8, for any free boundary point $Z = (z, \tau) \in \Gamma(u) \cap Q_{r'_1}^-, \tau < 0$, the blowup of v at Z is of the form $c(x_n)^2_+$ in $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}$ and we have a directional monotonicity for v in $Q_{r'}(Z)$, i.e., we obtain that for some r' > 0, for any $\delta \in (0, 1]$ there exists $r_{\delta} = r(\delta, u, \phi, Z) > 0$ such that

$$\partial_{\tilde{e}} v \ge 0$$
 in $Q_{r_s}^-$ for any $\tilde{e} \in \mathbb{S}^n$ such that $\tilde{e} \cdot \nu_Z \ge \delta$.

Then, by the same argument in the previous paragraph, $\Gamma(u)$ is C^1 at Z. \Box

Bibliography

- O. Alvarez, J.-M. Lasry, and P.-L. Lions. Convex viscosity solutions and state constraints. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 76(3):265–288, 1997.
- B. Andrews. Contraction of convex hypersurfaces by their affine normal. J. Differential Geom., 43(2):207–230, 1996.
- B. Andrews. Gauss curvature flow: the fate of the rolling stones. Invent. Math., 138(1):151–161, 1999.
- [4] B. Andrews, P. Guan, and L. Ni. Flow by powers of the Gauss curvature. Adv. Math., 299:174–201, 2016.
- [5] B. n. Barrios, A. Figalli, and X. Ros-Oton. Global regularity for the free boundary in the obstacle problem for the fractional Laplacian. *Amer. J. Math.*, 140(2):415–447, 2018.
- [6] K. A. Brakke. The motion of a surface by its mean curvature, volume 20 of Mathematical Notes. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1978.
- [7] S. Brendle, K. Choi, and P. Daskalopoulos. Asymptotic behavior of flows by powers of the Gaussian curvature. Acta Math., 219(1):1–16, 2017.
- [8] L. Caffarelli, L. Nirenberg, and J. Spruck. The Dirichlet problem for nonlinear second-order elliptic equations. I. Monge-Ampère equation. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 37(3):369–402, 1984.

- [9] L. Caffarelli, A. Petrosyan, and H. Shahgholian. Regularity of a free boundary in parabolic potential theory. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 17(4):827– 869, 2004.
- [10] L. Caffarelli, X. Ros-Oton, and J. Serra. Obstacle problems for integrodifferential operators: regularity of solutions and free boundaries. *Invent. Math.*, 208(3):1155–1211, 2017.
- [11] L. A. Caffarelli. The regularity of free boundaries in higher dimensions. Acta Math., 139(3-4):155–184, 1977.
- [12] L. A. Caffarelli. The obstacle problem revisited. J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 4(4-5):383–402, 1998.
- [13] E. Calabi. Complete affine hyperspheres. I. In Symposia Mathematica, Vol. X (Convegno di Geometria Differenziale, INDAM, Rome, 1971), pages 19–38. 1972.
- [14] V. Caselles, F. Catté, T. Coll, and F. Dibos. A geometric model for active contours in image processing. *Numer. Math.*, 66(1):1–31, 1993.
- [15] V. Caselles and C. Sbert. What is the best causal scale space for threedimensional images? SIAM J. Appl. Math., 56(4):1199–1246, 1996.
- [16] Y. G. Chen, Y. Giga, and S. Goto. Uniqueness and existence of viscosity solutions of generalized mean curvature flow equations. J. Differential Geom., 33(3):749–786, 1991.
- [17] K. Choi and P. Daskalopoulos. Uniqueness of closed self-similar solutions to the gauss curvature flow. arXiv preprint arXiv:1609.05487, 2016.
- [18] K. Choi, P. Daskalopoulos, L. Kim, and K.-A. Lee. The evolution of complete non-compact graphs by powers of Gauss curvature. J. Reine Angew. Math., 757:131–158, 2019.

- [19] K. Choi, P. Daskalopoulos, and K.-A. Lee. Translating solutions to the gauss curvature flow with flat sides. arXiv preprint arXiv:1610.07206, 2016.
- [20] B. Chow. Deforming convex hypersurfaces by the nth root of the Gaussian curvature. J. Differential Geom., 22(1):117–138, 1985.
- [21] M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, and P.-L. Lions. User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* (N.S.), 27(1):1–67, 1992.
- [22] M. G. Crandall, H. Ishii, and P.-L. Lions. User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations. *Bull. Amer. Math. Soc.* (N.S.), 27(1):1–67, 1992.
- [23] P. Daskalopoulos and K. Lee. Free-boundary regularity on the focusing problem for the Gauss curvature flow with flat sides. *Math. Z.*, 237(4):847–874, 2001.
- [24] P. Daskalopoulos and K.-A. Lee. Worn stones with flat sides all time regularity of the interface. *Invent. Math.*, 156(3):445–493, 2004.
- [25] P. Daskalopoulos and O. Savin. C^{1,α} regularity of solutions to parabolic Monge-Ampére equations. Amer. J. Math., 134(4):1051–1087, 2012.
- [26] K. Ecker. Regularity theory for mean curvature flow, volume 57 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 2004.
- [27] K. Ecker and G. Huisken. Mean curvature evolution of entire graphs. Ann. of Math. (2), 130(3):453–471, 1989.
- [28] K. Ecker and G. Huisken. Interior estimates for hypersurfaces moving by mean curvature. *Invent. Math.*, 105(3):547–569, 1991.
- [29] L. C. Evans. Classical solutions of fully nonlinear, convex, second-order elliptic equations. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 35(3):333–363, 1982.

- [30] L. C. Evans and J. Spruck. Motion of level sets by mean curvature. I. J. Differential Geom., 33(3):635–681, 1991.
- [31] A. Figalli and H. Shahgholian. A general class of free boundary problems for fully nonlinear elliptic equations. Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal., 213(1):269–286, 2014.
- [32] A. Figalli and H. Shahgholian. A general class of free boundary problems for fully nonlinear parabolic equations. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 194(4):1123–1134, 2015.
- [33] W. J. Firey. Shapes of worn stones. *Mathematika*, 21:1–11, 1974.
- [34] A. Friedman. Variational principles and free-boundary problems. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Inc., Malabar, FL, second edition, 1988.
- [35] A. Friedman. Variational principles and free-boundary problems. Robert E. Krieger Publishing Co., Inc., Malabar, FL, second edition, 1988.
- [36] M. d. M. González, K.-A. Lee, and T. Lee. Optimal configuration and symmetry breaking phenomena in the composite membrane problem with fractional laplacian. *preprint*, 2020.
- [37] R. S. Hamilton. Three-manifolds with positive Ricci curvature. J. Differential Geometry, 17(2):255–306, 1982.
- [38] R. S. Hamilton. Worn stones with flat sides. In A tribute to Ilya Bakelman (College Station, TX, 1993), volume 3 of Discourses Math. Appl., pages 69–78. Texas A & M Univ., College Station, TX, 1994.
- [39] Q. Huang and G. Lu. On a priori C^{1,α} and W^{2,p} estimates for a parabolic Monge-Ampère equation in the Gauss curvature flows. Amer. J. Math., 128(2):453–480, 2006.
- [40] G. Huisken. Flow by mean curvature of convex surfaces into spheres. J. Differential Geom., 20(1):237–266, 1984.

- [41] G. Huisken. Nonparametric mean curvature evolution with boundary conditions. J. Differential Equations, 77(2):369–378, 1989.
- [42] G. Huisken and C. Sinestrari. Convexity estimates for mean curvature flow and singularities of mean convex surfaces. Acta Math., 183(1):45– 70, 1999.
- [43] G. Huisken and C. Sinestrari. Mean curvature flow with surgeries of two-convex hypersurfaces. *Invent. Math.*, 175(1):137–221, 2009.
- [44] P. Juutinen. On the definition of viscosity solutions for parabolic equations. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 129(10):2907–2911, 2001.
- [45] P. Juutinen. On the definition of viscosity solutions for parabolic equations. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 129(10):2907–2911, 2001.
- [46] H. Kang, T. Lee, and K.-A. Lee. Mean curvature flow of entire graphs with an obstacle. *preprint*, 2020.
- [47] L. Kim and K.-A. Lee. alpha-gauss curvature flows. arXiv preprint arXiv:1306.1100, 2013.
- [48] L. Kim, K.-A. Lee, and E. Rhee. α-Gauss curvature flows with flat sides. J. Differential Equations, 254(3):1172–1192, 2013.
- [49] N. V. Krylov. Sequences of convex functions, and estimates of the maximum of the solution of a parabolic equation. *Sibirsk. Mat. Ž.*, 17(2):290– 303, 478, 1976.
- [50] N. V. Krylov. Boundedly inhomogeneous elliptic and parabolic equations. Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat., 46(3):487–523, 670, 1982.
- [51] N. V. Krylov and M. V. Safonov. A property of the solutions of parabolic equations with measurable coefficients. *Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR Ser. Mat.*, 44(1):161–175, 239, 1980.

- [52] K. Lee and H. Shahgholian. Hausdorff measure and stability for the pobstacle problem (2 2003.
- [53] K.-A. Lee. Obstacle problems for the fully nonlinear elliptic operators. ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, 1998. Thesis (Ph.D.)–New York University.
- [54] K.-A. Lee. The obstacle problem for Monge-Ampére equation. Comm. Partial Differential Equations, 26(1-2):33–42, 2001.
- [55] K.-A. Lee and T. Lee. Gauss curvature flow with an obstacle. *preprint*, 2019.
- [56] K.-A. Lee and J. Park. Obstacle problem for a non-convex fully nonlinear operator. J. Differential Equations, 265(11):5809–5830, 2018.
- [57] K.-A. Lee and J. Park. The regularity theory for the parabolic double obstacle problem. *Mathematische Annalen*, to appear, 2020.
- [58] K.-A. Lee and H. Shahgholian. Regularity of a free boundary for viscosity solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 54(1):43–56, 2001.
- [59] S.-H. Lee and J. K. Seo. Noise removal with Gauss curvature-driven diffusion. *IEEE Trans. Image Process.*, 14(7):904–909, 2005.
- [60] T. Lee, K.-A. Lee, and J. Park. The obstacle problem for parabolic monge-ampère equation. *preprint*, 2020.
- [61] G. M. Lieberman. Second order parabolic differential equations. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1996.
- [62] H. Minkowski. Volumen und Oberfläche. Math. Ann., 57(4):447–495, 1903.

- [63] W. W. Mullins. Two-dimensional motion of idealized grain boundaries. J. Appl. Phys., 27:900–904, 1956.
- [64] P. Neskovic and B. B. Kimia. Three-dimensional shape representation from curvature dependent surface evolution. In *Proceedings of 1st International Conference on Image Processing*, volume 1, pages 6–10. IEEE, 1994.
- [65] M. Sáez and O. C. Schnürer. Mean curvature flow without singularities. J. Differential Geom., 97(3):545–570, 2014.
- [66] F. Santambrogio. Optimal transport for applied mathematicians, volume 87 of Progress in Nonlinear Differential Equations and their Applications. Birkhäuser/Springer, Cham, 2015. Calculus of variations, PDEs, and modeling.
- [67] O. Savin. The obstacle problem for Monge Ampere equation. Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations, 22(3):303–320, 2005.
- [68] L. Silvestre. Regularity of the obstacle problem for a fractional power of the Laplace operator. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 60(1):67–112, 2007.
- [69] L. Tang. Boundary regularity on the parabolic Monge-Ampère equation. J. Differential Equations, 259(11):6399–6431, 2015.
- [70] G. Tian and X.-J. Wang. A priori estimates for fully nonlinear parabolic equations. Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN, (17):3857–3877, 2013.
- [71] N. S. Trudinger and X.-J. Wang. The Monge-Ampère equation and its geometric applications. In *Handbook of geometric analysis. No. 1*, volume 7 of *Adv. Lect. Math. (ALM)*, pages 467–524. Int. Press, Somerville, MA, 2008.
- [72] K. Tso. Deforming a hypersurface by its Gauss-Kronecker curvature. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 38(6):867–882, 1985.

- [73] H. Wu. The spherical images of convex hypersurfaces. J. Differential Geometry, 9:279–290, 1974.
- [74] J. Xiong and J. Bao. The obstacle problem for Monge-Ampère type equations in non-convex domains. *Commun. Pure Appl. Anal.*, 10(1):59– 68, 2011.
- [75] X.-P. Zhu. Lectures on mean curvature flows, volume 32 of AMS/IP Studies in Advanced Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; International Press, Somerville, MA, 2002.

국문초록

곡률 흐름이란 평균 곡률이나 가우스 곡률과 같이 곡률에 대한 양으로 모양이 변하는 초곡면의 기하학적 변화를 말하며, 재료과학 및 영상처리 분야에서 응용되고 있다. 곡률 흐름을 다루는데에 있어 가장 큰 어려움은 유한시간 내에 발생하는 특이점으로, 많은 경우에 이 특이점이 발생한다. 이 학위논문에서는 초기 초곡면의 안쪽에 장애물 을 위치시켜 곡률 흐름이 특이점을 넘어 오랜시간 존재하는 방법을 제시하고자 한다. 이 방법을 적용하여, 그래프로 주어진 초기 초곡면에 대한 평균 곡률 흐름 및 닫혀있고 완전 볼록인 초기 초곡면에 대한 가우스 곡률 흐름에 대해 특이점의 발생을 막는다. 또한, 가우스 곡률 흐름과 밀접하게 관련된 포물형 몽쥬-앙페르 방정식에 대한 장애물 문제를 고려한다. 본 연구는 패널티 방법론에 기반하여, 초곡면이 장애물을 통과할 수 있도록 허용하는 대신, 통과한 만큼 패널티를 부과하는 방법을 사용하였다.

주요어휘: 평균 곡률 흐름, 가우스 곡률 흐름, 장애물 문제, 자유경계 문제, 몽 쥬-앙페르 방정식, 특이점 **학번:** 2013-22912